
 

 

Planning Committee 
Agenda 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
To: Councillor Michael Neal (Chair) 

Councillor Leila Ben-Hassel (Vice-Chair) 
 Councillors Ian Parker, Sean Fitzsimons, Clive Fraser, Mark Johnson, 

Humayun Kabir, Joseph Lee, Ellily Ponnuthurai and Holly Ramsey 
 

 Reserve Members: Jade Appleton, Louis Carserides, Sherwan Chowdhury, 
Chris Clark, Gayle Gander, Karen Jewitt, Endri Llabuti, Luke Shortland, 
Appu Srinivasan and Nikhil Sherine Thampi 
 

 
 
A meeting of the Planning Committee which you are hereby summoned to attend, 
will be held on Thursday, 17 November 2022 at 6.30 pm in Council Chamber, 
Town Hall, Katharine Street, Croydon CR0 1NX  
 
KATHERINE KERSWELL 
Chief Executive and Head of Paid Service 
London Borough of Croydon 
Bernard Weatherill House 
8 Mint Walk, Croydon CR0 1EA 

Tariq Aniemeka-Bailey  
020 8726 6000 x64109 
tariq.aniemeka-bailey@croydon.gov.uk 
www.croydon.gov.uk/meetings  
Wednesday, 9 November 2022 

 
Members of the public are welcome to attend this meeting, or you can view the 
webcast both live and after the meeting has completed at 
http://webcasting.croydon.gov.uk  
 
If you would like to record the meeting, we ask that you read the guidance on the 
recording of public meetings here before attending  
 
To register a request to speak, please either e-mail 
Democratic.Services@croydon.gov.uk or phone the number above by 4pm on the 
Tuesday before the meeting. 
 

Public Document Pack

http://www.croydon.gov.uk/meetings
http://webcasting.croydon.gov.uk/
https://croydonintranet.moderngov.co.uk/ecCatDisplayClassic.aspx?sch=doc&cat=13507&path=0
mailto:Democratic.Services@croydon.gov.uk


 
 

 

2

The agenda papers for all Council meetings are available on the Council website 
www.croydon.gov.uk/meetings  
 
If you require any assistance, please contact Tariq Aniemeka-Bailey  
020 8726 6000 x64109 as detailed above. 

http://www.croydon.gov.uk/meetings


 

 

AGENDA – PART A 
  

1.   Apologies for absence  
 To receive any apologies for absence from any members of the 

Committee. 
  

2.   Disclosure of Interest  
 Members and co-opted Members of the Council are reminded that, in 

accordance with the Council’s Code of Conduct and the statutory 
provisions of the Localism Act, they are required to consider in advance 
of each meeting whether they have a disclosable pecuniary interest 
(DPI), an other registrable interest (ORI) or a non-registrable interest 
(NRI) in relation to any matter on the agenda. If advice is needed, 
Members should contact the Monitoring Officer in good time before the 
meeting.  
  
If any Member or co-opted Member of the Council identifies a DPI or 
ORI which they have not already registered on the Council’s register of 
interests or which requires updating, they should complete the 
disclosure form which can be obtained from Democratic Services at any 
time, copies of which will be available at the meeting for return to the 
Monitoring Officer.  
  
Members and co-opted Members are required to disclose any DPIs and 
ORIs at the meeting.  
  

       Where the matter relates to a DPI they may not participate in any 
discussion or vote on the matter and must not stay in the meeting 
unless granted a dispensation.  

       Where the matter relates to an ORI they may not vote on the 
matter unless granted a dispensation.  

       Where a Member or co-opted Member has an NRI which directly 
relates to their financial interest or wellbeing, or that of a relative 
or close associate, they must disclose the interest at the meeting, 
may not take part in any discussion or vote on the matter and 
must not stay in the meeting unless granted a dispensation. 
Where a matter affects the NRI of a Member or co-opted 
Member, section 9 of Appendix B of the Code of Conduct sets 
out the test which must be applied by the Member to decide 
whether disclosure is required. 

  
The Chair will invite Members to make their disclosure orally at the 
commencement of Agenda item 3, to be recorded in the minutes. 

 
 
 
 
  



 

 

4

3.   Urgent Business (if any)  
 To receive notice of any business not on the agenda which in the 

opinion of the Chair, by reason of special circumstances, be considered 
as a matter of urgency. 
  

4.   Development presentations (Pages 7 - 8) 
 To receive the following presentations on a proposed development: 

  
There are none.  
  

5.   Planning applications for decision  
 To consider the accompanying reports by the Director of Planning & 

Strategic Transport: 
  

 5.1   21/01785/FUL - 96-98 George Street, Croydon, CR0 1PJ 
(Pages 9 - 74) 
 

 Demolition of 96 George Street (Norwich Union House) and 98 George 
Street (St Matthew's House) and redevelopment to provide an 11 storey 
(Gross Internal Area 19,233sqm) building comprising (Class E) office 
and café space on the ground floor and (Class E) office use across 
basement and upper floors, with associated cycle parking and Blue 
Badge parking with works to the adjacent College Square (outside of the 
application boundary). 
  
Ward: Fairfield 
Recommendation: Grant permission 
  

 5.2   21/06276/FUL - 15A Russell Hill, Purley, CR8 2JB (Pages 75 
- 96) 
 

 Demolition of existing single storey detached dwellinghouse (two storey 
building above ground level and one storey of lower ground 
accommodation) including demolition of detached garage and erection 
of a three storey building (two storey building above ground level and 
one storey of lower ground accommodation) comprising 7 selfcontained 
flats; private/communal amenity and play space; hard and soft 
landscaping; boundary treatment; reinstatement of existing crossover 
and new crossover to provide forecourt parking; cycle and refuse 
provision and land level alterations including raising to the front 
(amended plans) 
  
Ward: Purley And Woodcote 
Recommendation: Grant permission 
  



 

 

5

6.   Items referred by Planning Sub-Committee  
 To consider any item(s) referred by a previous meeting of the Planning 

Sub-Committee to this Committee for consideration and determination: 
 
There are none.  
  

7.   Other planning matters (Pages 97 - 134) 
 To consider the accompanying report by the Director of Planning & 

Strategic Transport: 
  
Attached is a list of Delegated and Planning Committee/Sub Committee 
decisions taken between 31 October 2022 to 04 November 2022. 
  

8.   Exclusion of the Press & Public  
 The following motion is to be moved and seconded where it is proposed 

to exclude the press and public from the remainder of a meeting: 
  
"That, under Section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act, 1972, the 
press and public be excluded from the meeting for the following items of 
business on the grounds that it involves the likely disclosure of exempt 
information falling within those paragraphs indicated in Part 1 of 
Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972, as amended." 
 

 
 
 



This page is intentionally left blank



PLANNING COMMITTEE AGENDA  

PART 5: Development Presentations 

1 INTRODUCTION 

1.1 This part of the agenda is for the committee to receive presentations on proposed 
developments, including when they are at the pre-application stage.  

1.2 Although the reports are set out in a particular order on the agenda, the Chair may 
reorder the agenda on the night. Therefore, if you wish to be present for a particular 
application, you need to be at the meeting from the beginning. 

1.3 The following information and advice applies to all those reports. 

2 ADVICE TO MEMBERS 

2.1 These proposed developments are being reported to committee to enable members 
of the committee to view them at an early stage and to comment upon them. They do 
not constitute applications for planning permission at this stage and any comments 
made are provisional and subject to full consideration of any subsequent application 
and the comments received as a result of consultation, publicity and notification.  

2.2 Members will need to pay careful attention to the probity rules around predisposition, 
predetermination and bias (set out in the Planning Code of Good Practice Part 5.G of 
the Council’s Constitution). Failure to do so may mean that the Councillor will need to 
withdraw from the meeting for any subsequent application when it is considered. 

3 FURTHER INFORMATION 

3.1 Members are informed that any relevant material received since the publication of 
this part of the agenda, concerning items on it, will be reported to the Committee in 
an Addendum Update Report. 

4 PUBLIC SPEAKING 

4.1 The Council’s constitution only provides for public speaking rights for those 
applications being reported to Committee in the “Planning Applications for Decision” 
part of the agenda. Therefore reports on this part of the agenda do not attract public 
speaking rights. 

5 BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS 

5.1 For further information about the background papers used in the drafting of the 
reports in part 8 contact Mr P Mills (020 8760 5419). 

6 RECOMMENDATION 

6.1 The Committee is not required to make any decisions with respect to the reports on 
this part of the agenda. The attached reports are presented as background 
information. 

Page 7

Agenda Item 4



This page is intentionally left blank



CROYDON  
www.croydon.gov.uk

Scale 1:1250                Crown Copyright Ordnance Survey (License No: 100019257) 2011

Reference number: 21/01785/FUL   

Page 9

Agenda Item 51



This page is intentionally left blank



PLANNING COMMITTEE AGENDA 17th November 2022 

PART 6: Planning Applications for Decision Item 6.1 

1.0 SUMMARY OF APPLICATION DETAILS 

Ref: 
Location: 
Ward: 
Description: 

Drawing No’s: 
Applicant: 
Agent: 
Case Officer: 

21/01785/FUL 
96-98 George Street, Croydon, CR0 1PJ
Fairfield
Demolition of 96 George Street (Norwich Union House) and 98 
George Street (St Matthew's House) and redevelopment to 
provide an 11 storey (Gross Internal Area 19,233sqm) building 
comprising (Class E) office and café space on the ground floor 
and (Class E) office use across basement and upper floors, with 
associated cycle parking and Blue Badge parking with works to 
the adjacent College Square (outside of the application 
boundary).
See Appendix 1
 Metropolitan Properties Limited
Guy Bransby, Montagu Evans LLP
Shanali Counsell

96 and 98 George Street 

Use Class Existing gross 
internal floor area 

(square metres) 

Gross internal 
floor area lost 
(including by 

change of use) 
(square metres) 

Gross internal 
floor area gained 
(including change 

of use)  
(square metres) 

C3 
(Dwellinghouses) 

497 497 0 

E(c) office with 
E(b) café) 

5,979 0 19,233 

Total 6,476 497 19,233 

96 and 98 George Street 

Number of car parking spaces Number of cycle parking spaces 

2 Blue Badge 264 long-stay 

19 short-stay 

1.1 This application is being reported to Planning Committee because the 
recommendation is for approval by the Director of Planning and Sustainable 
Regeneration, and the development is for the erection of a building or buildings with a 
gross floor space of 10,000 square metres or more. 

2.0 RECOMMENDATION 

2.1 That the Planning Committee resolve to GRANT planning permission subject to: 

A. Any direction by the London Mayor pursuant to the Mayor of London Order

Page 11

https://publicaccess3.croydon.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&keyVal=QR7JM3JL0BK00


 

 

 B. The prior completion of a legal agreement to secure the following planning 
obligations: 

 Public Realm  
1. On-site public realm improvements – design and delivery of public realm within 

red line prior to occupation and management/maintenance strategy secured   
2. Off-site public realm improvements to be secured under Section 278 of the 

Highways Act 1980 – to include College Square final design and payment for 
delivery, management/maintenance strategy and commuted sum secured (for 
standard items, with the developer to maintain bespoke items), design and 
delivery of upgraded footpaths to southern side of George Street and northern 
side of College Road, installation of road markings and associated traffic 
orders, improvements to public lighting and improvements to crossing facilities 
at the Dingwall Road/George Street junction (all costs borne by developer 
including public realm maintenance commuted sums). 

 
 Transport  

3. TfL financial contribution of £50,000 towards improvements and upgrades to 
the local public transport network 

4. Sustainable transport to include: 
i. Financial contribution of £32,000  
ii. Remove access for future occupiers to CPZ permits and season tickets 

for Council car parks 
iii. Financial contribution to car club space improvements    
iv. Membership to car club for occupiers for 3 years  
v. Travel Plan monitoring for 5 years  

5. Active Travel Zone improvements (secured under s.278 highways agreement)  
 

 Design  
6. Retention of scheme architects  
7. Public art on site  

 
 Environmental  

8. Air quality financial contribution of £3,846 
9. Carbon offsetting contribution of £331,645 (note this contribution could be 

reduced if at a later stage further carbon improvements are made) 
10. Future district heat network connection  
11. GLA ‘Be Seen’ Energy Monitoring  
12. TV radio and cable signal mitigation 

  
Employment and training  
13. Local Employment and Training strategy (LETS) 
14. LETS contributions of £132,500 for construction phase and £4,367 for 

operational phase 
15. Monitoring fees 
16. And any other planning obligations considered necessary 

   
2.2 That the Director of Planning and Sustainable Regeneration has delegated authority 

to negotiate the detailed terms of the legal agreement, securing additional/amended 
obligations if necessary.  

  

Page 12



 

 

 Conditions 

Standard conditions 
1. Commencement of the development within 3 years  
2. Development to be carried out in accordance with the approved drawings  

 
Pre-commencement 

3. Thames Water – piling method statement 
4. Construction logistics plan and method statement 
5. Construction Environment Management Plan 
6. Aviation warning lights (including construction) 
7. Final Fire Strategy details (in consultation with London Fire Brigade)  

 
Prior to commencement of superstructure  

8. Typical façade materials and detailing 1:1 mock-up’s, with 1:5/1:10 details to 
confirm following approval 

9. 1:1 mock-up’s of the Crown, showing interface, and of the amenity levels and 
window/sill details 

10. External facing materials, including physical samples and detailed drawings of 
design elements 1:5/1:10 

11. Public Art strategy, designs and implementation (brief and commissioned pieces 
for elevations including physical samples)  

12. Details of public realm and landscape design including seating, ramp, stage and 
furniture 

13. Tree planting and management strategy 
14. Public realm and building lighting scheme and to include night-time illumination 

and wildlife sensitive lighting design 
15. Details of fenestration of the ground floor, including shop fronts, glazing, signage 

zones and co-ordination and enhancement of the public realm 
16. Lighting and CCTV of bin and bike stores, parking areas  
17. Vehicle Dynamics Assessment with hostile vehicle mitigation and anti-terrorist 

measures  
18. Thames Water – water infrastructure study  
19. Sustainable urban drainage strategy (detailing any on and/or off-site drainage 

works) 
20. Contamination reports and remediation if necessary 
21. Secured by Design/engagement with the Police  
22. Submission of air quality low emission strategy 
23. Biodiversity enhancement strategy  

 
Prior to practical completion   

24. Landscaping and public realm management and maintenance strategy 
25. Access routes and signage for pedestrians, cyclists and cars 

Landscaping  
26. Details of cycle parking and storage (including staff provision, changing facilities 

and short stay spaces) 
27. Details of blue badge parking bay(s) including EVCP 
28. Details of rooftop amenity  
29. Café extraction details 
30. Details of air handling units/plant/machinery and screening 
31. Building maintenance strategy including window cleaning 
32. Further Circular Economy details, including post completion reporting 

Page 13



 

 

33. Further details on Whole Life Cycle Assessment 
 
Prior to first occupation  

34. Refuse store and collection management plan including details of refuse 
management company appointed 

35. Delivery and Servicing Plan 
36. Wind mitigation to terrace secured   

 
Compliance 

37. Building fully accessible to all with step free access and evacuation lift provided 
38. Restriction on hours of use  
39. Restriction of use of building with Class E 
40. Carbon dioxide reduction on site 
41. BREEAM excellent  
42. Potential connection to future heat network future scheme built into the 

development design 
43. In accordance with submitted energy strategy 
44. All features/materials comply with Building Regulations in relation to fire safety  
45. Compliance with fire statement 
46. Disabled car parking and cycle parking installed   
47. Urban Greening Factor compliance  
48. Accord with mitigation outlined in Noise Assessment 
49. Noise from air and plant units should not increase background noise 
50. In accordance with Air Quality Assessment 
51. Any other planning condition(s) considered necessary by the Director of Planning 

and Sustainable Regeneration 
 

Informatives 

1. Granted subject to a Section 106 Agreement  
2. Community Infrastructure Levy 
3. Material/detailing conditions information   
4. Code of practise for Construction Sites 
5. Light pollution  
6. Requirement for ultra-low NOx boilers  
7. Thames Water informatives 
8. Site notice removal 
9. Environmental health  
10. Network Rail informatives for lighting, noise and vibration   
11. Any other informative(s) considered necessary by the Director of Planning and 

Sustainable Regeneration 
 
2.3 That the Committee confirms that it has had special regard to the desirability of 

preserving the settings of listed buildings and features of special architectural or 
historic interest as required by Section 66 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and 
Conservation Areas) Act 1990. 

2.4 That the Committee confirms that it has paid special attention to the desirability of 
preserving or enhancing the character and appearance of Central Croydon 
Conservation Area as required by Section 72 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and 
Conservation Areas) Act 1990. 

Page 14



 

 

2.5 That if by 17th February 2023 the legal agreement has not been completed, the Director 
of Planning and Sustainable Regeneration is delegated authority to refuse planning 
permission. 

 
3.0 BACKGROUND 

3.1 The scheme was first presented to PRP on May 2020 and then November 2020. The 
Panel were generally supportive of the proposal but thought different options should 
be tested to see how the building could better relate to its context. Key comments were 
made as follows: 

 

• College Square could be an important public benefit, but not enough detail given. 
Learn from the meanwhile programme on College Square. [Officer Comments: The 
applicant has revised the scheme to make a significant contribution to the public 
realm that will enhance its use, improve wellbeing of the people that use and pass 
through and connects the college in a positive way. The use of the ‘stage’ and 
‘outdoor room’ would encourage social and cultural interaction. The stage is 
envisaged as a destination for local communities to use for events and celebrations. 
During design meetings Officers emphasised the success of the meanwhile space 
and subsequently observational studies were carried out and the positive attributes 
incorporated into the current design.] 
 

• The proposed design of College Square is generic, does not convey a sense of place 
and should offer back to Croydon. [Officer Comments: As above, officers worked 
closely with the applicant on the revised public realm, with a focus on the importance 
of community and college engagement. This was successfully co-ordinated by the 
applicants’ public realm team. The revised scheme has been designed to be more 
place specific and less generic along with encouraging a diverse group of people to 
use the space.]   

 

• The Panel were not given detailed information of wind and daylight conditions of 
College Square. [Officer Comments: Details documents relating to microclimate have 
been submitted and discussed within the body of the report.] 
 

• Massing still does not respond well to existing habitable rooms; the design should 
mitigate for the impact on neighbouring amenity. [Officer Comments: This piece of 
work has been completed by the applicant and a taller, slender building was 
modelled. The results are fully considered in the report below, however, in summary, 
it was found that an alternative scheme would result in a very similar impact. A full 
daylight and sunlight report for the proposed and alternative scheme have been 
submitted and assessed.]  
 

• George Street Walk needs to be a comfortable passageway and DDA compliant. 

[Officer comments: The applicant has no entrances from George Street walk 

accessed from the raised Ten Degrees walkway. The cycle centre is accessed via a 

1:21 slope from pavement level on College Road and the independent commercial 

unit on George Street is accessed from the pavement level.] 

 

• The Panel questioned if the public art should be on the building or as part of the public 
realm to add vibrancy to the square. [Officer Comments: The public art offer is 
remaining on the building, but in addition the public realm has been improved and 

Page 15



 

 

enhanced, with its delivery and maintenance to be secured through the s.106 legal 
agreement.] 
 

• Ground floor use should be more integrated with the public realm. [Officer Comments: 
The ground floor is essentially a working element of the building. Officers believe that 
this elevation does not need to open physically to the public realm but is suitably 
glazed and open to allow an active frontage onto College Square. Given the type of 
activity within the ground floor it is not considered feasible to have a completely 
openable side elevation.] 
 

• The Panel are encouraged by the accessible roof terrace however are not convinced 
by the plant and its negative impact on the visual amenity of the residents at 100a 
George Street (Ten Degrees). [Officer Comments: The plant has been altered given 
the Panel’s concerns and has been enclosed with an increase in green roof, such 
that it is considered these interventions improve on the previously proposed design 
iteration and is now acceptable.] 

 

• The Panel would like to see the suitability benefits of redevelopment (as opposed to 
refurbishment) presented in a more quantifiable and measurable way in order to 
ensure that the correct design approach is taken forward. [Officer Comments: The 
sustainability of the development has been addressed within the main body of the 
report.] 

 
3.2 An earlier iteration of this proposal was presented to the Planning Committee at pre-

application stage on 5th November 2020 for proposed demolition of the existing 
buildings and redevelopment to provide an 11-storey building comprising office (Class 
B1 use) with ground floor cafe/restaurant (Class A1/A3 use). Note both Use Classes 
have been updated since then to Class E.  

The main issues raised were as follows: 

• Loss of residential: Members were concerned how it would be justified and whether 

there should be financial contributions to justify the loss of residential homes. There 

were questions around the mixed-use development; overall the commercial use was 

welcomed by Members. [Officer comments: The principle of development and key 

policies have been addressed in the body of the report.] 

 

• Design: There were positive remarks on the design, and the influence of the design 

including the weave was well received though requires further development. There 

were questions from Members for further detail on the footprint and height of the 

tower, and the proximity to 100a George Street (Ten Degrees), in relation to the 

adjoining neighbouring impact and demonstrating that it is acceptable. [Officer 

Comments: A full daylight sunlight assessment has been submitted along with an 

alternative scheme to demonstrate that the proposed scheme has a tolerable impact 

on the amenity of the adjacent neighbours when weighed in the planning balance.] 

 

• Ground floor use: There were discussions for a requirement of an active ground 

floor use, with flexibility for space to incorporate other uses and activity and how it 

relates to the public square. Further questions around the marketing for alternative 

use such as NHS walk-in centre was discussed. [Officer Comments: It was concluded 

that the café would be the most appropriate public use on the ground floor with the 

Page 16



 

 

remainder of the floor plate used as a breakout space for informal meetings and 

gatherings for the office users. Given that there will be large, glazed windows on the 

elevation facing College Square and the updated design, Officers believe that there 

will be sufficient activation on this elevation with appropriate public access for the 

scale and nature of the scheme.] 

 

• Public Realm: A requirement of flexibility; and the microclimate is required to be 

tested and activated. [Officer Comments: the revised scheme shows flexibility in the 

proposed space and a full microclimate assessment has been submitted.] 

 

• Trees: There was a request for a lot of trees, greening of the space was encouraged; 

there was support for the roof garden, though more detail on how it would work as a 

space was required - the microclimate for the roof space was acceptable. [Officer 

comments: The public realm space has evolved and includes trees, and the roof 

garden has been retained and further details provided.] 

 

• Parking: Following questions around this, it was confirmed that there were two blue 

badge parking spaces for this development. [Officer Comments: The London Plan 

requires at least one disabled persons parking bay, whilst two have been provided. 

Details will be conditioned.] 

 

• Art: The inclusion of areas for art was welcomed with competition from a design brief 

adding historic elements. [Officer Comments: This element to be conditioned and 

secure via s106 agreement.] 

 

• Public consultation: There was encouragement for public consultation. [Officer 

Comments: Further public consultation has been carried out regarding the 

functionality and use of the public realm and the statutory consultation took place as 

part of the planning application processing before making this agenda.] 
 

3.3 The key changes as a result of PRP and Committee feedback are as follows: 

• Justification for lack of residential as part of the scheme 

• Ground floor amendments and justification  

• College Square public realm improvements  

• Daylight/sunlight and microclimate analysis  

• Sustainability matters progressed 

• Community engagement for public realm 

 
4.0 PROPOSAL AND LOCATION DETAILS 

 Proposal 

4.1 The application seeks full planning permission for the demolition of the existing buildings 
at No. 96 and No. 98 George Street and for the subsequent construction of an 11-storey 
building to provide 19,233sqm of commercial (primarily office) space, 2 Blue Badge car 
parking spaces, 264 long-stay and 19 short-stay cycle parking spaces and improvements 
to the public realm, namely College Square. 

Page 17



 

 

 
4.2 The key elements of the proposed development are as follows:  
 

• Principal office entrance accessed from George Street;  

• High quality and flexible office provision;  

• Contextually responsive facade design;  

• Maximised areas of frontage at ground floor and mezzanine levels;  

• Activation of the Western facade onto College Square;  

• College Square and public realm upgrades; 

• Rooftop terrace providing urban greening elements to the development.  
 

 

Image 1: View looking south east of 96-98 George Street,  
Ten Degrees in the background 

 

4.3 Ground floor: The ground floor would comprise a café and a business centre that would 
act as an atrium and open plan meeting space for the office above, accessed from an 
entrance onto George Street and from the corner of George Street and College 
Square. The café would be accessed off College Road, opposite Croydon College, as 
well as internally from the office. Servicing and associated access would be from 
College Road.  
 

Page 18



 

 

 
Image 2: Ground floor arrangement 

4.4 Upper floors: Typically, the upper floors would have a large floor plate to accommodate 
open plan offices with a central core and toilets. 

 

4.5 Roof plan: The roof would comprise the plant which would be obscured with horizontal 
louvres, photovoltaic (PV) panels, green roof and a rooftop terrace for the occupants 
of the building.  

 

4.6 College Square Public Realm: The proposed public realm would comprise two spaces, 
distinct from each other; the ‘outside room’ and the ‘stage’ that is connected by a 
curving ramp and soft landscaping throughout. The public realm is outside of the red 
line however the public realm is integral to the delivery of the overall scheme. This 
would be secured through the s.106 legal agreement and s.278 highways agreement. 

Page 19



 

 

 

 

 
 

 

Images 3 and 4: Indicative public realm proposals for College Square  

 
4.7 During the course of the application, amendments and additional information were   

provided by the applicant as follows: 
 

• Redesign of the College Square public realm; 

• Revised wind assessments to reflect the revised public realm works; 

• Revised plant enclosure; 

• Revised Design and Access Statement 

• Lighting scheme 

• Sustainable Urban Drainage (SuDS) plan 
 

4.8 Re-consultation on the above amendments took place for 3 weeks in the same terms 
as the original consultation carried out.  
 

4.9 A number of other documents have subsequently been provided and uploaded, 
including a Daylight and Sunlight Comparison Study, Daylight and Sunlight Addendum, 
updated Design and Access Statement, updated Planning Statement, updated 
Pedestrian Wind Environment Study, updated Fire Strategy, updated drainage details, 
updated landscaping drawings, café unit note and café demand note. A re-consultation 
was not undertaken as the documents were to further confirm the previous findings 
with more detail and would not have compromised any third party.  
 

 Site and Surroundings 
 
4.10 The site is located on the southern side of George Street, with an additional street 

frontage to College Road. It is occupied by two buildings with a central raised 

Page 20



 

 

walkway/landscaped area. No. 96, also known as Norwich Union House, is in use as 
offices with basement level car parking below. No.98, also known as St Matthews 
House, is a three-storey building located to the eastern side of the site, adjacent to 
100a George Street (Ten Degrees), with office space at ground floor and residential 
accommodation above. Both No. 96 George Street and No. 98 George Street are set 
on a plinth above the street level. 
 

 
Image 5: Street view of existing buildings from George Street 

 

 
Image 6: College Road looking north and College Square 

 

4.11 The surrounding area is predominantly made up of commercial, educational, and most 
recently residential uses with the construction of Ten Degrees directly adjacent to the 
east. The Croydon College buildings (locally listed) lie to the south of the site, East 
Croydon Station (also locally listed) lies to the northeast on the opposite side of George 
Street. 
 

Page 21



 

 

 
Image 7: Aerial view, site outlined in red 

 

4.12 The surrounding area has a mixed character ranging from period architecture to mid-
20th century and emerging new buildings. The present character of Croydon is a blend 
of domestic scale and appearance of the buildings built after the mid-19th century as 
townhouses and lodgings. The influence of the railway and World War II has created 
a landscape of Victorian architecture side by side with Brutalist modern, tower and slab 
buildings of varying quality. Croydon’s mid-20th century architecture is largely 
constructed using a limited palette of materials, predominantly concrete. There has 
been a significant amount of rebuilding to Croydon in recent years. Some of the key 
projects (consented, completed or under construction) are phases of Ruskin Square, 
Taberner House, Ten Degrees and St George’s House. 
 

 
Images 8, 9 and 10: Examples of the emerging context, 
Ten Degrees (l) St Georges (c) and Ruskin Square (r) 

 

4.13 The site forms part of the Fairfield Master Plan area where there have been several 
consented and proposed developments, with the closest neighbouring building at 100a 
George Street (Ten degrees). The site has excellent Public Transport Accessibility 

Page 22



 

 

(PTAL 6B) given its proximity to East and West Croydon train stations and numerous 
bus and tram links. George Street is a classified road. 
 

 
Image 11: Fairfield Masterplan 

 

4.14 The site is not in a Conservation Area (CA) and the buildings on the site are not listed; 
Central Croydon Conservation Area, however, is less than 150 metres to the west of 
the site. Within this CA are a number of listed structures, including Hospital of the Holy 
Trinity (Whitgift Hospital), with its Grade I listing, Grade II Segas Offices, Municipal 
Buildings, Union Bank Chambers, Ship Public House, Nat West Bank and Electricity 
Showrooms and Offices; and, the Grade II* Croydon War Memorial. Chatsworth Road 
CA is approximately 250m to the south of the site and there are several Locally Listed 
Buildings nearby. These include Croydon College, No. 1 Croydon, East Croydon 
Station, 71-79 George Street and Fairfield Halls. The Queen’s Gardens is a Locally 
Listed Garden. 

 
        Constraints 
 
4.15 The site is subject to the following designations: 

 

• Croydon Metropolitan Centre 

• Croydon Opportunity Area Edge Area (covered by policies DM38.1 and 
DM38.4) 

• Primary Shopping Area  

• Surface water flooding area 

• The site lies directly to the side of the local designated view from Church Street 
of Whitgift Almshouses and No.1 Croydon  

• 96 George Street (site 247) is allocated for “offices with residential development 
or hotel and/or retail (on George Street frontage)”.  

Page 23



 

 

 

• 98 George Street (site 182) is allocated for “redevelopment for residential and/or 
offices and/or retail (on George Street frontage)”. 

 Planning History 
 
4.16 There is no planning history on either of the sites of relevance other than work 

associated with this scheme, namely: 
 
19/03679/PRE – pre-application discussions in relation to the proposed demolition of 
existing buildings and redevelopment to provide 11-storey building comprising office 
(Class B1 use) with ground floor cafe/restaurant (Class A1/A3 use). 
 
20/06610/ENVS - Environmental Impact Assessment (EIA) Screening Opinion 
Request for an urban development for demolition of no.96 and no.98 George Street 
and the erection of an approximately 11-storey building to provide office floorspace 
with cafe/breakout space at ground/mezzanine level. The decision was no EIA was 
required.  
 
Planning history of adjoining and surrounding sites: 

 

4.17 Land adjacent to Croydon College, College Road 
19/04987/FUL – Planning permission was granted and is currently being implemented 
on site for the redevelopment of the site to provide a part 49 storey (+209.250m AOD) 
and part 34 storey (+165.15m AOD) building with basements, comprising 836 co-living 
units (Use Class Sui Generis) within Tower A and 120 residential units (Use Class C3) 
within Tower B, a cafe (Use Class A3), community use (Use Class D1), associated 
communal facilities for co-living residents, amenity spaces, cycle parking, disabled 

Page 24



 

 

parking spaces, refuse and cycle storage and associated landscaping and public realm 
works. 
 

4.18 Land to the south-east side of Croydon College, College Road 
19/04516/FUL – A committee resolution was made to grant planning permission, with 
the application subsequently withdrawn for the erection of five buildings ranging in 
height from 7 to 29 storeys to provide 421 residential flats (Use Class C3), flexible 
commercial space at ground floor of Building A (Use Class A1/A2/A3) and Buildings C 
and E (A1/A2/A3 and/or B1/D1 or D2) together with associated cycle parking, public 
realm and landscaping, basement car parking, refuse storage, servicing and access 
arrangements. 
 

4.19 100a George Street (Former Essex House and now known as Ten Degrees) 
17/04201/FUL – Planning permission was granted for the redevelopment of the site to 
provide a part 38 and part 44 storey building with 546 residential flats, with the ground 
floor to incorporate a flexible space including retail (Class A1), cafe (Class A3), 
business space (Class B1) and gallery space (Class D1) uses with basement 
accommodating parking spaces, cycle storage and refuse storage, and associated 
hard and soft landscaping. This permission has been implemented on site.  

 

4.20 Land bounded by George Street, Park Lane, Barclay Road, and main London to 
Brighton Railway Line 
16/00944/P – Permission was granted for outline planning permission for demolition 
and redevelopment to provide: flexible class A1 (shops) and/or class A2 (financial and 
professional services) and/or class A3 (food and drink); class B1 (business); class C1 
(hotel); class C3 (dwelling houses); class D1 (non-residential institutions); class D2 
(assembly or leisure); public realm and landscaping; and associated car and cycle 
parking, servicing, and access arrangements (with all matters reserved) and; Full 
planning permission for demolition including multi-storey car park and Barclay Road 
Annexe; extensions and alterations to Fairfield Halls including class A3 (food and 
drink); erection of buildings for flexible class A1 (shops) and/or class A2 (financial and 
professional services) and/or class A3 (food and drink) and/or class D1 (non-residential 
institutions) and/or class D2 (assembly and leisure) and class C3 (dwelling houses); 
change of use of basement car park (part) to class D1 (non-residential institutions); 
public realm and landscaping; and associated car and cycle parking, servicing, and 
access arrangements. The full part of this consent has been implemented in relation 
to works to Fairfield Halls.  
  

5.0 SUMMARY OF KEY REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION 

• The principle of an office with commercial use at ground floor is supported and 
aligned with the desire for growth of the Croydon Opportunity Area and the site 
allocations. 

• Significant weight is given to the loss of the 6 residential units; given the site 
allocation, quality of the units, neighbouring residential block and upcoming 
development in the nearby area, it is considered that in this instance the loss of 
residential floor space is off set in the planning balance by the benefits of the 
scheme. 

• The application is situated within an appropriate location for a tall building; the height 
and mass has been assessed in relation to its impact from a wide range of 
viewpoints, from a townscape and heritage perspective, and found acceptable. 

Page 25



 

 

• The design, appearance, and detailed façade of the development is of high quality 
as required for tall buildings. 

• The provision of public realm improvements, particularly to College Square, to be 
delivered and maintained (financially) by the applicant is supported.  

• Whilst there would be some harm to the amenities of surrounding occupiers, these 
would not be so unduly harmful as to refuse planning permission on these grounds, 
particularly given that the existing condition is unneighbourly and would preclude 
any development on the site. 

• The development would provide enhanced employment opportunities. 

• The level of parking and impact upon highway safety and efficiency would be 
acceptable, subject to conditions and s.106 legal agreement. 

• The environmental impacts, including wind, noise, air quality, biodiversity, trees, 
land contamination and flooding, are acceptable subject to mitigation proposed 
through a combination of conditions and s.106 legal agreement.  

• Sustainability aspects have been properly assessed and their delivery can be 
controlled through planning obligations and planning conditions. 

6.0 CONSULTATION RESPONSE 

6.1 The views of the Planning Service are expressed in the MATERIAL PLANNING 
CONSIDERATIONS section below. 

6.2 The following organisations were consulted regarding the application: 

 The Greater London Authority (Statutory Consultee) 

6.3 The GLA have made the following comments: 

• Land Use Principles: The redevelopment of this brownfield site within the 
Croydon Opportunity Area and Croydon Metropolitan Centre to provide an 
office-led scheme is supported, subject to an agreed payment in lieu of on-site 
replacement housing. 
[OFFICER COMMENT: officers support the office-led scheme in accordance 
with the allocation. It is, however, important to note that officers are not 
recommending securing a payment in lieu of on-site replacement housing; this 
matter is covered in full below in the principle of development section] 

  

• Heritage and Urban Design: No harm would be caused to the heritage assets 
or the local designated view near the site. Further consideration should be given 
to increasing activation along George Street Walk and revisiting the material 
palette of the rooftop enclosure and other elements of the design. 
[OFFICER COMMENT: the rooftop enclosure and other elements of the design 
have progressed, with heritage aspects considered below]  
 

• Transport: Completion of an Active Travel Zone assessment and further 
consideration of the impact of development on wind speed and concerns 
relating to public safety are required. The trip generation should be revised in 
order to determine an appropriate financial contribution towards public transport 
to mitigate capacity impacts. 
[OFFICER COMMENT: an Active Travel Zone Assessment was subsequently 
provided, with details to be secured through the s.106 legal agreement and 
s.278 highways agreement, whilst updated wind modelling has been 

Page 26



 

 

undertaken to ensure public safety is achieved. An appropriate financial 
contribution has been agreed with TfL]  
 

• Sustainable development and Environment: Further information on the 
energy strategy, circular economy statement and whole life cycle (WLC) carbon 
assessment is required. A carbon off-set payment, which is at present £331,645 
should be secured, as well as commitment to ‘Be seen’ post-construction 
monitoring, post completion reporting for the circular economy and post 
construction assessment of the development’s WLC emissions are to be 
secured.  
[OFFICER COMMENT: further information on energy, circular economy and 
whole life cycle carbon are secured by condition. A carbon off-set payment of 
£331,645 is proposed to be secured through the s.106 agreement, as are ‘be-
seen’ monitoring, and conditions on post completion reporting for circular 
economy and post construction assessment of WLC emissions]  
 

[OVERALL OFFICER COMMENT: Engagement with the GLA has taken place 
throughout the application process. The applicant has proposed amendments and 
additional information has been sought to overcome the majority of the concerns 
raised.] 

 Transport for London (TfL) (Statutory Consultee) 

6.4 TfL made the following comments: 

• Active Travel Zone is required and improvement should be considered to support 
safe, active travel.  

• Public realm improvements for College Square are welcomed. 

• The Pedestrian Wind and Environment Study does not account for recent events 
occurring in high winds that have impacted public safety. 

• Clarity on formal pedestrian crossing and cycle access. 

• The trip generation and mode share to be revised and a contribution towards public 
transport enhancements should be secured. 

• Details to be provided including for cycle parking, parking management plan, 
EVCPs, Delivery and Servicing Plan and Construction Logistics Plan.  

• Financial contribution should be secured.  

 [OFFICER COMMENT: additional transport information has been provided in response 
to the comments made by TfL, seeking to address their concerns. The transport 
impacts are discussed in detail below, and conditions and s.106 obligations imposed 
as recommended by TfL. The contribution requested has been reduced during the 
course of the application assessment to £50,000 that has been agreed and is in the 
draft Heads of Terms above] 

 Lead Local Flood Authority (LLFA) (Statutory Consultee) 

6.5 The LLFA have no objection (further information was received to address these initial 
concerns) and is satisfied that a detailed sustainable drainage scheme can be suitably 
secured through a condition.  

 [OFFICER COMMENT: condition imposed] 

 Historic England – Archaeology 

Page 27



 

 

6.6  Having considered the proposals with reference to information held in the Greater 
London Historic Environment Record and/or made available in connection with this 
application, they conclude that the proposal is unlikely to have a significant effect on 
heritage assets of archaeological interest. Given that the site is located within a Tier IV 
Archaeological Priority Area as defined by borough policy and that the majority of the 
site contains a basement, it is concluded that there is no discernible on-going 
archaeological potential. 

 [OFFICER COMMENT: accordingly, no conditions are recommended] 

 Historic England 

6.7 No objection. 

Thames Water  
 
6.8 With regards to foul water and surface water network infrastructure capacity, Thames 

Water raised no objection subject to conditions. Given the proposed development is 
located within 15 metres of a strategic sewer, they requested a pre-commencement 
piling condition is imposed. Thames Water did identify an inability of the existing water 
network infrastructure to accommodate the needs of this development proposal and 
according requested a pre-occupation condition.   

 
[OFFICER COMMENT: conditions have been recommended regarding the piling 
method and water network. An informative has been recommended given that the 
development is within 15m of underground water assets.] 

 
 London Fire Brigade 
 
6.9 The London Fire Brigade stated they were unable to comment on the suitability of the 

proposals as it was unclear whether Fire Brigade access, facilities and the 
provision/location of hydrants demonstrate compliance with the functional 
requirements of the building regulations. They stated they can provide a further 
response upon receipt of this information.  

 
[OFFICER COMMENT: further to the comments from the LFB, an updated Fire 
Strategy was received from the applicant. Officers sought comment from LFB in July 
and at the time of drafting this report have not received any comment. The updated 
Fire Strategy covers Part B of the Building Regulations and Part B5 where the LFB 
were requesting more information. In the absence of further comment from LFB it is 
recommended that a pre-commencement condition is imposed to ensure final details 
are work through in advance of any works being undertaken. It is noted there are a 
number of fire hydrant locations in close proximity to the development on George Street 
and College Road] 

 
Building Control  

 
6.10 Building Control reviewed the application in relation to London Plan Policy D12 on fire, 

noting the comments of the London Fire Brigade above. Whilst it was noted the 
documents provided were relatively high level, the use as an office is less challenging 
than a residential building in managing means of escape and evacuation. The location 
of fire applicants could be from College Road to avoid George Street. The use of 
concrete, bricks and aluminium cladding raises no principal fire issues. An objection 

Page 28



 

 

was raised, however, on the lack of an evacuation lift as sought by the policy, while it 
is noted that two firefighting lifts proposed.       

 
[OFFICER COMMENT: further to the comments from BC, the applicant has agreed to 
make provision for an evacuation lift which officers have secured via condition. The 
details proposed in the updated Fire Strategy and Fire Statement will be secured by 
condition] 

 
7.0 LOCAL REPRESENTATION 
 
7.1 The application has been publicised by way of letters of notification to neighbouring 

properties in the vicinity of the application site. Site notices were also erected in the 
vicinity of the site and a press notice published. A re-consultation on the same terms 
took place following submission of revisions to the scheme and additional 
documentation in support of the application (see above for full list). The number of 
representations received from neighbours in response to notification and publicity of 
the application are as follows:  

 No. of letters sent:  582  No of individual responses: 2    

   Objections: 2 

7.2 The following issues were raised in representations.  Those that are material to the 
determination of the application, are addressed in substance in the MATERIAL 
PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS section of this report: 

Comment Officer Comment 

Objections (material) 

Proposed use, preferable if the 
building was a mix of commercial 
and residential. 

Acknowledged - the land use is discussed in 
para: 9.2-9.12 

Loss of ground floor commercial 
space of concern, new plans 
suggest residential at first floor.  

Acknowledged - the Planning Statement 
Addendum document explored options of 
residential refurbishment or replacement within 
the office building; this was to explore all options 
discounted by the applicant. The scheme 
remains as an office development with café at 
ground floor. No residential is proposed.   

 
8.0 RELEVANT PLANNING POLICIES AND GUIDANCE 

8.1 In determining any planning application, the Council is required to have regard to the 
provisions of its Development Plan so far as is material to the application and to any 
other material considerations and the determination shall be made in accordance with 
the plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. The Council's adopted 
Development Plan consists of the London Plan 2021, the Croydon Local Plan 2018 
and the South London Waste Plan 2012.   
 

Page 29



 

 

8.2 The National planning Policy Framework (2021) and online Planning Practice 
Guidance (PPG) as well as the National Design Guide (2019) are material 
consideration which set out the Governments proprieties for planning and a 
presumption in favour of sustainable development. The following NPPF key issues are 
in particular relevant to this case: 
 
• Building a strong, competitive economy 

• Ensuring the vitality of town centres 

• Promoting healthy and safe communities; 

• Promoting sustainable transport;  

• Making effective use of land; 

• Achieving well designed places; 

• Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal change 
• Conserving and enhancing the historic environment 

 
8.3 The main policy considerations raised by the application that the Committee are 

required to consider are: 
 
London Plan 2021 

  

• GG1 Building Strong and Inclusive Communities 

• GG2 Making Best Use of Land 

• GG3 Creating a Healthy City 

• GG5 Growing a Good Economy 

• GG6 Increasing Efficiency and Resilience 

• SD6 Town centres and high streets 

• SD7 Town centres: development principles and Development Plan Documents 

• SD8 Town centre network 

• D2 Infrastructure requirements for sustainable densities 

• D3 Optimising site capacity through the design-led approach 

• D4 Delivering good design 

• D5 Inclusive Design 

• D7 Accessible Housing 

• D8 Public Realm 

• D9 Tall Buildings  

• D11 Safety, Security and Resilience to Emergency 

• D12 Fire Safety 

• D13 Agent of Change 

• D14 Noise 

• H8 Loss of Existing Housing and Estate Redevelopment 

• E1 Offices 

• E3 Affordable workspace  

• E11 Skills and opportunities for All 

• HC1 Heritage Conservation and Growth 

• HC3 Strategic and Local Views 

• G5 Urban Greening 

• G6 Biodiversity and access to nature 

• G7 Trees and woodlands 

• SI 1 Improving Air Quality 

• SI 2 Minimising greenhouse gas emissions 

Page 30



 

 

• SI 3 Energy Infrastructure 

• SI 4 Managing Heat Risk 

• SI 5 Water Infrastructure 

• SI 7 Reducing waste and supporting the circular economy 

• SI 12 Flood Risk Management 

• SI 13 Sustainable Drainage 

• T1 Strategic approach to Transport 

• T2 Healthy Streets 

• T4 Assessing and mitigating transport impacts 

• T5 Cycling 

• T6 Car Parking 

• T7 Deliveries, Servicing and Construction 

• T9 Funding transport infrastructure through planning  
 

Croydon Local Plan (CLP) 2018  

• SP1 The Places of Croydon 

• SP3 Employment 

• SP4 Urban Design and Local Character  

• SP6 Environment and Climate Change  

• SP6.3 Sustainable Design and Construction 

• SP7 Green Grid 

• SP8 Transport and communications 
 

• DM4 Development in Croydon Metropolitan Centre, District and Local Centres 

• DM10 Design and character 

• DM13 Refuse and recycling 

• DM14 Public Art 

• DM15 Tall and Large Buildings 

• DM16 Promoting healthy communities  

• DM 17 Views and Landmarks 

• DM18 Heritage assets and conservation 

• DM23 Development and construction 

• DM24 Land contamination 

• DM25 Sustainable drainage systems and reducing flood risk 

• DM27 Protecting and Enhancing our Biodiversity  

• DM28 Trees 

• DM29 Promoting sustainable travel and reducing congestion 

• DM30 Car and cycle parking in new development 

• DM38 Croydon Opportunity Area 
 

Emerging Croydon Local Plan  

8.4 The Croydon Local Plan is currently being reviewed. The review will update the vision 
and strategy for Croydon’s growth up to 2039 and set out how the Council will continue 
to deliver much-needed new homes, jobs and community facilities. The emerging 
Croydon Local Plan was subject to regulation 19 consultation, which ran from the 6th 
January to the 17th February of this year. The Council are current reviewing the 
responses received. In officer’s view, the emerging Croydon Local Plan, due to the 

Page 31



 

 

stage of adoption is has reached and need for further review, should carry very limited 
weight, and would not outweigh adopted policies. 

 
Supplementary Planning Guidance: 

• National Planning Practice Guidance (2021) 

• Croydon Opportunity Area Planning Framework (2013)  

• Croydon Council Fairfield Masterplan (2013)  

• SPG 12: Landscape Design 

• Mayor’s Housing SPG (2016) 

• Mayor’s ‘Be seen’ energy monitoring LPG (2022) 

• Mayor’s Circular Economy Statement LPG (2022) 

• Mayor’s Whole Life-Cycle Carbon Assessments LPG (2022) 

 
9.0 MATERIAL PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS 

9.1 The main planning issues raised by the application that the Planning Committee are 

required are as follows: 

1. Principle of Development  
2. Townscape, Design and Visual Impact  
3. Public Realm 
4. Heritage and Local Views 
5. Daylight Sunlight and Overshadowing 
6. Microclimate 
7. Quality of Office Accommodation  
8. Highway Safety, Access and Parking  
9. Waste, Delivery and Servicing 
10. Trees, Landscaping and Biodiversity  
11. Energy and Sustainability 
12. Other Planning Matters 
13. Conclusion 

 
1. Principle of Development  

 Proposed uses 
9.2 At the heart of the National Planning Framework 2021 (NPPF) is a presumption in 

favour of sustainable development which meets social, economic and environmental 
needs, and attaches great importance to significantly boosting the supply of new 
housing. 

 
9.3 The site is within the Croydon Opportunity Area (OA) and Croydon Metropolitan 

Centre (CMC). London Plan Policies SD1, SD6 and EP1 support commercial 
development and intensification in opportunity areas and town centres. Furthermore, 
as stated within the Croydon Local Plan (CLP), one of the Council’s strategic 
objectives is to establish Croydon as the premier business location in South London 
and the Gatwick Diamond. 
 

9.4 Policy SP3 that encourages innovation and investment in the borough to support 
enterprise and increase employment. The proposed scheme would fit within this 
policy brief and would work towards the regeneration of the area and the employment 
of Croydon’s people. SP3.11 goes on to state that the Council will promote and 
support measures to improve the quality of the borough’s stock of office premises. 

Page 32



 

 

The proposed development would be high quality in terms of finish, use of materials, 
accessibly to public transport and wider public realm improvements. It is therefore 
considered acceptable and adheres to the Council’s vision and overarching strategic 
goals. 

 
9.5 No. 96 George Street is allocated in the Local Plan for ‘offices with residential           

development or hotel and/or retail (on George Street frontage)’. No. 98 George Street 

is also allocated in the Local Plan, for ‘redevelopment for residential and/or offices 

and/or retail (on George Street frontage)’. Office use is therefore clearly supported, 

alongside the London Plan. The site allocations through the Local Plan give flexibility 

in terms of the combination of appropriate uses and it is considered offices with retail 

use (a café/restaurant/co-working space at ground floor) would comply with the 

allocation and are therefore acceptable in principle. This would also comply with the 

aspirations of the Fair Field Masterplan, which envisaged an active frontage onto 

George Street and College Square. 

 Loss of residential units 
9.6 Policy SP2.2 if the CLP (2018) does not permit the net loss of residential units or 

residential land, in a similar way Policy H8 of the London Plan does not. The scheme 

would result in the loss of 6 existing residential units within St Matthew’s House (none 

within Norwich Union House so is not considered further). The units are privately 

owned, of poor quality and are currently unoccupied. The applicant has also advised 

that the units are not let due to their poor layout and quality and require full 

refurbishment. St Matthew’s House was constructed in the early 1970s, providing 

office use on the ground floor and residential accommodation on the 1st and 2nd 

floors. The existing residential accommodation is summarised in Table 1. 

Table 1 
 

9.7 In order to understand the potential for the existing flats to be refurbished, an 

Indicative Cost Model was provided. Whilst the report identifies the windows can be 

replaced (at an estimated cost of £165,000) to improve thermal efficiency the cost 

model makes it clear that this would not address the problems of poor daylighting, as 

the replacements would be “within existing apertures due to constraints of existing 

fabric”. It should be noted that officers have not been provided with daylight or 

sunlight values for the existing units, and therefore cannot corroborate this data and 

so give it limited weight. Similarly, the cost model makes it clear the allowance for 

fitting out the existing flats (of £485,000) will be unable to redress the deficiencies of 

the existing flat layouts “due to constraints of existing fabric”. It is also challenging to 

increase the floor to ceiling heights for the flats with the estimated likely costs 

exceeding £1m. The applicant states that the estimated cost makes refurbishment 

unviable (particularly given the uncertainty that the units would be capable of being 

let or sold at a reasonable market value even if the works are completed). The 

Page 33



 

 

argument put forward is that the existing residential units are not to current standards 

and refurbishment would not be a viable option. Officers see there is merit to this 

position and therefore give it weight as a material consideration.     

 

Images 12 and 13: Internal images of flats 

9.8 Further to comments from members at the Committee Developer Presentation and 

GLA Stage 1, officers raised concern about the lack of reprovision of residential 

floorspace. Therefore, the applicant has tested a potential mixed-use scheme 

incorporating residential. They have found it to create sub-standard units and 

compromise the office floor plates. The main findings were that the plan form would 

result in most of the units being single aspect, with a challenging mix of office and 

residential on the same floor plate. The has been illustrated below in Image 14. This 

would be undesirable and contrary to policy. Assuming a unit depth of 8 metres (to 

ensure suitable daylighting), this would require a full elevation and 2 partial ‘return’ 

elevations. The first-floor level would most likely be the most efficient level for any 

residential because of the need for extended circulation to reach higher levels. The 

southern elevation would seem most appropriate, but this would be above the 

commercial delivery and refuse area with a potential noise conflict if the residential is 

to have opening windows.  As a result, it would also create approximately 150sqm of 

limited-quality, hard to access, windowless, commercial space adjoining the main 

core. Incorporating a residential entrance and lobby at ground floor would 

compromise the café and reduce the active frontage at ground level. Officers 

acknowledge that this exercise is limited to the form of office building proposed and 

that different site layouts could be explored that might work more successfully; 

however, officers give weight to the fact that providing a limited number of residential 

units within a predominantly office building is not without its challenges and could 

compromise aspects of the office element.    

 

Page 34



 

 

 

Image 14: Sketch arrangement of first floor residential plan  

NOTE this is not currently proposed, merely testing an option to justify not re-providing residential units 

9.9 Furthermore, it is critical to note that the allocation is for ‘offices with residential 

development or hotel and/or retail’ which gives a broad range of uses that this site 

can accommodate. Therefore, the site allocation does not require the re-provision of 

the residential units; the scheme coming forward can be offices with residential or 

hotel and/or retail. As a scheme for offices with retail it complies with the site 

allocation. As a consequence of compliance with the CLP allocation, officers are of 

the view a payment in lieu of on-site replacement housing is not justified, so it has 

not been secured in the s.106 legal agreement heads of terms above.  

9.10 Although officers give significant weight to the loss of these 6 residential units, given 

the site allocation, quality of the existing units, neighbouring residential block, and 

upcoming development in the nearby area, it is considered that in this instance the 

loss of residential floor space is off set in the planning balance by the benefits of the 

scheme.  

Loss of community facilities  
9.11 Policy DM19.1 of the CLP (2018) protects community facilities, with their loss 

permitted where it can be demonstrated that there is no need for the existing 

premises or land or a community use and that it no longer can serve the needs of the 

community.  

9.12 It has been confirmed that the ground floor was an office that was used by the 

Southwark Diocese. There is no planning history to suggest that it was a community 

facility and therefore no use to protect. 

2 Townscape, Design and Visual Impact 

 Layout 
9.13 The proposed layout has its main frontage off George Street with two further 

entrances off College Square. The main entrance is recessed and adds a sense of 

security, whilst appearing grand and welcoming onto the main frontage. There is a 

Page 35



 

 

further frontage onto College Square with double height glazing, awnings and a 

human scale leading to the public realm. The café looks out onto College Square 

along with having its entrance to the southwest of the building. The servicing and 

parking are tucked away to the rear of the site off College Road. The proposed layout 

is supported given its outward looking design interventions and suitable arrangement 

given the nature of the building. The proposed scheme is considered a significant 

improvement compared to the existing condition which, given land level changes, in 

effect has no active frontage to George Street or into College Square.  

  

Image 15: Ground floor plan 

9.14 The application site would be occupied by an 11-storey building with a central core, 

with College Square at its base (on the western side). The development almost 

entirely fills the site boundary, utilising chamfered corners for entrances, to encourage 

movement and reduces the perceived building mass. With the proposal broadly 

following the urban block set out in the Fairfield Masterplan, the principles that have 

been employed contribute to good urban design and place making.   

 

Image 16: Contextual North elevation 

Page 36



 

 

 Height, Scale, Massing 
9.15 London Plan Policy D9 is relevant as the scheme is for 11-storeys; it requires 

locations appropriate for tall buildings to be identified through the development plan 

(see below) and requires assessment of impacts from a visual, functional and 

environmental impact. All these aspects are considered throughout the various 

sections of this report. Policy SP4.5 of the Croydon Local Plan relating to tall buildings 

states that they will be encouraged only in the Croydon Opportunity Area, areas in 

District Centres and locations where it is in an area around well-connected public 

transport interchanges and where there are direct physical connections to the 

Croydon Opportunity Area, Croydon Metropolitan Centre or District Centres. The 

application site lies within the Croydon Opportunity Area and Croydon Metropolitan 

Centre and has an excellent PTAL, as such it is a site acceptable as a location for a 

tall building. 

9.16 CLP Policy SP4.6 (and supported by DM15) states four criteria for tall buildings in 

order for them to be acceptable in these locations; 

 a. Respect and enhance local character and heritage assets; 
b. Minimise the environmental impacts and respond sensitively to topography;  
c. Make a positive contribution to the skyline and image of Croydon; and  
d. Include high quality public realm in their proposals to provide a setting appropriate 
to the scale and significance of the building and the context of the surrounding area. 
 

9.17 The application site is located within the Edge Area of the Croydon Opportunity Area 
covered by policy DM38.4 of CLP (2018), where tall buildings can be acceptable 
subject to achieving a high-quality form, design and treatment and where negative 
impact on sensitive locations is limited. CLP Policy DM15 requires their location in 
PTAL4 and above, to be of exceptional quality, respond positively to nearby heritage 
assets and include active ground floor and inclusive public realm.  
 

9.18 It is considered that the proposal building does comply with the above criteria, 

discussed in detail in the design and environmental impact sections of this report. 

9.19 The building would be an intermediate height between the neighbouring Ten Degrees 

(100a George Street) and Suffolk House. The top 2 storeys are set back and 

accommodate the plant and rooftop communal amenity. 

9.20 From a townscape perspective, the height, scale, and massing of the proposed 

building is appropriate for the evolving built environment of Central Croydon. The 

footprint and height have gone through several iterations during pre-application stage 

with officers and PRP. PRP requested the testing of an alternative model to justify 

the current scheme for its impact on the amenity of neighbouring buildings which has 

been submitted and is discussed further in this report. Officers conclude that the 

proposed building is appropriate and would enhance and enliven the immediate area. 

 Architectural design 
9.21 The following comments will seek to focus on the composition, function, and fabric of 

the proposal in relation to the immediate and wider context, including response to 

heritage assets and the emerging Fairfield Cultural Quarter. 

 Composition 

Page 37



 

 

9.22 The applicant has demonstrated a good understanding of the site context and 

constraints in how the proposed building has been composed. The building has been 

arranged into three components: the plinth, middle and crown. This compositional 

structure responds to key contextual datum and wider townscape views to create an 

intermediate scale proposal. 

 

Image 17: 3 Key principles; Base, Middle and Top 

9.23 The applicant has combined the ornamentation of the neighbouring 71-79 George 

Street and the rhythm of Croydon College with Croydon’s mid-century modernism to 

create a ‘weaved’ façade. The weave is predominantly expressed through the 

‘middle’ and is defined by a regular rhythm of windows and solid corners. 

 Function 
9.24 The northern elevation has the main entrance from George Street, leading into the 

reception and business centre. The business centre would provide an overlap with 

the ground floor café which would enhance its activity and provide active frontages 

onto College Square. See image 2 above for a plan of the ground floor arrangement.  

9.25 In the southwest corner of the ground floor layout, there is a café that opens into 

College Square. It is officers’ ambition that the façade along College Square is as 

active as possible. Level changes across the site limit the number of accessible 

openings along the west façade, therefore the activities taking place internally are 

crucial. It is considered that the approach taken is acceptable to facilitate the main 

function of the building as an office space along with the ground floor as part publicly 

accessible.  

 

Page 38



 

 

 

Image 18: Indicative internal ground floor view 

9.26 The core runs centrally through the building with facilities for the future occupiers. 

The layout is functional and organised into appropriate sections with informal break 

out space and the café towards College Square. The typical floors have a ‘u-shaped’ 

office plate, with the circulation core, services and toilets anchored to the eastern 

façade. The roof level has a communal garden on the south side and plant functions 

in the middle. Officers consider the arrangement and function acceptable. 

 Fabric 
9.27 It is evident from the Design and Access Statement that the proposed materials and 

how they are being used has been given much consideration. Firstly, there are 

different treatments for the plinth, middle and crown each responding to a different 

function or context. The ‘plinth’ is grand yet simple, anchoring the building and 

creating a new sense of identity and quality, establishing an inviting surrounding for 

the new public realm space, College Square. The use of brickwork, concrete and 

window detailing gives a very human feel and scale to the office building, creating an 

inviting exterior. 

 

Image 19: The Weave Base 

Page 39



 

 

 

Image 20: The Weave Middle 

 

Image 21: The Weave Upper 

9.28 The bays and material treatment of the ‘middle’ has been developed in line with this 

weaved concept and to offer depth to the façade. Weaving horizontal and vertical 

bands of brick around a precast concrete façade that is punctured by windows framed 

in a complementary tone of precast concrete. Finally, the crowning element is a 

simple form and material expression that encloses plant components to provide an 

elegant structure at the top of the lower elements. 

9.29 The principal materials used are brick and precast concrete. The red rick would have 

subtle changes in tone and will vary from solid coursing in the horizontal banding to 

stretcher bonds use in the brick piers, where precast concrete nodes are used to give 

the weaving effect. The applicant has had discussions with officers at pre-application 

stage about the materials and the appropriate tonal palette. The window frames and 

crowning element are made up of anodised and stainless steel, in complementary 

tones. 

Page 40



 

 

 

Image 22: Proposed Material Palette 

9.30 As can be seen from image 19 above depicting the ‘The Weave Base’, where panels 
are proposed at the bottom of the building, public art options have been explored. 
The final public art scheme will require an in-depth selection process and for the 
applicant to write a public art strategy and implementation plan, before tendering to 
a selection of artists based on the criteria set. Officers request they are able to 
participate within this process and review final designs and samples of the selected 
artist. The lighting will have to work with and compliment all elements of the 
architectural expression and will be developed in collaboration with the emerging 
designs. Conditions are recommended accordingly, in addition to a minimum budget 
of £50,000 for the works being secured within the s.106 legal agreement. 

 
9.31 Given the importance of the architectural approach being executed successfully and 

remaining compliance with London Plan policy D4, officers are recommending the 
ongoing involvement of the current scheme architects, secured through the s.106 
legal agreement. 

  
Summary 

9.32 The design of 96-98 George Street brings together elements of the surrounding area 

and produces a successful addition within the Fairfield Master Plan and demonstrates 

good urban design principles. The resulting development has shown to adequately 

fulfil the Council’s tall buildings policy and contribute to the skyline, being mindful of 

the sensitive heritage assets in proximity of the application site (see section 4 below). 

The choice of materials, design detail, articulation and quality set a positive tone for 

future redevelopment in the area. 

3 Public realm 

9.33 The delivery of the public realm is integral to the overall success of the scheme given 

the building footprint maximises the site. High quality public realm helps to encourage 

future business, promotes wellbeing, encourages outdoor life, vitality, and cultural 

activity. CLP policy DM15 clearly stipulates that a tall building should be well 

integrated with the local area, should include at least an active ground floor and 

inclusive public realm. This is further supported by London Plan D8 that promotes 

high quality public realm and that the quality of public realm has a significant influence 

on quality of life and affects people’s sense of place, security and belonging. For this 

reason, the public realm, and the buildings that frame those spaces, should be 

attractive, accessible, designed for people and contribute to the highest possible 

standards of comfort, good acoustic design, security, and ease of movement. 

Page 41



 

 

9.34 During the course of the application officers requested a re-design of the public realm 
to better correlate with the brief that was given to the applicant at pre-application 
stage. The intentions were for the space to have a high-quality landscape design and 
materiality, to be playful and bold and to create an accessible space for all. The space 
would also be part of the Borough’s ‘green grid’ network that nurtures and facilitates 
ecological/biodiversity corridors and networks, walking and cycling links and 
integrates public facilities, to create ‘healthy streets’ and lifestyles.  

 
9.35 The re-design of College Square has been evolved with officers, with the final design 

aligned with the ambitious and high-quality public realm emerging within the Fairfield 

Cultural Quarter. The scale of College Square is relatively modest, but it is 

strategically important, offering a short cut and respite from George Street while also 

acting as an open-air foyer to Croydon College and the proposal. Its design has been 

generated through learning from the existing meanwhile use, observing how the 

square is currently used and in consultation with Croydon College management. 

 

Image 23: College Square in plan, with the proposed building on the right 

9.36 The public square now proposes three distinct but inter-linking areas, creating a 

north-south route whilst improving the setting for the proposed and existing buildings. 

Furthermore, the amenity for Croydon College would be enhanced by the new, 

inviting, and high-quality outdoor break out space. 

9.37 College Square plays an important role by creating a pleasant route from George 

Street to the College but also enlivening the outdoor offer in the area. The key design 

elements were to create two outdoor ‘rooms’ with seating and a staged area that 

would be connected via a curving walkway. This aims to encourage formal and 

informal use for the community and the users of the buildings.  

Page 42



 

 

9.38 The existing trees would be retained (except for one failing tree) with the addition of 

new planting that would result in a biodiversity the enhancement. The ramped, middle 

section has been carefully designed to avoid anti-social behaver by understorey 

planting at the base. Overall, the materials, quality, and attention to detail within this 

relatively small space would contribute vastly to the immediate and surrounding area, 

whilst creating a key moment within the urban landscape for social interaction. 

 

Image 24: View from College Road looking North towards George Street 

9.39 The public realm works on College Square are outside of the red line boundary, within 

the Council’s ownership (as highways land). These works would be secured through 

the s.106 agreement and subsequent s.278 highways agreement, which would need 

to be in place prior to the occupation of the building. Officers have had lengthy 

discussion over the delivery of the public realm and the applicant would be required 

to pay the Council the costs of delivery and ongoing maintenance costs. This would 

be dealt with through a s.278 highways agreement.  

4 Heritage and Local Views 

9.40 The Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 requires (section 

66) with respect to listed buildings, that special regard is paid to the desirability of 

preserving the building or its setting or any features of special architectural or historic 

interest which it possesses. Regarding Conservation Areas (section 72), it requires 

special attention to be paid to the desirability of preserving or enhancing their 

character or appearance.  

9.41 The NPPF (2021) places strong emphasis on the desirability of sustaining and 

enhancing the significance of heritage assets and affords great weight to the 

asset’s conservation. At paragraph 199 it states that:   

 “great weight should be given to the asset’s conservation (and the more important 

the asset, the greater the weight should be)… irrespective of whether any 

potential  harm amounts to substantial harm, total loss or less than substantial harm” 

Page 43



 

 

9.42 Any harm to a designated heritage asset, including from development within 

its setting requires “clear and convincing justification”, with less than substantial harm 

weighed against the public benefits delivered by the proposed development. 

9.43 Policy DM18 of the CLP permits development affecting heritage assets where the 

significance of the asset is preserved or enhanced. CLP Policy SP4 

requires developments to respect and enhance heritage assets. Further to this 

London Plan Policy HC1 states that developments should conserve historic 

significance by being sympathetic of the assets’ significance and setting along with 

HC3 that protects strategic and local views. This policy goes on to state that new 
development can make a positive contribution to the views, and this should be 

encouraged. Both heritage assets and views are addressed in the following 

paragraphs.  

9.44 There are no heritage assets on the site, but there are number of heritage assets in 

the area that could be affected. A thorough heritage analysis has been undertaken 

and this, in conjunction with the townscape and views analysis within the Heritage, 

Townscape and Visual Impact Assessment document, is sufficient to understand the 

likely impact on the setting of local heritage assets. 

    

Image 25: Heritage Asset Plan 

Conservation Areas (CA) 
9.45 The most easterly boundaries of the Central Croydon CA are less than 250m to the 

west of the application site. The CA is the commercial and civic heart of Croydon and 

comprises five-character areas, with a significant number of statutory and locally 

listed buildings from several architectural period and styles. The Grade II Segas 

Offices, Municipal Buildings, Union Bank Chambers, Ship Public House, Natwest 

Page 44



 

 

Bank and Electricity Showrooms and Offices, as well as the Grade II* Croydon War 

Memorial are all within the CA.  

9.46 Tall, contemporary buildings are already visible in views from the CA, and this is 

demonstrated in Viewpoint 6 (Whitgift Alms Houses), 7 (Park Street/Park Lane) and 

10 (Queen’s Gardens). From Viewpoint 6 the proposal development would barely be 

visible as it is dominated by Ten Degrees (100a George Street). This is also the case 

for Viewpoints 7 and 10 where Ten Degrees is the more dominant structure.   

 

 Image 26: View No. 2 - George Street looking west: Existing and Proposed 

 

Image 27: View No. 5 – George Street looking east: Existing and Proposed 

9.47 Queen’s Gardens is also within the Central Croydon CA and surrounded by several 

tall buildings. The proposed building would be to the northeast of the Garden’s as 

part of a cluster of existing buildings on George Street. It is considered that no harm 

would be caused to the setting or significance of the Gardens.  

9.48 Chatsworth Road CA is approximately 250m to the south of the site, home to Victorian 

and Edwardian properties of which 15 are locally listed. As above, given that Ten 

Degrees (100a George Street) dominates the skyline the proposed building does not 

amount to any additional harm on the CA.   

Statutory and locally listed buildings 
9.49 The scale of the proposed building is modest in comparison to the directly adjacent 

tower at Ten Degrees (100a George Street), so it is concluded that the buildings 

Page 45



 

 

identified above would not be harmed in terms of their significance. Given the overall 

quality of the scheme is it considered that their setting would be enhanced. 

9.50 When viewed from Viewpoint 11 (Barclay Road) over Croydon College, it shows that 

presently the existing building on the application site along with Ten Degrees (100a 

George Street) and others of varying heights appear in the background. When 

assessed with the new proposal, only Ten Degrees and the proposed building would 

be visible in the background which is thought of as improvement on the existing 

condition, giving the College a better backdrop. 71-79 George Street is not 

considered to be harmed by the proposed scheme. Notwithstanding the increase in 

height, no significant change to the setting would result.  

 

Image 28: Viewpoint 11 Barclay Road 

9.51 CLP Policy SP4.2 (b) and DM17 requires development to protect Locally Designated 

Views, Croydon Panoramas, the setting of Landmarks and other important vistas and 

skylines. This is reinforced by Policy HC3 of the London Plan where the Mayor 

stipulates that new development can make a positive contribution to the views and 

this should be encouraged, but where development is likely to compromise the setting 

or visibility of a key landmark it should be resisted. The Council will consider the 

proposed development in relation to its impact on protected Local Designated Views 

such that developments should not create a crowding effect around, obstruct, or 

appear too close or high in relation to any Local Designated Landmarks identified in 

the Local Designated View. As noted in image 26 and 27, the locally designated view 

is protected and enhanced by the high-quality development that is proposed. It is not 

anticipated that there would be a cumulative negative impact or create a sense of 

overcrowding.  

9.52 It is concluded that there would be no harm on the significance of the nearby heritage 

assets and Conservation Area. Notwithstanding, were members to come to a different 

view, as per paragraph 202 of the NPPF (2021), where a development proposal will 

lead to less than substantial harm, this harm should be weighed against the public 

benefits of the proposed building. For the avoidance of doubt, the proposed scheme 

does offer several public benefits, redevelopment of an underutilised site, a new high-

quality office building, creation of jobs, improvements to the transport network and 

Page 46



 

 

public realm, improved active frontage and realising the Council aspirations that align 

with CLP 2018 and Fairfield Master Plan. 

5 Daylight, Sunlight and Overshadowing 

9.53 CLP Policy DM10.6 states that the Council will not support development proposals 
which would have adverse effects on the amenities of adjoining or nearby properties 
or have an unacceptable impact on the surrounding area. This can include a loss of 
privacy, daylight, sunlight, outlook, or an increased sense of enclosure. There are 
several buildings surrounding the site requiring. This aligns with the requirements of 
Policy D9 of the London Plan in relation to tall buildings. 

 

Image 29: Aerial CGI of the proposed site and buildings that have been assessed 
which include 67, 71, 73, 75, 79, 100a George Street (Ten Degrees) 

 

9.54 Daylight impacts on the relevant neighbouring buildings have been assessed with 
tests for Vertical Sky Component (VSC) and No Sky Line (NSL). Average Daylight 
Factor (ADF) tests have been utilised where windows have not achieved BRE 
compliant VSC values to give a further indication of the daylight impact experienced. 
This has been carried out for Ten Degrees as this building would be the most affected. 
Sunlight has been assessed against the Annual Probable Sun Hours (APSH). See 
Appendix 2 for terms, in relation to the 2011 BRE ‘Site Layout Planning for Daylight 
and Sunlight’.  

9.55 Guidance suggests that if the VSC percentage difference is less than 27% and less 
than 0.8 times its former value then there would be an adverse effect. However, the 
BRE guidance allows alternative target values and an appropriate degree of flexibility 
particularly to higher density development, in opportunity areas, town centres, large 
sites, accessible locations and allocated sites. It is considered this is the case here 
and that the BRE standards should be applied flexibly, endorsed by the Mayor’s 
Housing SPG (2016).   

9.56 The Daylight, Sunlight and Overshadowing report covers the potential impacts of the 
proposed scheme on neighbouring buildings. The buildings that have been assessed 
are as follows and can be located on the image above: 

• 67 George Street 

Page 47



 

 

• 71 George Street 
• 73 George Street 
• 75 George Street 
• 77 George Street 
• 79 George Street 
• 100a George Street (referred to in this report as Ten Degrees and as 101 

George Street within the planning documents) 
 
67 George Street 

9.57 67 George Street was in use as a funeral parlour with residential above and is located 
to the north of the application site. The property was granted permission to be 
demolished via prior approval on 07.02.2020. However, for completeness, all 
windows and rooms will meet the BRE criteria for VSC, NSL and APSH. 

71-79 George Street 
9.58 71-79 George Street are located to the north of the application site, with retail on the 

ground floor level and residential above. Nos. 71, 73, 77 and 79 have rooms that are 
served by bay windows. Paragraph 2.2.6 of the BRE guidelines state that “for a bay 
window, the centre window facing directly outwards can be taken as the main 
window”. Whilst the effect to the secondary windows has been assessed for 
completeness, the central panes should be considered the main windows. 

  
71 George Street 

9.59 It is noted that the proposed development will cause some changes to the daylight 
that do not meet guidance however this would be very marginal and are expected 
within an urban setting. The results of the VSC analysis demonstrate that 2 out of 7 
habitable windows assessed will meet the BRE guidance. 3 of the remaining windows 
are main central panes of bay windows that experience minor adverse reductions of 
between 20.37-21.07% so only fall marginally short of the BRE criteria. The remaining 
2 windows (W3/81 and W3/82) are secondary bay windowpanes that experience 
moderate adverse reductions of between 31.17-34.09%.  

 
9.60 The NSL results demonstrate 1 out of 3 habitable rooms meet BRE criteria. The 

remaining 2 rooms are located at 1st and 3rd floor and experience minor reductions 
of between 20.2-26.7% so again, will only fall marginally below guidance. 

 
9.61 For sunlight, all southerly oriented rooms will comfortably meet BRE criteria for 

APSH, retaining at least three times the BRE recommendations for winter sun and at 
least double the recommendations for annual sun. 

 
73 George Street 

9.62 The VSC results indicate that 3 out of 10 habitable windows assessed will meet the 
BRE criteria as a result of the development. 4 of these are central bay windowpanes 
that experience minor adverse changes of between 26.79-27.88% so are only 
marginally short of achieving the BRE criteria. The remaining three windows (W6/81, 
W6/82 and W5/83) are secondary panes that experience moderate adverse changes 
of between 33.56-34.57%. 

 
9.63 The results of the NSL analysis demonstrate that each of the three rooms assessed 

will fall short of guidance. The relative reductions to these rooms are between 26.5-
33.6% so are moderate adverse at worst.  

 

Page 48



 

 

9.64 For sunlight, all southerly oriented rooms will comfortably meet BRE criteria for winter 
and total APSH. 

 
 75 George Street 
9.65 The results of the VSC analysis demonstrate that 4 of the 14 windows assessed meet 

the BRE criteria. The remaining 10 windows experience relative reductions that range 
from 32.18-40.07% (so between moderate and major adverse impact) with six of 
these retaining circa 15% VSC or more which is generally accepted in urban 
opportunity areas. The remaining four windows experience relative reductions of 
between 32.4-39.08% (moderate adverse impact) and retain slightly lower levels of 
VSC (12.34-14.17%). However, their access to daylight from an easterly direction is 
obstructed by the larger Ten Degrees development. This means these windows are 
more reliant on daylight from across the application site. 

 
9.66 For NSL, 1 of the 7 habitable rooms assessed met the BRE guidance. Of the 

remaining rooms, 3 experience minor to moderate adverse changes of between 28.1-
31.1%. The remaining 3 experience more noticeable major adverse changes (48.1-
54.0%), however these are located in closer proximity to Ten Degrees so the limiting 
effect of this development is more pronounced.  

 
9.67 For sunlight, all southerly oriented rooms meet BRE guidance for winter and total 

APSH. 
 
 77-79 George Street 
9.68 77 and 79 George Street are in the closest proximity to Ten Degrees and therefore 

the limiting effect of this development is most noticeable to these properties. This can 
be demonstrated by considering the existing VSC levels which are each below the 
BRE recommended 27% VSC in the existing conditions, despite predominantly 
overlooking the lowest rise part of the Site. 

 
9.69 The VSC assessment demonstrates that all 17 windows assessed will fall short of the 

BRE criteria with changes between minor to major adverse impact ranging from 
22.02-53.2%. 10 of these windows are secondary windows within bay windows and 
are therefore not considered ‘main’ windows. The remaining 7 windows will retain 
between 10.24-13.74% VSC. As stated above Ten Degrees increases the burden 
and causes them to be disproportionately reliant on daylight from across the 
application site. 

 
9.70 The NSL values in each room fall short of the BRE criteria and will experience 

changes of between 44.2-65.9%, so major adverse impacts. As above, Ten Degrees 
plays a critical role in the shortfall that is experienced as a result of the proposed 
development. It is evident that the proposed scheme is a far more modest scheme 
than its neighbour at Ten Degrees and that any tall building development on this 
allocated site is likely to result in similar reductions.  

 
9.71 For sunlight, all southerly rooms will meet the BRE criteria for winter and total APSH. 
 
9.72 Overall, whilst the development will give rise to some noticeable changes in daylight 

that do not meet BRE guidance, these are in part as a result of the recently 
constructed Ten Degrees development which blocks a large portion of the sky 
visibility from these windows, making them more sensitive to changes in massing on 
the application site. Considering the opportunity area location, evolving urban 

Page 49



 

 

context, the fact the site is allocated for redevelopment and the policy steer to apply 
application of the BRE guidance flexibly, no objection is raised. 

 
 Ten Degrees (100a George Street) 
9.73 Ten Degrees has recently been constructed to the east of the application site. All 

tests have been carried out using planning application drawings found within 
application ref: 17/04201/FUL. The building is a residential development and is 
currently occupied. It is important to note that Ten Degrees has several single aspect 
units that overlook the application site and so it is clear that these units would bear 
the brunt of any impact from the proposed development. The rooms that officers have 
most concern for are those that are open plan living, kitchen, dining rooms that 
overlook the application site. It is also important to note that paragraph 2.2.3 of the 
BRE states that; “another important issue is whether the existing building is itself a 
good neighbour standing a reasonable distance from the boundary and taking no 
more than its fair share of light”. It is clear that as a result of the proximity, urban 
location and unneighbourly windows, single aspect units that face across the 
development site, there will be a considerable burden on these specific units. 

 
9.74 Average Daylight Factor (ADF) has been assessed for Ten Degrees given the major 

failures found in VSC and NSL values as shown in Table 2. This is the most detailed 
of the daylight calculations and considers the physical properties of each room 
including room size, internal reflectivity, window transmittance and window size as 
well as external obstruction to skylight.  A minimum ADF of 1% for bedrooms, 1.5% 
for living rooms and 2% for kitchens is recommended. 

 
9.75 The assessment of Ten Degrees involved 182 rooms that directly face towards the 

application site. This is made up of 84 bedrooms, 84 living/kitchen/dining rooms 
(LKDs) and 14 living/dining rooms (LDs). With the application site in the existing 
condition, the assessment demonstrates that 168 of the rooms assessed (92%) will 
meet the minimum ADF criteria for their room uses. This can be broken down into all 
84 bedrooms, 70 LKDs and all 14 LDs. 

 
9.76 The construction of the proposed development would result in 158 of the rooms 

assessed (87%) meeting the minimum recommended ADF levels for their room use. 
This can be broken down into all 84 bedrooms, 67 LKDs and 7 LDs.  

 
9.77 In total,10 additional rooms will fall short of the ADF targets because of the proposal. 

3 of these are LKDs that will experience absolute changes in ADF of 0.3% and will 
retain between 1.3-1.4% ADF so would only be left slightly below the recommended 
1.5% ADF target for living rooms. This is noted as a good level of daylight for an 
urban context, particularly within designated development areas. It is also worth 
noting that the remaining LKDs that fall short of guidance will not experience any 
change from that experienced in the existing conditions. The remaining 7 additional 
rooms are single aspect LDs that directly overlook the site. These experience 
absolute reductions in ADF of between 1-1.2% and retain between 1-1.4% ADF. 
Whilst the changes to these rooms will be more noticeable, the retained daylight 
levels are relatively common for schemes in urban environments. Each of these 
rooms are heavily reliant on light from across the application site.  

 
9.78 For sunlight, 157 of 182 southerly orientated rooms assessed will meet the BRE 

criteria for winter and total APSH. 9 of these rooms are in use as bedrooms which 
paragraph 3.2.3 of the BRE recognises are ‘less important’ for sunlight. A further 7 

Page 50



 

 

rooms are the single aspect LD rooms, however these would each meet the 
recommendations for winter sun (retaining at least 8%) but fall marginally short for 
total APSH, retaining between 17-22%. The remaining 9 rooms are LKDs that will fall 
slightly short of guidance, retaining 3% winter sun and between 19-28% annual sun. 

 
9.79 The table below summaries compliance and failure in terms of VSC, NSL and APSH. 

 Table 2: Summary of Daylight, Sunlight impacts on neighbouring buildings 

9.80 It is an important factor that the site is brownfield, allocated and within the OAPF, so 
there is a degree of expectation that a building of height would come forward. 
Compared to the Ten Degrees scheme adjoining, the 11-storey proposal is relatively 
modest. Officers challenged the applicant to explore whether a taller building set 
further from the boundary would have an improved daylight and sunlight impact to 
adjoining premises. This alternative scheme was discussed at pre-application stage, 
where the building was set further away from Ten Degrees with a smaller footprint, 
taller and slenderer.   

 
Alternative Scheme 

Address VSC NSL APSH 

67 George Street Meets Meets Meets 

71 George Street 2 of 7 Meets 

3 Minor 

2 Moderate 

1 of 3 Meets 

2 Minor 

Meets 

73 George Street 3 of 10 meets 

4 Minor 

3 Moderate 

3/3 fall short 

2 Minor 

1 Moderate  

Meets 

75 George Street 4 of 14 Meets 

9 Moderate 

1 Major (40.07% loss) 

1 of 7 Meets 

2 Minor 

1 Moderate 

3 Major (48.1-54%) 

Meets 

77-79 George Street 17/17 fall short 

3 Minor 

2 Moderate 

12 Major (42-53% 

loss) 

6/6 fall short 

6 Major (44.2-65.9%) 

Meets 

Ten Degrees (100a 

George Street)  

193 of 294 meets 

21 minor 

14 moderate 

66 Major 

14 (above 70% loss 

reaching 75% 

decrease) 

143 of 182 meets 

9 minor 

8 moderate 

22 Major (16 above 

60% loss) 

158 of 182 meet Total 

APSH 

(174/182 meet Winter 

APSH)  

10 bedrooms 

7 single aspect rooms 

retain 17-22% 

Page 51



 

 

9.81 For completeness officers requested further assessment of all the affected habitable 

rooms within Ten Degrees with the alternative scheme, given that they are the worst 

affected units. 
 

 
 Proposed            Alternative 

Images 30 and 31: Proposed scheme (l) with alternative scheme assessment (r) 
 

9.82 In total 586 windows serving 311 habitable rooms have been assessed for daylight 
and 207 southerly oriented rooms assessed for sunlight within the neighbouring 
properties. The summary table below shows that the proposed scheme would result 
in more windows and rooms meeting the BRE criteria for each assessment. In 
summary, 62 additional windows meet VSC, 17 additional rooms meet NSL and 19 
additional rooms meet APSH when compared against the alternative scheme. (NB: 
tables and images below references ‘pre-app scheme’ as it is the same as the 
proposed development being assessed). 

  

 Table 3: Daylight/Sunlight comparison table 

 

9.83 Officers main concerns (which were also raised at PRP and Committee) was the 

impact of the proposed scheme on Ten Degrees given the marked reduction in VSC 

and NSL. Given that the application site is identified for development, unneighbourly 

impacts from Ten Degrees must be given an on-balance assessment. Therefore, 

testing an alternative scenario provided a better evidence base to complete this 

assessment. The below diagram shows that the taller, slender building would have 

more of an impact on the living conditions of the occupants of Ten Degrees and it 

gives weight to the on-balance acceptability of the proposed scheme.  

Page 52



 

 

9.84 All windows/rooms that meet the BRE criteria are shown in green, those that fall 

marginally short of guidance (20% to 30% relative reduction) are shown in amber and 

reductions of greater than 30% are shown in red. 

Image 32: Ten Degrees VSC, NSL and APSH 
 

9.85 The image above shows that 60 additional windows would not meet VSC, 19 

additional rooms would not meet NSL and 19 additional rooms would not meet APSH. 

The alternative scheme would affect more units compared with the proposed scheme.  

 

Image 33: Ten Degrees ADF 

9.86 In terms of loss of light, the alternative scheme should give rise to 12 additional rooms 
falling short of BRE guidance when compared to the proposed scheme. Given the 
scale of development proposed, it is important to note that Ten Degrees retains a 
good overall level of VSC, NSL and APSH and only a small proportion of the overall 
units are affected. It is therefore concluded that the proposed scheme is appropriate 
and is a more favourable form of development on the application site than a more 
slender, taller building.  

 
9.87 The proposed development would clearly result in some daylight and sunlight impacts 

for surrounding properties, most notably for occupiers of 75-79 George Street and 
Ten Degrees. In the vast majority of instances where impacts beyond BRE guidelines 
occur, the impact would be considered to be minor adverse in nature, with daylight 
levels already challenging in the location given the existing situation and relationship 
with surrounding buildings. It should be noted that daylight impacts for surrounding 
properties beyond BRE guidelines are inevitable in an urban context such as this. 
Considering the opportunity area location, evolving urban context, the fact the 
brownfield site is allocated for redevelopment and the policy steer to apply application 
of the BRE guidance flexibly, when balancing the benefits against the harm of these 
impacts, officers raise no objection.  

Page 53



 

 

 
9.88 Officers note that an updated 2022 version of the BRE ‘Site Layout Planning for 

Daylight and Sunlight’ has recently been published. An addendum report was 
provided by the applicant, which confirmed there to be no change to the scope of 
assessment requirements for daylight and sunlight testing, with the principal focus 
remaining on residential amenity. Commercial office buildings remain excluded from 
assessments in line with industry standard practice. In terms of Ten Degrees, the 
daylight and sunlight assessments focused primarily on the ADF form of assessment, 
which was previously the principal daylight methodology for assessing new dwellings 
and has been superseded. Given the Ten Degrees development was consented on 
the basis of the ADF methodology in terms of the quality of light within those new 
units, officers agree that it remains a valid approach as it will enable a ‘like for like’ 
comparison to be made between the existing and proposed site conditions. Officers 
therefore accept that there is no requirement for any further technical analysis or 
alterations to the existing daylight, sunlight and overshadowing assessments. 

 
9.89 Given the separation distances to the north, west and south, there would be no 

impacts in terms of overlooking, loss of privacy or visual intrusion. In terms of Ten 
Degrees to the east; the scheme would abut the boundary as the existing building at 
98 George Street currently does, with a 7m separation and would contain the core on 
the eastern flank, located centrally. Furthermore, given the office use in the CMC 
location in the Fairfield Masterplan, the relationship would be appropriate.   

  
9.90 The proposed public realm and office building is likely to result in some light pollution 

especially given its proximity to residential units. To avoid excessive light pollution, a 
condition is recommended requiring details of external lighting, including details of 
how it would minimise light pollution. 

 
6 Microclimate  

9.91 Paragraph 6.71 of the Croydon OAPF states that new buildings, in particular tall 
buildings, will need to demonstrate how they successfully mitigate impacts from 
micro-climate conditions on new and existing amenity spaces. In particular, new tall 
buildings in the COA will need to show how their designs do not have a negative 
impact on wind (downdrafts and wind tunnelling), aligning with Policy D9 of the 
London Plan 2021. 

9.92 A wind tunnel assessment of the impact on the local microclimate was undertaken. 
The wind tunnel assessment was revised in light of the revised public realm scheme 
and to clarify matters in relation to the cumulative scenario. It tested four scenarios; 
existing site condition (scenario 1), existing site with future surrounds (scenario 2) 
proposed with existing surroundings (scenario 3) and proposed with future 
surroundings (scenario 4). This is needed given the number of consented and/or 
proposed developments in the vicinity of the site and to fully understand the 
implications of the scheme in conjunction with all surrounding built form.  

 

Page 54



 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Image 34: Study Point Locations 
and Target Wind Speed Criteria 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Scenario 1 (existing site condition) 
9.93 The existing wind conditions exceed the safety criterion at six locations (points 11-

13, 32, 36 and 39) and present a safety risk for pedestrians, particularly that of more 
vulnerable members of the public. All other points are considered safe for pedestrian 
activity throughout the year. In terms of pedestrian comfort, the wind microclimate at 
points 11-13, 32, 36-39, 50 and 54 exceed the comfort criterion for the intended 
pedestrian activity of strolling during winter (the worst season). The wind conditions 
at points 18, 34, 63, 66 and 69 exceed the comfort criterion for pedestrian activity of 
standing during winter. All other points are considered safe for pedestrian activity 
throughout the year. Apart from point 50, the wind conditions at neighbouring roads 
are suitable for cycling throughout the year. The wind conditions near the bus stop 
(point 34) exceed the comfort criterion for standing during the winter season. During 
the summer months the wind conditions at College Square is suitable for stationary 
activities of standing and sitting.  

Scenario 2 (existing site with future surrounds) 

Page 55



 

 

9.94 The existing site with future surrounds indicate that wind conditions do exceed the 
safety criteria at three locations (points 36 to 38). This presents a safety risk for 
pedestrians, especially to more vulnerable members of the public. Away from these 
locations, the wind conditions are safe for pedestrian activities throughout the year. 
In terms of pedestrian comfort, the wind microclimate at points 32, 36, 38 and 53 
exceed the comfort criterion for intended pedestrian activity of strolling during winter. 
All the remaining locations within the site and surrounds are suitable for intended 
pedestrian activities throughout the year. Apart from point 53, the wind conditions at 
neighbouring roads of the proposed site are suitable for cyclist and pedestrian use 
throughout the year. The wind conditions at the bus stop (point 34) are suitable for 
standing during the winter season. During the summer season, the wind conditions 
at College Square is suitable for stationary activities of standing and sitting. 

Scenario 3 (proposed site with existing surroundings) 
9.95 The proposed development with the existing surrounds and landscaping indicates 

that the wind conditions at all the locations are rated as safe for pedestrian use at the 
site and surrounds. It is important to note that the unsafe conditions that occurred for 
the existing site conditions are improved and are rated as safe by the presence of the 
scheme. All the areas of the site and surrounds are safe for pedestrians and cyclists 
use throughout the year. In terms of pedestrian comfort, at ground level the wind 
conditions at points 11, 34, 36, 37, 38, 39 and 50 exceed the comfort criterion for 
strolling during the worst season (winter). It should be noted that similar exceedances 
are also observed for Scenario 1 (existing site condition). The wind conditions at point 
50 exceed the comfort criterion for strolling during the worst season, whilst noting 
similar exceedances are also observed for Scenario 1. Away from this location, the 
wind conditions on the neighbouring roads are suitable for cyclist use throughout the 
year. 

9.96 In terms of the site itself, the wind microclimate outside the entrance (point 6) 
marginally exceeds the comfort criterion for entrance use by occupants/visitors during 
winter. The proposed revolving door for this location is expected to provide shelter at 
this entrance, so no additional mitigation is necessary. The wind microclimate outside 
the other proposed entrances (points 1, 2, 4, 5 and 7) are suitable for 
occupant/visitors use throughout the year. With the presence of the landscaping 
scheme, all areas in College Square are suitable for intended pedestrian activities of 
sitting and/or standing in the summer season. No further mitigation measures are 
therefore necessary. Wind microclimate conditions on the terrace (points 58 and 59) 
marginally achieve the comfort criterion for sitting during the summer season, so 
additional mitigation measures are beneficial. These would secured through 
condition. 

9.97 The wind conditions in the surroundings mostly remain the same as the existing site 
conditions. Whilst pedestrian comfort levels at points 34, 37 and 50 get marginally 
worse as a result of the development, the wind conditions at points 11, 12, 13, 18, 
32, 36, 38, 39, 54, 63 and 66 are improved by the presence of the scheme.  

Scenario 4 (proposed site with future surroundings) 
9.98 The proposed site with future surroundings indicate that wind conditions do exceed 

the safety criteria at two locations (points 37 and 38). This presents a safety risk for 
pedestrians, especially to more vulnerable members of the public. Apart from these 
locations, the wind conditions are safe for pedestrian activities throughout the year. 
In terms of pedestrian comfort, wind microclimate at points 37 and 38 exceed the 
comfort criterion for intended pedestrian activity of strolling during the winter. It is 

Page 56



 

 

important to note that whilst point 37 gets marginally worse (0.05%), point 38 is 
improved by the presence of the scheme. All the remaining locations within the site 
and surrounds are suitable for intended pedestrian activities throughout the year. 
Apart from points 37 and 38, the wind conditions at the neighbouring roads are 
suitable for cyclist and pedestrian use throughout the year. The wind conditions at 
the bus stop (point 34) are suitable for standing during the winter season. During the 
summer season, wind conditions at College Square are suitable for stationary 
activities of standing and sitting.  

9.99 In terms of the site itself, the wind microclimate conditions on the terrace (point 58) 
exceed the comfort criterion for sitting during the summer season. Additional 
mitigation measures are beneficial and would be secured by condition. 

9.100 In conclusion, the four scenarios demonstrate that the exceedance of wind conditions 
are primarily within the existing site condition (Scenario 1) and existing site with future 
surrounds (Scenario 2), so without the application scheme modelled. In the proposed 
site with existing surroundings (Scenario 3), there are similar exceedances to those 
observed for scenario 1, with wind conditions at eleven points improved and at three 
points made worse by the presence of the proposed scheme. The proposed site with 
future surroundings (Scenario 4) results in the least exceedances, limited to only 
points 37 and 38 (which fail across all scenarios), with one showing a minor increase 
in failure and one showing an improvement against Scenario 2.  

7 Quality of Office Accommodation  

9.101 Policy SP3 of the CLP encourages innovation and investment into the borough to 
support enterprise and increased employment for the benefit of all Croydon residents. 
The Council will apply a presumption in favour of employment related development, 
provided it meets the standards of Policy SP3 and other applicable policies of the 
development plan. SP3.8 of the CLP states that the Council will promote and support 
the development of all B1 uses (including office, light industry and research and 
development) retail, leisure (including evening/night-time economy uses), visitor 
accommodation, and housing and community facilities within Croydon Metropolitan 
Centre, District Centres and Local Centres. 

9.102 Policy E1 of the London Plan encourages improvements to the quality, flexibility and 
adaptability of office space of different sizes (for micro, small, medium-sized and 
larger enterprises) should be supported by new office provision, refurbishment and 
mixed-use development. 

9.103  The building provides a double height entrance from George Street at ground floor 
level with an open mezzanine. The large flexible floor plate gives potential to 
subdivide for differing tenancy needs with a centralised core. The floorplate can be 
divided into a number of configurations providing flexibility. Each unit could have its 
own front door from the lift lobby and direct access to WC’s. The floorplate is heated, 
cooled and ventilated via soffit mounted fan coil units and the floor to ceiling glazing 
provides good levels of natural light to the floorplate. Furthermore, all floors are fully 
accessible, with step free access at ground floor.   

Page 57



 

 

 
Image 34: CGI showing internal views of typical floor plan 

 
9.104 The office provides for the amenities of its end user with such aspects as mezzanine 

level cycle facilities and storage, stair and platform lifts to provide access to the cycle 
parking, café, rooftop amenity areas and direct access to College Square, which 
would be an upgraded piece of public realm on the doorstep.  

9.105 Policy DM4.3 requires mixed use development outside of main and secondary retail 
frontages, but within centres, to have occupied ground floor units. It requires either a 
specified end user or a free fitting out of all ground floor units for the eventual end 
occupier, with the unit capable of conversion to the same use as the remainder of the 
building if after two years, subsequent to completion, no end user has been found. 
This is particularly relevant for mixed-use development with residential above ground 
floor, where historically, some schemes have been left with vacant ground floor units. 
This scheme is for an office use, with the ground floor split into the office reception, 
business centre, office space, servicing/back of house and a café. This policy would 
only be applicable to the café; the appellant has provided information on case studies 
where similar spaces have been successfully delivered. The location for the café 
would be in a sunlit part of the public realm space, allowing café users to move in and 
out of the building to enjoy the adjoining public realm. The café can be accessed from 
inside the building by the office tenants, and by the public from outside the building 
entering directly via the public realm. Officers have confidence that the unit will not 
remain vacant, so the principle of the policy requirements have been achieved, and 
given the particular circumstances of the site, are acceptable without the need for a 
legal agreement.  

Overheating and ventilation 
9.106 The submitted energy statement goes into detail about overheating and ventilation of 

the proposed building. The proposed design incorporates high thermal mass in the 
external walls and walls adjacent to cores of the building. The building will comprise 
composite slabs which provide limited potential for exposed thermal mass. This 
construction type has been selected because it better serves the structural design of 
the building.  

9.107 The scheme would incorporate mechanical ventilation with heat recovery system to 
provide fresh air throughout the development. The air handling Units would comprise 

Page 58



 

 

summer bypass to reduce the risk of overheating. Based on results of the dynamic 
thermal modelling, it was concluded that active cooling would be required to maintain 
acceptable thermal comfort levels and avoid the risk of overheating, thereby 
complying with the overheating risk criteria. 

9.108 The results of the dynamic thermal modelling showed that the operative temperature 
in all assessed areas of the building will not exceed 26 degrees Celsius in the office 
areas for more than 3% of the occupied hours for the period between May to 
September, or the winter period (October to April). Therefore, it can be concluded 
that all spaces meet the overheating risk criteria for mechanically conditioned 
buildings. The overheating risk analysis that was undertaken shows the proposed 
development is considered to be at low risk when active cooling is applied.  

Flexible and affordable workspace 
9.109 Policy E2 and E3 in the London plan requite developments to provide suitable 

business space and affordable workspace respectively. Part D of Policy E2 states 
developments greater than 2,500sqm should seek to provide flexible workspace or 
smaller units suitable for micro, small and medium sized enterprises. Officers have 
worked with the applicant to provide flexible floor space that can be split into smaller 
spaces.  

9.110 In terms of affordable workspace, given that there are no current policies within the 
Local Plan 2018 and no evidence base for what is required in terms of affordable 
workspace within Croydon, officers have not sought to secure this within the 
development. Although this is regrettable, the London Plan Policy does state that the 
criteria for developments providing this is dependent on the necessary information 
provided by Borough Development Plans (particularly around evidence of need and 
viability). In the absence of this less weight was given to this policy requirement.  

Designing out crime 
9.111 Policy requires that development proposals should contribute to the minimisation of 

potential risks, and development should include measures to design out crime that, 
in proportion to the risk, deter terrorism, assist in the detection of terrorist activity, and 
help defer its effects. The Croydon SPD No. 3: Designing for Community Safety sets 
out guidance for minimising risk, including maximising natural surveillance; creating 
spaces which foster a sense of ownership; activity levels; and management and 
maintenance provisions.  

9.112 The applicant has stated that security requirements have been considered through a 
Security Needs Assessment and consultation with Designing out Crime Officer. Full 
consideration of these measures in terms of security will require further discussion 
and resolution post determination. A condition is recommended to capture this and 
require the applicant to address these matters, along with a requirement to continue 
engagement with the Metropolitan Police prior to occupation in order to seek to 
achieve Secured by Design accreditation. 

8 Access and Parking  

9.113 The site has a Public Transport Accessibility Level (PTAL) of 6b on a scale of 0 – 6b, 
where 6b is the most accessible, so has an excellent level of accessibility to public 
transport links. The site has an existing vehicular access from College Road and is 
within the Central Croydon Controlled Parking Zone (CPZ) which is operational 
between Monday to Sunday 8am to midnight.  

Page 59



 

 

Access 
9.114 The proposed development will continue to be accessed by vehicle from College 

Road with some modification. College Road is a no-through-road to vehicular traffic, 
approximately 200m long, accessed from its western end via a priority-controlled 
junction with the A212 Park Lane. The central part of College Road is covered by the 
zig-zag markings of the zebra crossing which is adjacent to the site. Pay and display 
on-street parking extends east and west of the crossing on both sides of College 
Road, across part of the site’s south-eastern frontage. There is a loading bay on the 
northern side of the road at its western end approximately 60m from the site. 

9.115 South of its junction with College Road, the A212 Park Lane connects with the A232 
at a signal-controlled gyratory. The A232 forms part of the TLRN, providing a strategic 
route through the surrounding road network. 

9.116 Pedestrian access to the development will be via the main entrance on the northern 
side of the site, from George Street, with a secondary entrance on the north-western 
corner of the building. There will be a separate access off College Square for the café 
and accesses off College Road for pedestrians, cycles, goods, blue badge holders, 
servicing and waste/recycling. 

9.117 All accesses to the site, including fire escapes, will be step free with the surrounding 
public footway, meaning the development is accessible to wheelchair users and 
mobility-impaired visitors. The main external doors to the building are automatic 
sliding doors and are therefore accessible by all. All internal level changes have been 
addressed with either 1:21 gradient slopes, or by accessible lifts, making the 
development accessible to all. 

9.118 The site ideal for the type of development proposed which is highly accessible by 
public transport. There will be a net reduction in the number of vehicular trips given 
the fact that the development is car free compared to the existing buildings on site.  

Car parking 
9.119 Currently there is basement car parking on site; there is no proposed car parking for 

the new development except for two blue badge spaces, accessed from College 
Road, which is supported by the Croydon Local Plan 2018 Policies SP8.15 and 
SP8.16 and the London Plan 2021 Policy T6.  T6.5 of the London Plan 2021 states 
that disabled persons parking should be provided in accordance with the levels of 
parking that is set out in Table 10.6 of the London Plan. The table states that for 
workplace use 5% of the total parking provision should be blue badge spaces, 
however this is a car free development. T6.5 (A) goes on to state that all non-
residential developments should provide access to at least one on or off-street 
disabled persons parking bay. Part E states that designated disabled persons parking 
bays and enlarged bays should be designed in accordance with the design guidance 
provided in BS8300: Vol 1. Following comments from the Councils internal Transport 
team, the two parking bays do not appear to follow BS guidelines and will have to be 
adjusted. However, given that two parking bays have been provided and the 
requirements is for a minimum of one bay, officers are confident that the issues can 
be resolved via condition.  

9.120 Local Plan Policy DM30 states that 20% of parking bays should have EVCP with 
future provision available for the other bays. Given only two bays are proposed, one 
will be secured as an EVCP by condition. Furthermore, the Council will seek to keep 
this a car free development by restricting car permits for future business occupiers 

Page 60



 

 

and removing access to contracts in council run car parks. This will also be secured 
through the s.106 legal agreement. 

9.121 Officers acknowledge the site servicing area limitations and that car club bays tend 
to need to be external located to be used by customers beyond an individual site. 
Accordingly, a car club space is not required on site, but a financial contribution 
towards off-site delviery and membership for future tenants will be secured through 
the s.106 legal agreement. 

Cycle parking  
9.122 Policy T5 of the London Plan states that development proposals should help remove 

barriers to cycling and create a healthy environment in which people choose to cycle. 
The cycle parking standards of Policy T5 of the London Plan require 256 long-stay 
spaces and 13 short-stay spaces. The development would provide 283 cycle spaces; 
264 long-stay spaces and 19 short-stay spaces, which meets the policy requirement. 
Sheffield stands make up 5% of the total provision of cycle spaces with the remainder 
being provided by two tier cycle racks. The cycle parking spaces are accessed from 
College Road on the south-eastern side of the building with a split across the ground 
and mezzanine floor. Showers would also be provided for staff to further encourage 
cycling to work. 

9.123 additionally, there are six Sheffield-type cycle stands on College Road, immediately 
opposite the site, and three on George Street adjacent to Suffolk House. These 
provide secure storage for a further total of 18 cycles within 40m of the site. 

9.124 Concerns have been raised regarding the two-tier racks and the lack of a 2.5m aisle 
width to allow for the top tier rack to be lowered and bike removed. Given that there 
is an over provision of cycle storage, officers acknowledge that there is space to 
reconfigure the cycle storage and so a condition is recommended for final details of 
the cycle store and the specific arrangement for the two-tier racks.  

Sustainable transport 
9.125 Sustainable travel is a key policy consideration within Policies SP8, DM29 and DM30 

of the CLP. Given that the development would be car-free (aside from blue badge 
spaces) and considering the nature of the development, increased walking, cycling 
and public transport use is expected. To mitigate against this and improve 
connections for all transport measures, improvements to the highways network 
immediately surrounding the site in line with the Council’s future vision for the area 
surrounding East Croydon station are to be secured as part of the s.106 legal 
agreement and s.278 highway works. A contribution, as requested by TfL, will also 
be secured via the s.106 legal agreement. 

Active Travel Zone 
9.126 The Active Travel Zone (ATZ) is the 20minute cycling catchment surrounding the 

proposal site, as defined by TFL’s WebCAT Tool. The applicant has identified some 
potential upgrades to the local highways network as part of their Active Travel Zone 
assessment to support the development. Improvements could potentially be made to 
the crossing facilities at the Dingwall Road / George Street junction. The main 
improvements will be to College Square, which is technically highways land, in terms 
of delivery of a high-quality public space.  

Travel Plan 

Page 61



 

 

9.127  In order to ensure that the identified modal shift is adequately supported, and barriers 
to uptake of more sustainable transport modes can be addressed, a Travel Plan and 
monitoring for five years along with a financial contribution to allow this is to be 
secured through the s.106 legal agreement.  

9 Waste, Delivery and Servicing 

Waste 
9.128 The application was submitted with a Delivery, Servicing and Waste Management 

Plan (DSWMP) which applies to all delivery vehicles, service vehicles, and waste 
collections from the future occupier(s) of the proposed office space, as well as to the 
proposed café on the ground floor of the development. 

9.129 The objective of the plan is to manage the deliveries, servicing and waste collections 
to and from the site in order to ensure they are efficient and effective, thereby 
minimising disruption to the public highway as well as the proposed development 
occupier(s) and its neighbours. The plan aligns with Policy T4(B) of the London Plan 
2021 and Policy DM13 of the CLP 2018. 

9.130 The number and size of bins have been calculated based on occupancy and use. A 
total of nine general waste bins and four recycling bins are proposed. Paper/card 
recycling will be baled and compacted at a ratio of 7:1 to form 18 bales. A compactor 
providing a 3:1 ratio is also included. This allows for an anticipated weekly collection. 

9.131 As per the Council’s requirement the waste storage area has been located internally 
and can be accessed via College Road. Waste and recycling will be collected from 
the kerbside on College Road, as per the arrangements of the existing buildings on 
the site. The office management team, which will be appointed by the 
developer/occupier, will be responsible for presenting the bins for collection and 
returning the bins to the stores afterwards. It is expected that full details of the 
proposed collection arrangements, including agreement on the operator who will be 
carrying it out, will be specified within a condition in a detailed refuse management 
strategy. This strategy must also detail how refuse collection will be managed within 
the building by the operator.  

Delivery and Servicing 
9.132 Deliveries and other non-waste servicing will take place via the on-site loading bay 

on the ground floor, accessed from College Road. Swept path tracking of a long-
wheelbase delivery van has been demonstrated, showing there is sufficient 
manoeuvring space for such a vehicle to enter and exit in a forward gear. The swept 
path tracking also demonstrates that 1.5m x 1.5m pedestrian visibility splays will be 
maintained while the service vehicle is manoeuvring. Delivery vehicles larger than a 
long-wheelbase van will be able to use the College Road on-street loading bay 
adjacent to the neighbouring Suffolk House, which is only 60m from the proposed on-
site loading bay. Whilst this is not ideal, there is no room for this to be located on site 
and given the site constraints and location this has been deemed acceptable in this 
instance. It is anticipated that most deliveries and servicing will however take place 
on site. A robust, final Delivery and Servicing Plan will be conditioned, and officers 
will ensure the focus is on site usage as opposed to the College Road loading bay. 

Construction Logistics Plan 
9.133 A Construction Logistics Plan has been submitted. Most of the information provided 

is satisfactory. Given the scale of the development, a tailored condition requiring the 

Page 62



 

 

submission of a detailed Construction Logistics Plan is recommended to ensure that 
the construction phase of development does not result in undue impacts upon the 
surrounding highway network. This is of particular importance given that there are 
several developments consented, proposed, or being built out in proximity, and site 
logistics and build programmes will therefore need to be co-ordinated to manage the 
potential for schemes to be delivered simultaneously. This will be reviewed carefully 
by officers when the recommended condition is discharged to seek minimal disruption 
to the road network and surrounding residents.  

10 Trees, Landscaping and Biodiversity  

9.134 There are a small number of trees/shrubs across and adjoining the site. Urban 
greening and integration of soft landscaping is very important, particularly in the 
context of the climate emergency. Given the scheme seeks to maximise the footprint 
of the building across the site, the soft landscaping on the site currently would be 
removed. Officers have focussed on maximising greenery on the terraces/roof of the 
building and within College Square. 

9.135 There are 6 individual trees and 4 groups in and adjacent to the proposed 
development. Of the trees surveyed 3 are Category B and 3 individual trees and 3 
groups are Category C, with 1 group Category U. None of the trees on site are 
protected by a Tree Preservation Order. The image below shows that there are 3 
individual trees on site and 3 groups. The additional trees surveyed lie outside of the 
redline boundary on College Square. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Image 35: Trees 

surveyed in and around 

the site 

 

  

  

9.136 All trees within the red line would be removed to facilitate the proposed building, being 
3 Category B individual trees, 2 Category C groups and a Category U group. It is 
regrettable that 3 Category B trees will be removed to facilitate the development. 

9.137 The indicative proposals for College Square (to be secured through the s.106 legal 
agreement and s.278 highways agreement) involve the loss of 3 small individual C 
grade trees (the tallest being 2.5m in height), whilst the group of 5 C grade trees (G4) 
would have one tree removed. Within this space, 13 new trees are indicatively shown 
to be planted. Given the overall uplift in tree numbers, along with the delivery of the 
high-quality public realm, this is supported.  

Page 63



 

 

9.138 The new planting will be mixed species for visual interest, biodiversity and climate 
resilience. The NPPF and London Plan policy G6 requires that any development 
seeks to provide biodiversity net gain. The submitted ecological appraisal shows the 
site currently has some biodiversity value and there are opportunities for 
enhancement measures. This is met with planting (intensive green roof, perennial 
planting on the roof terrace and climbing plants) and habitat creation for birds, bats 
and insects incorporated into the landscape. A blue and green roof system is 
proposed at roof and podium level. Full details of specific measures and their 
locations are recommended to be secured through ecological and landscaping 
conditions, including design of a wildlife sensitive lighting scheme.   

9.139 Policy G5 of the London Plan 2021 requires major development to contribute to 
greening of London with an interim target score of 0.3 for predominantly commercial 
development. Urban greening calculations have been carried out which demonstrate 
that the site achieves a score of 0.36 UGF which exceeds the target and is supported. 
The diagram below shows how this is achieved. This calculation is based on the red 
line application boundary; it is worthy of note that the College Square public realm 
upgrade (which the applicant would finance and be secured through the s.106 legal 
agreement and s.278 highways agreement) delivers further soft landscaping which 
would further enhance the urban greening. 

 

  
Image 36: Urban Greening Factor- Location and types of urban greening applied 

 
11 Environment and Sustainability 

Flooding and drainage  
9.140 DM25 of the CLP 2018 requires Council to ensure development reduces flood risk 

and minimises the impact of flooding, aligning with SI 12 of the London Plan. The site 
is within Flood Zone 1 (low risk) and an area of very low risk surface water flood risk. 
There is limited potential for groundwater flooding to occur and so the risk of flooding 
from groundwater is considered to be low.  

9.141 A Flood Risk Assessment has been submitted setting out a strategy for managing 
runoff from various parts of the site. A blue and green roof system is proposed at roof 
and podium level to attenuate surface water. The blue roofs are proposed on all roof 
areas where there is sufficient build-up depth available. These will attenuate surface 
water from the roof area and discharge it to the local network at a restricted rate. The 
green roofs comprise a multi-layered system; they have been proposed outside of 

Page 64



 

 

the plant area and would be approximately 390sqm, with an additional 50sqm of 
perennial planting. This would reduce both total and peak surface water discharge as 
well as proving benefits to biodiversity and water quality. The Lead Local Flood 
Authority assessed the proposed scheme and following submission of additional 
information raise no objection. 

9.142 With regards to foul water and surface water network infrastructure capacity, Thames 
Water raised no objection. As the development is located within 15m of a strategic 
sewer they have requested a Piling Method Statement to be conditioned, which is 
recommended. Thames Water did identify an inability of the existing water network 
infrastructure to accommodate the needs of this development proposal and according 
requested a pre-occupation condition, which is proposed. Informatives are 
recommended, including to advise the developer that Thames Water underground 
water assets are located within 15m of the development, and water mains crossing 
or close to the development. 

Sustainability requirements  
9.143 Policy SP6.3 requires new development to minimise carbon dioxide emissions and 

seeks high standards of design and construction in terms of sustainability in 
accordance with local and national carbon dioxide reduction targets. This requires 
new build, non-residential development of 1000sqm and above to achieve a minimum 
of 35% CO2 reduction beyond the Building Regulations Part L (2013). Policy SP6.2 
requires the development to incorporate a site wide communal heating system and 
to be enabled for district energy connection. 

9.144 Policy SI 2 (A) minimising greenhouse gas emissions requires all major development 
to be net zero-carbon, reducing greenhouse gas emissions and minimise both annual 
and peak energy demand in accordance with the energy hierarchy: (1) Be Lean, (2) 
Be Clean, (3) Be Green and (4) Be seen. In line with SI 2 (C) of the London Plan 
(2021), major development should be net zero-carbon with a minimum on-site 
reduction of at least 35% beyond Building Regulations Part L (2013), with any 
shortfall to be offset through a financial contribution. Policy SI 2 (F) of the London 
Plan requires submission of a whole life-cycle carbon emissions which demonstrate 
actions taken to reduce life-cycle carbon emissions. Policy SI 7 requires schemes to 
promote circular economy outcomes and aim to be net zero-waste. 

Zero carbon and energy hierarchy  
9.145 The proposed scheme has prioritised passive design and energy efficiency measures 

to reduce the energy demand resulting from the building’s operation. The proposed 
energy strategy has been developed as an all-electric solution, without any gas or 
other fossil fuels supplied on-site, to benefit the development from the low carbon 
intensity of the grid-supplied electricity and avoid adverse impacts on air quality. 
Considering that the electricity grid is expected to continue being decarbonised, 
further improvements are anticipated in the future. The proposed energy strategy 
meets and exceeds the targets set by Building Regulations and by the relevant 
planning policy requirements by incorporating a combination of energy efficiency 
measures and low/zero carbon technologies. The proposed energy strategy results 
in a 39.82% reduction of regulated CO2 emissions. The remaining regulated CO2 
emissions shortfall would be covered by a carbon offset payment (£331,645) which 
would be secured through the s.106 legal agreement. 

9.146 Whilst no existing district heating networks currently exist, the site is within an area 
where one is planned. The s.106 legal agreement will ensure the development makes 

Page 65



 

 

provision to facilitate the future connection to a proposed heat network, should one 
come forward. The obligation requires connection to the District Heating System if 
the Council has appointed an operator before commencement on site. On this basis, 
as the proposal complies with the above requirements regarding carbon reduction 
and a CO2 offset payment, subject to a condition requiring the above standards to be 
achieved and the financial contribution secured, the proposal is considered 
acceptable. 

Whole Life-Cycle Carbon Assessment  
9.147 A Whole-Life Cycle Carbon Assessment (WLCA) has been provided to capture the 

developments carbon impact, as required by Policy SI 2 of the London Plan (2021). 
A WLCA assesses the environmental impacts of a building over its life cycle. It 
includes activities from all stages of a building’s life cycle, from the extraction of raw 
materials and their production and the distribution of energy, through the use, reuse, 
and final disposal.  

9.148 The proposed design includes the following measures, intended to reduce the whole 
life carbon emissions: 

 
a. Use of recycled content in structural steel; 
b. Use of prefabricated façade system; 
c. Improvement of energy performance as outlined in the Energy Strategy Report 

which results in lower carbon emissions attributed to operational energy; 
d. Use of Environmental Product Declarations for material selection, in order to 

identify suitable products and systems for the proposed development’s design; 
e. Selection of durable cladding materials with increased longevity, in order to 

reduce the embodied carbon emissions related to maintenance and 
replacement of the building’s elements. 
 

9.149 The results showed that the whole life cycle impact related with the development has 
been estimated to be 45,343.06 tCO2e over a 60-year period. 61% of the overall 
impact is associated with the development’s operational energy use (B6 and B7). The 
remaining 39% reflects the development’s embodied carbon over the building’s whole 
life cycle. The breakdown of the embodied carbon over the life cycle showed that the 
building’s structure is the most carbon intensive category, which accounts for 
approximately 44%, followed by the building services which account for 24%. 

9.150 A benchmark comparison of the WLCA results showed the proposal is expected to 
have a carbon impact 46% lower than the current GLA’s WLC benchmark during 
stages A1-A5 (product sourcing and construction stage) and 22% lower than the 
GLA’s WLC benchmark during stages B-C (in-use and end of life stage). Aspirational 
WLC benchmarks have been developed which are based on a 40% reduction in WLC 
emissions on the first set of WLC benchmarks. This is based on the World Green 
Building Council’s target to achieve a 40% reduction in WLC emissions by 2030. 

9.151 The proposal therefore seeks to meet the requirement of Policy SI 2 by demonstrating 
actions to be taken to reduce life-cycle carbon emissions and is acceptable, subject 
to a condition securing final details and a post construction assessment of the WLC 
emissions, as requested by the GLA. 

Circular Economy 
9.152 A circular economy statement has been provided to demonstrate how waste will seek 

to be minimised, meeting the requirements of Policy SI 7 of the London Plan (2021). 

Page 66



 

 

 
9.153 The applicant team explored the option of refurbishment and re-cladding of the 

existing 96 and 98 George Street building but concluded that there are significant 
constrains from doing so, especially because of the characteristics of its structural 
frame. This would limit the ability to deliver Grade A office space and officers accept 
this position.  

 
9.154 The circular economy statement incudes an independent pre-demolition audit 

(prepared by KpH Deconstruction Services Ltd) which states that of the 
approximately 10,000 cubic metres of predicted waste (from strip out and demolition), 
54% would be reused and the remaining 46% recycled, hence 100% diversion from 
landfill. This is supported and exceeds the Policy SI 7 target of 95% 
reuse/recycling/recovery  

 
9.155 The key aspects of the development which contribute to the Circular Economy 

aspirations are outlined below: 

• Reduce the amount of materials used by utilising modern methods of 
construction (i.e. off-site manufacturing) for the building facades and retaining 
the existing foundations, reducing the materials used for substructure; 

• Reduce resources other than materials and including energy, water and land, 
as the proposed scheme utilises a pre-developed site; 

• Design for longevity, adaptability and flexibility, to keep building elements and 
materials in use for longer and enable flexible fit-out arrangements without 
significant alterations and waste generation; 

• Prioritise materials that are responsibly and sustainably sourced; 

• Manage waste sustainably and at the highest value, including demolition, 
construction, and municipal waste. 

 
9.156 Officers consider the development has sought to promote circular economy outcomes 

and seeks to maximise opportunities for longevity, adaptability and flexibility. 
Recommended conditions will secure final details of the circular economy strategy, 
as well as post completion reporting as requested by the GLA.  

 
Air Quality 

9.157 The entire borough of Croydon is an Air Quality Management Area (AQMA) and 
therefore careful consideration to the air quality impacts of proposed development is 
required. The supporting Air Quality Assessment document finds the development to 
be Air Quality Neutral, both transport NOx emissions and transport PM10 emissions 
are below the transport emission benchmark, therefore no additional mitigation is 
required, and the development as a whole is considered to be Air Quality Neutral. 
However, in line with Guidance from DEFRA 'Low Emissions Strategies - using the 
planning system to reduce transport emissions' Croydon are adopting the following 
formula: all mixed use and commercial schemes of 500m2 and above should 
contribute £100 per 500m2 unit. Therefore, a contribution of £3,846 will be secured.  

 
Contamination  

9.158 A condition will be recommended to submit a risk assessment for contaminated land 

and a watching brief during works and notify the Council should any unexpected 

contamination be encountered during the demolition.  

Environmental Impact Assessment 

Page 67



 

 

9.159 Prior to the application submission an Environmental Impact Assessment (EIA) 

screening was submitted. It was concluded that due to its nature, scale, and 

characteristics, in this location, the scheme would not be likely to have significant 

effects on sensitive nature conservation/ecology, cultural/historic, or landscape 

assets and designations as defined by the Regulations, or that there would be likely 

significant effects in these respects that would merit an EIA.  

 

12 Other Planning Matters  

Fire 
9.160 London Plan (2021) Policy D12 Fire Safety requires all major developments to be 

submitted with a Fire Statement, which is an independent fire strategy, produced by 
a third party, suitably qualified assessor. The applicant has supplied a Fire Statement 
(that was subsequently updated), produced by Norman Disney and Young, and 
produced, reviewed and approved by Miller Hannah BEng (Hons), CEng, MIFireE 
and Megan Lillycrop Meng (Hones) AIFE and a Fire Strategy. The application has 
been reviewed by the Council’s Building Control surveyor who, subject to a condition 
securing an evacuation lift, raises no objection. Whilst it was noted the documents 
provided were relatively high level, the use as an office is less challenging than a 

residential building in managing means of escape and evacuation.  
  
9.161 It is noted above that the London Fire Brigade have not responded further to the 

submission of amended documents. Whilst our Building Control surveyor’s opinion is 
the issues raised are resolvable, to safeguard this a pre-commencement condition is 
proposed to ensure final details are work through in advance of any works being 
undertaken. Finally, the development will also be required to comply with the relevant 
Building Regulations (outside the Planning System).  
 
Health Impacts 

9.162 DM16 of the Croydon Local Plan seeks to ensure promotion of healthy communities 
through the planning system. A health impact assessment was submitted to assess 
and identify the potential positive and negative impacts and likely effects of the 
proposed development on health and wellbeing in accordance with the National 
Planning Policy Framework, the London Plan 2021, and the Croydon Local Plan 
2018.  

 
9.163 The impact on health associated with the proposed development would be positive 

overall given a significant uplift in office floorspace and provision of new, flexible, and 
high-quality space, within a highly sustainable and distinctive new building, which is 
intended to improve the character and appearance of the area and help reinforce 
central Croydon as a key business destination.  The proposed development seeks to 
provide activation on the ground floor frontage, with a café. A well-considered 
landscape design has been developed to upgrade College Square and provide an 
area of public realm that is accessible to all and provides a welcoming environment 
for students, office workers, shoppers, and other users. College Square will promote 
interaction with different groups of people and communities and allow for casual 
interaction which enhances well-being in line with Policy GG3 and Policy G4 of the 
London Plan which strives to make London a healthier city for all.  

 
9.164 High priority has been given to helping improve the end occupier’s health and 

enhance community cohesion, by conducting consultation events for the design of 
the public realm and analysing how these spaces are used by the community. The 

Page 68



 

 

scheme contributes where possible to promote sustainable development and travel, 
enhancing green spaces, reducing pollution, and protecting neighbourhood amenity. 

 
9.165 Planning obligations and conditions are recommended to secure measures to avoid 

any potential for unacceptable health impacts, for example implementation of 
appropriate air quality mitigation measures during construction. The development is 
liable for a Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) payment to ensure that development 
contributes to meeting the need for physical and social infrastructure, including 
educational and healthcare facilities. 

  
Television and Radio Services 

9.166 London Plan policy D9 states that tall buildings, including their construction, should 
not interfere with aviation, navigation, or telecommunication. A TV and radio desk-
based study was submitted to investigate the potential impact of a proposed building 
development upon terrestrial and satellite television services, as well as radio, in the 
surrounding area. It was found that for terrestrial TV small to moderate losses may 
occur due to diffraction that may weaken the transmission signal. However, it was 
concluded that losses would be tolerable as it would affect the quality of the reception 
in the area. For satellite TV it was shown that as some tolerance is built into the 
receiving equipment, it is possible that a satellite signal may still be maintained even 
if line of sign is blocked, therefore it is possible that no noticeable effects would occur 
in practice. 

 

9.167 Interference to radio signals are less likely than terrestrial or satellite signals. The 
s.106 legal agreement would secure a programme of reports to be conducted after 
construction to mitigate any disruption cause.  

 
 Local Employment and Training Strategy (LETS) 
9.168 As required by SP3.14 of the Croydon Local Plan and E11 of the London Plan, 

developers will be required to produce a Local Employment and Training Strategy 
(LETS) for the Construction Phase and/or End-use Phase as appropriate, outlining 
the approach they will take to delivering employment, training and apprenticeship 
outcomes and engagement with schools and education providers for the 
development.  

 
9.169  In order to ensure that the benefits of the proposed development (including those 

required to mitigate the harm caused) reach local residents who may be impacted 
directly or indirectly by the proposal’s impacts, a skills, training and employment 
strategy (both operational and construction phases) will be secured through the s.106 
legal agreement to target (among other matters) 34% of construction and end-users 
jobs that should be filled with local residents. The s.106 legal agreement will secure 
contributions of £132,500 for the construction phase and £4,367 for the operational 
phase.  

 
9.170 An EIA Screening Opinion (20/06610/ENV) was issued prior to the submission of the 

planning application. The development was not considered to require an EIA, taking 
account of its location, nature, scale, and characteristics. 

 
13 Conclusions 

9.171 The proposed 11-storey building would offer a high-quality office building to Croydon, 

to further establish itself as the premier business location in South London and the 

Page 69



 

 

Gatwick Diamond. It is considered that the building has been designed with the needs 

of the end user and the surrounding context successfully, using high quality design, 

detailing and materials to enhance the street scene of George Street. The internal 

configuration is flexible and adaptable for the needs of the end user(s) and provides 

cycle and blue badge car parking spaces in line with policy. Furthermore, servicing 

has been integrated within the building to minimise any impact on the existing road 

network. The delivery of this public space is integral to the acceptability of the office 

building that maximises the development plot. Additional trees, soft and hard 

landscaping would ensure a high-quality outdoor space that would enhance a sense 

of place. 

9.172 The proposed development would result in the loss of residential units that would not 

be re-provided within the new scheme. This clearly counts against the scheme, with 

the report going into detail as to why officers find this, on balance, acceptable given 

the allocation and a compromised scheme with refurbishment of the homes or with 

residential integrated into the office development. Although it is regrettable housing 

is not re-provided, the site allocation does allow for a fully commercial scheme to be 

on site, without the requirement for residential delivery. Officers have worked with the 

applicant to provide a public square that is of high quality to give back to the 

community and to enhance the public realm. Officers believe that the quality of the 

public realm, its inception through consultation with local people and the College, 

providing space that is created for social interaction is a public benefit of substantial 

weight in the planning balance.  

9.173 The proposed building does impact on the amenity in terms of daylight and sunlight 

to some adjoining occupiers, particularly Ten Degrees. These units are single aspect 

and overlook the development site. Officers required the applicant to test a building 

that would be taller and slender as per the recommendations of PRP and Committee 

to confirm whether the correct massing approach was being taken. Having provided 

data for an alternative scheme if was concluded that more units would be adversely 

affected. Officers have taken an on-balance view on this aspect and have weighed 

up the benefits of the scheme to the immediate and surrounding area, along with the 

employment and regeneration potential that this development would have on 

Croydon.   

9.174 With conditions and mitigation, the proposal would be considered to have economic, 

environmental, and social benefits. It is considered that the development would be 

sustainable and acceptable in terms of its impact on the highway network. Residual 

planning impacts would be adequately mitigated by the recommended s.106 legal 

agreement and planning conditions.  

9.175 All other relevant policies and considerations, including the statutory duties set out in 

the Equalities Act 2010, the Human Rights Act, the Planning and Compulsory 

Purchase Act, and the Town and Country Planning Act, have been taken into 

account. Given the consistency of the scheme with the Development Plan and 

weighing this against all other material planning considerations, the proposal is 

considered to be acceptable in planning terms subject to the detailed 

recommendation set out in section 2 (RECOMMENDATION). 

 
 

Page 70



 

 

Appendix 1: Drawing numbers  
 

A. Drawings 
 

• Location Plan - GST-ORM-ZZ-ZZ-DR-A-12000 P03 

• Existing Site Plan - GST-ORM-ZZ-ZZ-DR-A-12001 P03 

• Proposed Site Plan - GST-ORM-ZZ-ZZ-DR-A-12002 P03 

• Existing Block Plan - GST-ORM-ZZ-ZZ-DR-A-12003 P01 
 

• Existing Basement Floor Plan - GST-ORM-ZZ-B1-DR-A-12199 P03 

• Existing Ground Floor Plan - GST-ORM-ZZ-00-DR-A-12100 P03 

• Existing First Floor Plan - GST-ORM-ZZ-01-DR-A-12101 P03 

• Existing Second Floor Plan - GST-ORM-ZZ-02-DR-A-12102 P03 

• Existing Third Floor Plan - GST-ORM-ZZ-03-DR-A-12103 P03 

• Existing Fourth Floor Plan - GST-ORM-ZZ-04-DR-A-12104 P03 

• Existing Fifth Floor Plan - GST-ORM-ZZ-05-DR-A-12105 P03 

• Existing Sixth Floor Plan - GST-ORM-ZZ-06-DR-A-12106 P03 

• Existing Roof Plan - GST-ORM-ZZ-RF-DR-A-12107-P03 
 

• Existing East Elevation – GST-ORM-ZZ-EA-DR-A-12201 P03 

• Existing South Elevation – GST-ORM-ZZ-SO-DR-A-12202 P03 

• Existing West Elevation – GST-ORM-ZZ-WE-DR-A-12203 P03 

• Existing North Elevation – GST-ORM-ZZ-NO-DR-A-12200 P03 
 

• Demolition Basement Plan - GST-ORM-ZZ-00-DR-A-12399 P03 

• Demolition Ground Floor Plan - GST-ORM-ZZ-00-DR-A-12300 P03 

• Demolition First Floor Plan - GST-ORM-ZZ-01-DR-A-12301 P03 

• Demolition Second Floor Plan - GST-ORM-ZZ-02-DR-A-12302 P03 

• Demolition Third Floor Plan - GST-ORM-ZZ-03-DR-A-12303 P03 

• Demolition Fourth Floor Plan - GST-ORM-ZZ-04-DR-A-12304 P03 

• Demolition Fifth Floor Plan - GST-ORM-ZZ-05-DR-A-12305 P03 

• Demolition Sixth Floor Plan - GST-ORM-ZZ-06-DR-A-12306 P03 

• Demolition Roof Plan – GST-ORM-ZZ-RF-DR-A-12107 P03 
 

• Demolition East Elevation – GST-ORM-ZZ-EA-DR-A-12401-P03 

• Demolition South Elevation – GST-ORM-ZZ-SO-DR-A-12402 P03 

• Demolition West Elevation – GST-ORM-ZZ-WE-DR-A-12403 P03 

• Demolition North Elevation – GST-ORM-ZZ-NO-DR-A-12400 P03 
 

• Below Ground Drainage Proposed Layout – 2190713-EWP-ZZ-00-SK-C-0001 P4 

• Proposed Basement Plan - GST-ORM-ZZ-B1-DR-A-12599 P04 

• Proposed Ground Floor Plan - GST-ORM-ZZ-00-DR-A-12500 P04 

• Proposed Mezzanine Floor Plan drawing ref. – GST-ORM-ZZ-M0-DR-A-12580 P04 

• Proposed First Floor Plan - GST-ORM-ZZ-01-DR-A-12501-P04 

• Proposed Second Floor Plan - GST-ORM-ZZ-02-DR-A-12502 P04 

• Proposed Third Floor Plan - GST-ORM-ZZ-03-DR-A-12503 P04 

• Proposed Fourth Floor Plan - GST-ORM-ZZ-04-DR-A-12504 P04 

• Proposed Fifth Floor Plan - GST-ORM-ZZ-05-DR-A-12505 P03 

• Proposed Sixth Floor Plan - GST-ORM-ZZ-06-DR-A-12506 P04 

• Proposed Seventh Floor Plan - GST-ORM-ZZ-07-DR-A-12507 P04 

• Proposed Eighth Floor Plan - GST-ORM-ZZ-08-DR-A-12508 P04 

• Proposed Ninth Floor Plan - GST-ORM-ZZ-09-DR-A-12509 P06 

• Proposed Tenth Floor Plan - GST-ORM-ZZ-10-DR-A-125010 P05 

Page 71



 

 

• Proposed Eleventh Floor Plan - GST-ORM-ZZ-11-DR-A-12511 P04 

• Proposed Roof Plan - GST-ORM-ZZ-RF-DR-A-12512 P05 
 

• Proposed Section AA – GST-ORM-ZZ-AA-DR-A-12600 P04 

• Proposed Section BB – GST-ORM-ZZ-BB-DR-A-12601 P04 

• Proposed East Elevation – GST-ORM-ZZ-EA-DR-A-12701 P05 

• Proposed South Elevation – GST-ORM-ZZ-SO-DR-A-12702 P05 

• Proposed West Elevation – GST-ORM-ZZ-WE-DR-A-12703 P05 

• Proposed North Elevation – GST-ORM-ZZ-NO-DR-A-12700 P05 

• Proposed Typical Chamber Bay Study - GST-ORM-ZZ-ZZ-DR-A-12996 P03 

• Proposed Typical Top Bay Study - GST-ORM-ZZ-ZZ-DR-A-12997 P04 

• Proposed Typical Bay Study - GST-ORM-ZZ-ZZ-DR-A-12998 P03 

• Proposed Typical Ground Bay Study - GST-ORM-ZZ-ZZ-DR-A-12999 P03 

• Proposed Model - GST-ORM-ZZ-ZZ-M3-A-00001 P17 
 

B. Documents and Statements 
 

1. Design and Access Statement    (Version: December 2021) 
2. Planning Statement      (Version: March 2021) 
3. Planning Statement Addendum    (Version: May 2022) 
4. Covering Letter      (Version: March 2021) 
5. CIL Form       (Version: March 2021) 
6. HTVIA        (Version: March 2021) 
7. Daylight and Sunlight Report     (Version: March 2021) 
8. Daylight and Sunlight Addendum    (Version: July 2022) 
9. Air Quality Assessment     (Version: March 2021) 
10. Health Impact Assessment     (Version: March 2021) 
11. TV and Radio Desk Based Report    (Version: March 2021) 
12. Transport Statement      (Version: March 2021) 
13. 11a. Active Travel Zone Assessment   (Version: October 2021) 
14. 11b. Proposed Development Travel Mode Share  (Version: October 2021) 
15. Delivery, Servicing and Waste Management Plan  (Version: March 2021) 
16. Healthy Streets Report     (Version: March 2021) 
17. Travel Plan       (Version: March 2021) 
18. Statement of Community Involvement   (Version: February 2021) 
19. Construction Logistics Plan     (Version: March 2021) 
20. Sustainable Procurement Plan    (Version: March 2021) 
21. Acoustic Report      (Version: March 2021) 
22. Arboricultural Impact Statement    (Version: March 2021) 
23. Energy Statement      (Version: March 2021) 
24. Sustainability Statement     (Version: March 2021) 
25. Whole Life Cycle Statement     (Version: March 2021) 
26. Circular Economy Statement     (Version: January 2021) 
27. Preliminary Ecological Appraisal    (Version: March 2021) 
28. Flood Risk Assessment     (Version: March 2021) 
29. Drainage Strategy     (Version: March 2021) 
30. Fire Safety Statement     (Version: March 2021)  
31. Fire Safety Statement Addendum    (Version: July 2022) 
32. Wind Assessment      (Version: February 2022) 
33. Pedestrian Wind Environment Study    (Version: August 2022) 
34. Café Unit Note      (Version: October 2022) 
35. Café Demand Note      (Version: October 2022) 
36. Landscape Statement     (Version: December 2021) 

 

• MUF Architecture  

Page 72



 

 

• Drawing 1.76-100: ground floor plan drawing. 

• Drawing 1.76-101: section drawing. 

• Drawing 1.76-101: typical section ramp drawing. 

• Landscape Drawing 1.76-102: typical section ramp drawing. 

• The DAS (for the landscaping scheme only). 

• CGI of the lighting scheme in axonometric. 

• CGI of the lighting scheme in axonometric. 
 

• Rob Bray Associates:  

• Plan RBA-CSC-201: planting species plan. 

• Plan RBA-CSC-301: SuDs plan. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 73



 

 

Appendix 2: BRE Guidance Terms  
from 2011 BRE ‘Site Layout Planning for Daylight and Sunlight’ 
 
Daylight to existing buildings  
 
The BRE Guidelines stipulate that the diffuse daylighting of the existing building may be adversely 
affected if either: 
 

• the vertical sky component (VSC) measured at the centre of an existing main window is less 
than 27%, and less than 0.8 times its former value (or reduced by more than 20%), known as 
the “VSC test” or  

 

• the area of the working plane in a room which can receive direct skylight is reduced to less 
than 0.8 times its former value known as the “NSL test” (no sky line). 

 
Sunlight to existing buildings 
 
The BRE Guidelines stipulate that the sunlight of an existing window may be adversely affected if 
the centre of the window: 
 

• receives less than 25% of annual probable sunlight hours (APSH), or less than 5% of annual 
winter probable sunlight hours between 21 September and 21 March (WPSH); and 

• receives less than 0.8 times its former sunlight hours (or a 20% reduction) during either period; 
and 

• has a reduction in sunlight received over the whole year greater than 4% of annual probable 
sunlight hours. 

 
If one of the above tests is met, the dwelling is not considered to be adversely affected. 
 
 
Daylight to new buildings 
 
The Average Daylight Factor (ADF) test calculates the average illuminance within a room as a 
proportion of the illuminance available to an unobstructed point outdoors, under a sky of known 
illuminance and luminance distribution. 
 
The BRE Guidelines stipulate that kitchens should attain at least 2% ADF, living and dining rooms 
at least 1.5% ADF and bedrooms at least 1% ADF. 
 
Sunlight to new buildings 
 
The BRE Guidelines stipulate that a building with a requirement for sunlight will appear reasonably 
sunlit provided: 
 

• at least one main window wall faces within 90 degrees if due south and 

• the centre of at least one window to a main living room can receive 25% of annual probable 
sunlight hours (APSH), including at least 5% of annual probable sunlight hours in the winter 
months between 21 September and 21 March (WPSH). 

 
Sunlight to gardens and outdoor spaces 
 
The BRE guidelines look at the proportion of an amenity area that received at least 2 hours of sun 
on 21st March. For amenity to be considered well sunlight through the year, it stipulates that at least 
50% of the space should enjoy these 2 hours of direct sunlight on 21st March. 
 

Page 74



CROYDON  
www.croydon.gov.uk

Scale 1:1250                Crown Copyright Ordnance Survey (License No: 100019257) 2011

Reference number: 21/06276/FUL   

Page 75

Agenda Item 52



This page is intentionally left blank



PLANNING COMMITTEE AGENDA 17th November 2022 

PART 6: Planning Applications for Decision Item 6.2

1 APPLICATION DETAILS 

Ref: 
Location: 
Ward: 

21/06276/FUL 
15A Russell Hill, Purley, CR8 2JB 
Purley And Woodcote 

Description: Demolition of existing single storey detached dwellinghouse (two 
storey building above ground level and one storey of lower ground 
accommodation) including demolition of detached garage and erection 
of a three storey building (two storey building above ground level and 
one storey of lower ground accommodation) comprising 7 self-
contained flats; private/communal amenity and play space; hard and 
soft landscaping; boundary treatment; reinstatement of existing 
crossover and new crossover to provide forecourt parking; cycle and 
refuse provision and land level alterations including raising to the front 
(amended plans) 

Drawing Nos: 06-939_301 Rev P04, 000 Rev P1, 001 Rev P1, 002 Rev P3, 010 Rev 
P1, 011 Rev P2, 012 Rev P2, 013 Rev P2, 014 Rev P1020 Rev P1 
and 021 Rev P1. 

Applicant: Russell Hill Ltd 
Agent: Dust Architecture 
Case Officer: Georgina Betts 

Housing Mix 
1 bed  

(2 person)
2 bed 

(3 person) 
 2 bed 

(4 person) 
3 bed 

(5 person)
TOTAL 

Existing 1 1
Proposed 

(market housing)
1 4 2 7 

TOTAL 1 4 

Vehicle and Cycle Parking (London Plan Standards)
PTAL: 1b
Car Parking maximum standard Proposed 
10.5 4 
Long Stay Cycle Storage minimum Proposed 
13.5 16 
Short Stay Cycle Storage minimum Proposed 
2 2 

1.1 This application is being reported to committee because: 

 The ward councillor (Cllr Samir Dwesar) made representations in accordance
with the Committee Consideration Criteria and requested committee 
consideration. 

2 RECOMMENDATION 

Page 77

https://publicaccess3.croydon.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&keyVal=R4F90RJLIGW00


2.1 That the Committee resolve to GRANT planning permission 
 

2.2 That the Director of Planning Sustainable Regeneration is delegated authority to issue 
the planning permission subject to: 

 
A. The prior completion of a legal agreement to secure the following planning 

obligations: 
a) Sustainable transport contribution (financial) 
b) The removal of residential parking permits should a Controlled Parking Zone be 

introduced in the future. 
c) Any other planning obligation(s) considered necessary by the Director of 

Planning and Sustainable Regeneration 
 

2.3 That the Director of Planning and Sustainable Regeneration is delegated authority to 
negotiate the legal agreement indicated above.  
 

2.4 That the Director of Planning and Sustainable Regeneration is delegated authority to 
issue the planning permission and impose conditions and informatives to secure the 
following matters: 

 
Conditions 

 
1) Commencement time limit of 3 years  
2) Carried out in accordance with the approved drawings 

 
 Pre-commencement conditions 

3) Construction Logistics Plan to include a survey of the public highway 
4) Landscaping and hard standing  
 
 Pre-Occupation Conditions 
5) External materials and samples 
6) Implementation of car parking as specified   
7) Electric Vehicle Charging Points at 20% active and 80% passive 
8) Submission of a lighting scheme 
9) Submission of a biodiversity enhancement plan 
 
Compliance Conditions  
10) Accessibility (M4(2) and M4(3)) 
11) Refuse, cycle stores and play space to be provided as approved 
12) In accordance with the Fire Statement 
13) Energy and water efficiency requirements  
14) Any other planning condition(s) considered necessary by the Director of Planning and 

Strategic Transport 
 
Informatives 
1) Granted subject to a Section 106 Agreement 
2) Community Infrastructure Levy 
3) Code of practice for Construction Sites 
4) Construction Logistics Informative  
5) Any other informative(s) considered necessary by the Director of Planning and 

Sustainable Regeneration 
 

Page 78



2.5 That the Committee confirms that adequate provision has been made, by the 
imposition of conditions, for the preservation or planting of trees as required by Section 
197 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990. 
 

2.6 That, if by 17th February 2023 the legal agreement has not been completed, the 
Director of Planning and Sustainable Regeneration is delegated authority to refuse 
planning permission. 

 
3 PROPOSAL AND LOCATION DETAILS 

 
Proposal  
 

3.1 The applicant seeks full planning permission for the demolition of existing single storey 
detached dwellinghouse (two storey building above ground level and one storey of 
lower ground accommodation) including demolition of detached garage.  The erection 
of a three storey building (two storey building above ground level and one storey of 
lower ground accommodation) comprising 7 self-contained flats; private/communal 
amenity and play space; hard and soft landscaping; boundary treatment; reinstatement 
of existing crossover and new crossover to provide forecourt parking; cycle and refuse 
provision and land level alterations including raising to the front (amended plans) 
 

 
Image 2: Proposed Site Layout 

 
Amendments 
 

3.2 Amended plans were received on the 28th July 2022 which sought to centralise the 
front gable feature to break down the massing of the building and included alterations 
to the internal layout and rear elevation.  Third parties were re-consulted regarding 
these amendments given their significance and the time lag between the submission 
and the receipt of the amended plans. 
 

Page 79



Site and Surroundings 
 

3.3 The application site consists of a detached bungalow with a detached garage to the 
side that lies on the southern side of Russell Hill. The bungalow is accessed via a set 
of steps down into the site, whereas the garage is located directly off the main road 
supported by a significant retaining structure by reason of the drop in ground level. 
Russell Hill is characterised by a mixture of dwelling types and sizes with a number of 
large blocks of flats that have been built in recent years. The site is significantly 
shallower the neighbouring plots and is heavily vegetated. There are no TPOs at the 
site. The land vary significantly across the site. The dwelling is set well down from the 
highway and the site continues to fall away to the rear. The site has a Public Transport 
Accessibility Level (PTAL) of 1b (poor). The site lies within an area at very low risk of 
surface water flooding. 
 

 
Image 2: Site Location Plan 

  
Planning Designations and Constraints 
 

3.4 The site is subject to the following formal planning constraints and designations: 
 PTAL: 1b 
 At risk of surface water flood risk (being 1 in 1000 year and critical drainage) 

 
Planning History 
 

3.5 The following planning decisions are relevant to the application: 
 

3.6 18/05697/OUT – Planning permission was refused for the demolition of existing 
dwelling and detached garage and the erection of a 2/3 storey building to provide 6  
flats (4 x three bed and 2 x one bed) with associated parking, amenity space, bin 
store and cycle store.   Access, Layout and Scale ONLY to be considered. 

 

Page 80



3.7 19/01963/OUT – Planning permission was granted for the outline application for 
demolition of existing dwelling and garage and the erection of a 2/3 storey building to 
provide 6  flats with associated parking, amenity space, bin store and cycle store.   
Access, Layout and Scale ONLY to be considered. This is the application to which 
this reserved matters relates. 
 

3.8 20/03755/FUL – Planning permission was refused for the demolition of existing single 
storey detached dwellinghouse (with roof accommodation) including demolition of 
detached garage and erection of a three storey building comprising 9 self-contained 
flats; private/communal and play space; hard and soft landscaping; boundary 
treatment; reinstatement of existing crossover and new crossover to provide forecourt 
parking; cycle and refuse provision and land level alterations including raising to the 
front.  An appeal was later dismissed. 
 

3.9 21/01485/FUL – Planning permission was refused for the demolition of existing single 
storey detached dwellinghouse (with roof accommodation) including demolition of 
detached garage and erection of a part two; part three storey building (including lower 
ground levels and accommodation in the roof level) comprising 8 self-contained flats; 
private/communal amenity and play space; hard and soft landscaping; boundary 
treatment; reinstatement of existing crossover and new crossover to provide forecourt 
parking; cycle and refuse provision and land level alterations including raising to the 
front.  An appeal was later dismissed. 
 

3.10 22/02397/RSM – Planning permission was granted on the 28th September 2022 for 
the reserved matters relating to appearance and landscaping (condition 2) attached 
to planning permission ref 19/01963/OUT for the demolition of the existing dwelling 
and garage and the erection of a 2/3 storey building to provide 6  flats with associated 
parking, amenity space, bin store and cycle store. 
 

4 SUMMARY OF KEY REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION 
 
 The principle of the intensified residential development is acceptable given the 

residential character of the surrounding area and the need for housing nationally 
and locally.  In addition, an extant permission exists on site for a similar 
development. 

 There is an acceptable mix of unit sizes with all dwellings capable of being 
classified as family homes; 

 The quality of accommodation is acceptable for future residents;  
 The design and appearance of the development is an acceptable quality, and it is 

not considered that it would harm the character of the surrounding area; 
 The proposal would not create undue harm to the amenity of nearby residential 

properties and their occupiers; 
 The level of parking and impact upon highway safety and efficiency would be 

acceptable; 
 Impacts upon biodiversity and ecology is acceptable;  

 
4.1 The following sections of this report summarise the officer assessment and the reason 

for the recommendation.  
5 CONSULTATION RESPONSE 

 
5.1 The views of the Planning Service are expressed in the MATERIAL PLANNING 

CONSIDERATIONS section below. 

Page 81



 
6 LOCAL REPRESENTATION 

 
6.1 A total of 80 neighbouring properties were notified about the application and invited to 

comment. The number of representations received from neighbours, local groups etc 
in response to notification and publicity of the application were as follows: 
 
No of individual responses: 8 Objecting: 8    Supporting: 0 
 

6.2 The following Councillor and MP made representations: 
 Councillor Samir Dwesar [objecting] 
 Chris Philp MP [objecting] 

 
6.3 The following issues were raised in representations that are material to the 

determination of the application, and they are addressed in substance in the next 
section of this report: 
 

Objection Officer comment 

Character and design Covered within paragraphs 
8.10-8.25 

Out of keeping, obtrusive and overdevelopment  
Neighbouring amenity  Covered within paragraphs 

8.38-8.46
Loss of light and privacy, visual intrusion, increase in 
crime and or loss of security, general noise and 
disturbance 

 

Quality of accommodation  Covered within paragraphs 
8.26-8.37  

Poor standards of daylight, loss of a small family 
home 

 

Transport and Highways impacts Covered within paragraphs 
8.50-8.64 

Parking congestions and lack of on-site parking, 
poor accessibility 

 

Trees and ecology  Covered within paragraphs 
8.47-8.49 

Detrimental to the retention of trees and ecological 
interests 

 

Land slippage and subsidence Covered within paragraph 
6.4 below 

 
6.4 The following additional issues were raised in representations that officers have 

considered, and would like to bring make the Committee aware of, noting that they are 
not material to the determination of the application: 
 
 Colleagues within Building Control were approached by the Case Officer during 

the course of this application as a result of third-party comments in regards to land 
slippage.  In addition, the applicant was asked to provide some clarify from a 
Structural Surveyor that the proposal would not result in harmful levels of 
subsidence.  Providing that any consented scheme is carried out in accordance 
with building regulation and given the geology of the surrounding area it is not 
considered that the proposed development would result in any significant risk.   

 

Page 82



7 RELEVANT PLANNING POLICIES AND GUIDANCE  
 
Development Plan 
 

7.1 The Council's adopted Development Plan consists of the London Plan (2021), the 
Croydon Local Plan (2018) and the South London Waste Plan (2012).  Although not 
an exhaustive list, the policies which are most relevant to the application are:  
 
London Plan (2021)   
  
 D3 Optimising site capacity through the design-led approach 
 D4 Delivering good design 
 D5 Inclusive design 
 D6 Housing quality and standards 
 D7 Accessible housing 
 D11 Safety, security and resistance to emergency 
 D12 Fire Safety 
 D14 Noise 
 H1 Increasing housing supply 
 H2 Small sites 
 H10 Housing size mix 
 S4 Play and informal recreation 
 G5 Urban Greening 
 G6 Biodiversity and access to nature 
 G7 Trees and woodlands 
 SI1 Improving air quality 
 SI2 Minimising greenhouse gas emissions 
 SI3 Energy infrastructure 
 SI5 Water infrastructure 
 SI12 Flood risk management 
 SI13 Sustainable drainage 
 T4 Assessing and mitigating transport impacts 
 T5 Cycling 
 T6 Car parking 
 T6.1 Residential parking 
 T7 Deliveries, servicing and construction 
 T9 Funding transport infrastructure through planning 

  
Croydon Local Plan (2018)   

 
 SP2 Homes 
 DM1 Housing choice for sustainable communities 
 SP4 Urban Design and Local Character  
 DM10 Design and character 
 DM13 Refuse and recycling 
 SP6 Environment and Climate Change  
 DM23 Development and construction 
 DM25 Sustainable drainage systems and reducing floor risk 
 DM27 Protecting and Enhancing our Biodiversity  
 DM28 Trees 

Page 83



 SP8 Transport and communications 
 DM29 Promoting sustainable travel and reducing congestion 
 DM30 Car and cycle parking in new development 
 DM42 Purley 

  
7.2 The Development Plan should be read as a whole, and where policies conflict with 

each other, the conflict must be resolved in favour of the policy contained in the last 
document to be adopted, approved or published as part of the development plan, (in 
accordance with s38(5) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004). 
 
Planning Guidance 
 
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)  

7.3 Government Guidance is contained in the NPPF, updated on 20 July 2021, and 
accompanied by the online Planning Practice Guidance (PPG). The NPPF sets out a 
presumption in favour of sustainable development, requiring that development which 
accords with an up-to-date local plan should be approved without delay. The NPPF 
identifies a number of key issues for the delivery of sustainable development, those 
most relevant to this case are:  
 
 Delivering a Sufficient Supply of Homes  
 Promoting Sustainable Transport   
 Achieving Well Designed Places  

 
SPDs and SPGs 
 

7.4 There are also several Supplementary Planning Documents (SPD) and Supplementary 
Planning Guidance (SPG) documents which are material considerations. Although not 
an exhaustive list, the most relevant to the application are:  
 London Housing SPG (March 2016)  
 London Mayoral Affordable Housing SPG: Homes for Londoners (August 2017)  
 Technical Housing Standards: Nationally Described Space Standard (2015)  
 National Design Guide (2021) 

 
8 MATERIAL PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS 

 
8.1 The main planning issues raised by the application that the committee must consider 

are: 
 
1. Principle of development  
2. Design and impact on character of the area 
3. Quality of residential accommodation 
4. Impact on neighbouring residential amenity  
5. Trees, landscaping and biodiversity 
6. Access, parking and highway impacts 
7. Flood risk and energy efficiency  
8. Conclusions  

 
Principle of development 

 

Page 84



8.2 The Croydon Local Plan sets out a housing target of 32,890 homes over a 20-year 
period from 2016-2036 (1,645 homes per year). The London Plan requires 20,790 of 
those homes to be delivered within a shorter 10 year period (2019-2029), resulting in 
a higher target of 2,079 homes per year.  

 
8.3 The Croydon Local Plan also sets out a target for development on Windfall sites of 

10,060 homes (approximately 503 per year). The London Plan requires 6,410 net 
completions on small sites (below 0.25 hectares in size) over 10 years, with a small-
sites housing target of 641 per year.  

 
8.4 The London Plan 2021 (LP) and the National Planning Policy Framework 2021 (NPPF) 

place significant weight on housing delivery and focus on the roles that intensification 
and small sites in particular can play in resolving the current housing crisis.  

 
8.5 Policy SP2.1 of the Croydon Local Plan 2018 (CLP) applies a presumption in favour of 

development of new homes and Policy SP2.2 states that the Council will seek to deliver 
32,890 homes between 2016 and 2036, with 10,060 of said homes being delivered 
across the borough on windfall sites.  

 
8.6 LP policy D3 encourages incremental densification to achieve a change in densities in 

the most appropriate way. Policy H2 seeks to significantly increase the contribution of 
small sites to meeting London’s housing needs.  

 
8.7 CLP Policy DM1.2 seeks to prevent the net loss of small family homes by restricting 

the loss of three-bedroom units and the loss of units that have a floor area of less than 
130sqm. The existing property is a four bedroom detached home in excess of 130m2 
and as such the proposal would not result in the loss of a small family home. 

 
8.8 CLP Policies SP2.7 and DM1.1 set a strategic target for 30% of all new homes over 

the plan period to have 3 or more bedrooms to meet the borough’s need for family 
sized units and ensure that a choice of homes is available in the borough.  

 
8.9 The proposed development would result in the demolition of a small family home with 

a GIA of 127m2, it is noted that this is marginally below the 130m2 threshold as set out 
in Policy DM1.2.  Of the 7 units proposed 2 units would have at least 3-bedrooms and 
as such the proposal would result in a net increase in family homes.    Given the 
significant weight that has to be attached to housing delivery as set out in the 
framework and the net increase of one family sized unit it is considered that the 
proposal would accord with the development plan when taken as a whole. 

 
Design and impact on character of the area 
 

8.10 CLP policy SP4.1 states that the council will require development of a high quality, 
which respects and enhances Croydon’s varied local character and contributes 
positively to public realm, landscape and townscape to create sustainable 
communities. 

8.11 CLP policy DM10.1 has a presumption in favour of 3 storey dwellings, which should 
respect the development pattern, layout; siting, the scale, height, massing, and 
density; and the appearance, existing materials, and built and natural features of the 
surrounding area.  
 

Page 85



8.12 CLP Policy DM10.7 requires developments to incorporate high quality materials that 
respond to the local character in terms of other things durability, attractiveness, 
sustainability, texture and colour. This policy also requires roof forms to positively 
contribute to the character of the local and wider area with proposals being 
sympathetic with its local context.  
 

8.13 Layout, Height, Form, Scale and Massing: The application site fronts onto Russell Hill 
and while the land levels fall substantially from the north-east to south-west.  The 
immediate area is residential in character and historically comprised large detached 
single and two storey detached properties within generous plots.  However more 
recently the immediate area has been subject to a number of planning applications 
and consents to demolish the existing properties and to erect a number of flatted 
developments.  As a result the more recently constructed development is of a larger 
scale to the buildings that they replaced.  Site access is currently sited to the north-
western corner of the site and leads onto a single stroey detached garage.  While the 
existing dwelling could be classed as a bungalow, accommodation is provided over 
two floors, being at the ground  floor and loft levels.  The site forms part of an 
established building line however is set substantially lower than the adjacent highway. 
 

8.14 CLP policy DM10.1 states that new development should seek to achieve a minimum 
height of 3 storeys. The proposed development has been designed to appear as two 
stories with accommodation in the roof space when viewed from the street, with a 
centralised gable feature to the front and a pair of symmetrical gables towards the 
rear.  The proposed roof typology is that of a hip with intersecting gable features 
towards the north-eastern and south-western elevations.  The proposed hip roof and 
gable features, while larger in form than the building it replaces, would seek to respect 
the character of the locality and complement the architectural styles of nearby 
dwellings and more recently the flatted developments. The overall height of the 
development would sit above the adjacent properties but given the topographical 
changes and variation of architectural forms would not appear overly dominant or out 
of character with the immediate area. A generous separation distance between the 
site and that of 15 and 15a would offset any increase in perceived mass. 
 

 
 

Fig 3: Proposed Streetscene Elevations 
 

8.15 The proposed development is therefore of an acceptable scale and design and would 
respond to neighbouring character, as such meets the objectives of DM10 and the 
National Design Guide 2021. 
 

Page 86



8.16 CLP Policy DM10.1 (a) requires the development pattern, layout and siting to respect 
that of the surrounding area. The proposed layout would align with the established 
building line of Russell Hill and would sit comfortably within the street scene.   
 

8.17 CLP Policy DM10.1 (b) requires the proposal to respect the scale, height, massing, 
and density.  The proposed building would be set in from the site boundaries with a 
landscaped buffer to the north-eastern and south-western boundaries which would 
seek to integrate the development within its sylvan setting while contributing to 
biodiversity.  The generous separation distance to neighbouring properties to the 
north-east and south-west would not disrespect the development pattern of the 
surrounding area. 
 

8.18 Car parking for four vehicles would be located within the forecourt area of the site 
with sufficient turning areas. The hard to soft landscaping ratio is well balanced with 
adequate spacing to incorporate meaningful planting.  The indicative schedule of 
hardstanding materials would help to soften and visually break down the appearance 
of the parking area, this approach is similar, in some cases better, than other 
examples in the area. This approach is accepted in character terms. 
 

8.19 Architectural Expression: CLP policy DM10.1 (c) requires proposals to respect the 
appearance, existing materials and built and natural features of the surrounding 
area.  
 

8.20 Although the scheme has evolved since the Design and Access Statement (DAS) it 
depicts a contextual analysis carried out on the site and surrounding area. There is 
a clear rationale for how this has influenced the design and materiality that is now 
before members.   Officers have sought amendments during the course of the 
application to ensure that the proposed development is of a high quality. 
 

8.21 The indicative materials for the building would consist of red and buff bricks with 
clay roof tiles and redner.  The window frames would be of a darker colour to 
contrast with the warm colour of the red brick and roof tiles. These materials are 
acceptable given the mixed character of the area.   

 
 

Page 87



Figure 4: Indicative materials 
 

8.22 Full details of the external materials and finishes would be secured via condition to 
ensure that they are of a suitable quality.  
 

8.23 Landscaping: The site currently benefits from a well vegetated frontage which 
contributes to the character of the area but also provides privacy to the current owner.  
Some landscaping would be removed from the north-eastern boundary to 
accommodate the development and the realigned vehicular access.  The indicative 
landscaping plan is well considered and utilises the change in land levels and sunken 
area to define multi-facetted private and communal areas.   
 

8.24 The waste, recycling and cycle stores would be integrated within the built form and 
are of a sufficient size.  Freestanding visitor cycle parking would be provided towards 
the front of the building in the form of Sheffield stands.  As full details have been 
provided, no further details are required by condition.  The details of the external 
doors to the refuse store would be secured as part of the external facing materials 
condition but are proposed as timber to tie in with other elements on the building and 
are considered acceptable. 
 

8.25 Conclusion: The design approach is considered to respect the character of Highland 
Road, in terms of design, height, scale, massing and layout and the proposed 
landscaping is well considered. 

 
Quality of residential accommodation 
 

8.26 LP policy D6 states that housing developments should be of a high quality and provide 
adequately sized rooms with comfortable and functional layouts. It sets out minimum 
Gross Internal Area (GIA) standards for new residential developments. CLP policy 
SP2.8 also deals with quality and standards. The table below demonstrates the GIAs 
of each residential dwelling: 
 

Unit Size 
(bedroom/ 

person) 

GIA (sqm) 
proposed 

Min. GIA 
(sqm) 

 

Amenity 
Space 
(sqm) 

Min. 
Amenity 
Space 
(sqm) 

Built in 
storage 
space 
(sqm) 

Min. 
built in 
storage 
space 
(sqm) 

1 3b5p 98.088m2 86m2 8.587 m2 7m2 2.384 m2 2.5m2 
2 3b5p 90.192m2 86m2 8.315 m2 7m2 2.112 m2 2.5m2 
3 2b3p 69.120m2 61m2 6.230 m2 6m2 1.295 m2 2m2 
4 2b3p 70.307m2 61m2 6.230 m2 6m2 1.295 m2 2m2 
5 2b3p 69.772m2 61m2 6.230 m2 6m2 1.295 m2 2m2 
6 2b3p 69.848m2 61m2 6.230 m2 6m2 1.295 m2 2m2 
7 1b2p 67.292m2 50m2 14.467m2 5m2 1.248 m2 1.5m2 

Table 1: scheme considered against London Plan Policy D6 and Table 3.1 
 

8.27 As shown on the table above, all units comply with LP standards on minimum 
floorspace areas and amenity space.  While it is noted that the units do not meet the 
minimal requirement for built in storage, as set out above the GIAs are significantly in 
excess of the minimum space standards and therefore each unit is capable of 
meeting this requirement and would not give grounds for a refusal. All bedrooms 
within the proposal comply with parts 2, 3, and 4 of policy D6 in relation to bedroom 
size standards. Each dwelling would also have a floor to ceiling height of 2.5m for at 

Page 88



least 75% of the floor space of the entire dwelling. All of the dwellings are dual aspect, 
therefore adequate light levels and ventilation will be available. 
 

8.28 Representations have raised concerns regarding the quality of the living conditions 
of future occupiers in respect of the lower ground floor units and light levels.  It is 
noted that the single bedrooms to Flat 1 and bedrooms 1 and 2 of Flat 2 would look 
out onto two separate light wells.  These lightwells would be north-east and north-
west facing with Flat 1 having a further southern outlook and Flat 2 benefitting from 
both an easterly and southern outlook.  While the outlook from 3 bedrooms onto two 
light wells is not ideal this site is subject to significant land level changes and therefore 
it is inevitable that such a scenario would arise.  Indeed, this is the case with the 
extant permission, which has been found previously acceptable.  When weighing up 
the significant weight that is to be attached to housing delivery and the good level of 
outlook offered to the remaining accommodation it is not considered that limited 
outlook of the three bedrooms would give grounds to a refusal of planning permission.   
 

8.29 Given the above it is considered that adequate floor areas and space standards 
would be provided for future occupiers. 
 

   Amenity Space 
8.30 CLP policy DM10.4c states: All proposals for new residential development will need 

to provide private amenity space that provides a minimum amount of private amenity 
space of 5m2 per 1-2 person unit and an extra 1m2 per extra occupant thereafter.  

 
8.31 CLP policy DM10.4d states: All proposals for new residential development will need 

to provide private amenity space that all flatted development and developments of 10 
or more houses must provide a minimum of 10m2 per child of new play space, 
calculated using the Mayor of London’s population yield calculator and as a set out 
in Table 6.2. 

 
8.32 CLP policy DM10.5 states: In addition to the provision of private amenity space, 

proposals for new flatted development and major housing schemes will also need to 
incorporate high quality communal outdoor amenity space that is designed to be 
flexible, multifunctional, accessible and inclusive. 

 
8.33 All of the units have private amenity space in excess of the minimum standards set 

out in Table 1 above.  While the communal garden area is smaller in size than the 
surrounding plots it is well designed and is capable of use by multiple users given the 
multi-facetted spaces.  As demonstrated on the table above the proposal is capable 
of providing the required communal amenity areas and the required 14.3m2 of 
playspace which is included within the indicative landscaping plan.  
 
Accessible Dwellings 

8.34 LP policy D7 states that 10% of new build housing should meet Building Regulation 
requirement M4(3) ‘Wheelchair User Dwellings’; and all other dwellings should meet 
the Building Regulation requirement M4(2) ‘Accessible and Adaptable Dwellings’ 
which requires step free access to all units and the facilities of the site.  
 

8.35 The proposed development would be step free and a lift would be provided within the 
communal hallway. Flats 3 and 4 would appear to be M4(3) compliant. A disabled 
parking bay is provided immediately outside the proposed building and has been 
designed to provide step free access, with rear access to the communal garden from 

Page 89



lower ground floor level. Refuse storage is provided in a purpose-built store to the 
western flank while cycle storage, integrated within ground floor plan.  The proposal 
would provide 2 units capable of meeting M4(3) and 5 units capable of meeting M4(2); 
this would be secured by condition with final details secured at building control 
approval stage. 
 
Fire Safety 

8.36 LP policy D12A states that in the interests of fire safety and to ensure the safety of 
all building users, all development proposals must achieve the highest standards of 
fire safety. The applicant has submitted a Fire Statement which sufficiently 
demonstrates that the proposal complies with the requirements of the London Plan 
2021, which will be conditioned, with final fire safety measures secured at the Building 
Regulations stage. 
 

8.37 Overall, the standard of accommodation is considered to be acceptable, subject to 
conditions.  

 
Impact on neighbouring residential amenity 
 

8.38 CLP policy DM10.6 states that the Council will ensure proposals protect the amenity 
of occupiers of adjoining buildings and will not result in direct overlooking into their 
habitable rooms or private outdoor space and not result in significant loss of existing 
sunlight or daylight levels. CLP policy DM10.6(c) outlines that proposals for 
development should not result in direct overlooking of private outdoor space (with the 
exception of communal open space) within 10m perpendicular to the rear elevation 
of a dwelling.  
 

8.39 CLP Policy DM10.6c requires new developments to not result in direct overlooking of 
private space 10m perpendicular to the rear elevation of an existing neighbouring 
property. 
  

8.40 The proposed development would lie approximately 5.16 metres from the flank wall 
of 15 Russell Hill and approximately 10.28 metres from 15a Russell Hill.  The 
proposed development would be sited centrally within a plot and would project a 
modest 1.1 metres beyond No15 and 2.65 metres beyond the rear of No 15a.  Given 
the separation distance and modest rearward projection the proposed development 
is not considered to appear visually intrusive or overbearing.   
 

8.41 From the Officers site visit a number of windows were seen within the flank walls of 
15 and 15a Russell appear but none appeared to be habitable, or if so, were 
secondary in nature.  Given the separation distances and the nature of the rooms in 
which these windows serve it is not considered that the proposed development would 
result in a harmful loss of light to warrant a refusal of planning permission. 
 

8.42 Balconies are proposed as part of the development and would be sited towards the 
rear elevations, as such their outlook would be to the south.  As the balconies have 
been designed as integral elements to the building views over the gardens of No 15 
and 15a Russell Hill would be restricted as such would not result in any harmful loss 
of privacy.   
 

8.43 No 4 Plough Lane is a flatted development and lies towards to south of the application 
site.  A separation distance of approximately 32 metres would exist between the 

Page 90



proposed development and this neighbour, this separation distance far exceeds the 
18-metre separation distance set out in the Mayors SPD.  Given the substantial 
separation distance it is not considered that the proposal would result in significant 
harm to the residential amenities at No4 Plough Lane.  Neighbouring properties to 
the north are again substantially separated from the proposed development and 
would not experience significant harm to their amenity. 
 
 

 
Figure 5: Distance to neighbouring properties 

 
Other Surrounding Properties 

8.44 The parking area towards the front of the site would have to be raised given that the 
site sits substantially lower than the adjacent highway.  The location of the parking 
area in relation to 15a Russell Hill is as approved under the outline planning 
permission (ref no: 19/01963/OUT).  As part of this application Officers have sought 
better landscaping along the shared boundary with No15a to help soften the 
appearance of the raised parking area.  Such landscaping details would be secured 
through condition and will need to be retained and maintained for a period of 5 years 
after completion. Given the increase in soft landscaping and the extant permission it 
is not considered that this raised parking would result in significant harm to the 
amenities of No15a to warrant a refusal of planning permission.  A separation 
distance, be it on the modest side, would be retained while the raised parking area 
would lie to the northern side of No15a, as such the raised parking area is not 
considered to appear visually intrusive nor would it result in harmful overshadowing.  
 

8.45 It is considered that other properties in the vicinity of the site are of a sufficient 
distance to mitigate against any unacceptable amenity impacts. Details of external 
lighting could be secured via condition to ensure that the proposal would not result in 
light pollution. 
 
Construction Impacts 

8.46 It is acknowledged that with any build, whilst there may be limited disturbances and 
inconveniences for neighbouring properties, there are no grounds to refuse planning 
permission based on construction impacts.  A Construction Logistics Management 
Plan can be secured through condition which would seek to protect neighbouring 
amenities as far as possible during this time. In addition, under the Control of Pollution 
Act 1974, the council has a Construction Code of Practice which sets out when 
construction and demolition work can occur, and it is not expected that works will be 

Page 91



permitted to take place out of these hours. This would be placed as an informative (in 
the event planning permission is granted) and is enforceable under Environmental 
Health legislation.  
 

8.47 Overall, any potential amenity impacts on neighbouring occupiers are considered to 
have been adequately mitigated by spatial separation between neighbouring 
properties. Furthermore, the orientation of the proposed development and the 
existing orientation of the surrounding neighbouring properties is favourable to 
mitigate adverse impacts. The proposal would therefore comply with policy DM10.6 
and adhere to the guidance of the Suburban Design Guide 2019.  
 
Trees, landscaping and biodiversity 
 

8.48 LP Policy G7 and CLP policy DM10.8 and DM28 seek to retain existing trees and 
vegetation. CLP policy DM10.8 requires proposals to incorporate hard and soft 
landscaping. 
 

8.49 The applicant has submitted a well-considered indicative landscaping plan which has 
been reviewed by Officers.  A balance has been struck between hard and soft 
landscaping while the applicant has sought to retain existing vegetation where 
possible, any losses will be mitigated with replacement planting.  Subject to a suitably 
worded condition to obtain full details of all landscaping features including plant 
species and sizes the proposal is considered acceptable in this respect.  In addition, 
the tree officer has requested that the tree survey which includes details of trees to 
be retained is conditioned as part of any approval. 
 

8.50 The site is not located in within a Site of Nature Conservation Area nor were any 
protected species identified within the Biodiversity and Ecological Survey.  Officers 
did visit the site as part of the application process and ecological interests were 
explored, no evidence of protected species or potential habitats were evident.  
Subject to an appropriately worded condition the proposal would accord with policies 
G6 of the London Plan 2021 and DM27 of the Croydon Local Plan 2018. 

 
Access, parking and highway impacts 
 

8.51 The site has a Public Transport Accessibility Level (PTAL) of 1b, on a scale where 0 is 
the worst and 6 is the best, which indicates poor access to public transport, although 
the site is in relatively close proximity to Purley Town Centre. The site is not within a 
Controlled Parking Zone however it is noted that on street parking takes place along 
Russell Hill.  
 

8.52 During the course of the application advice has been sought from the Highway 
Authority and the Transportation Team which follows on from advice given at the pre-
application stage. 

 
Access arrangements 

8.53 The existing access would be altered to accommodate the development and would be 
subject to a separate highway works application.  The amendments received could 
now provide appropriate visibility splays and would ensure that the access is safe for 
all users. The access arrangements are now considered acceptable by the Highway 
Authority and the Transportation Team. 

Page 92



 
Car Parking 

8.54 LP Policy T6.1 suggests a provision of up to 1.5 car parking spaces per dwelling for 
developments within this PTAL, so up to a maximum 10.5 spaces. 
 

8.55 The proposal includes 4no. car parking spaces which is provided towards the front of 
the site, accessed vis Russell Hill. This provision would result in a parking ratio below 
the maximum standards in the London Plan.  However, it needs to be noted here that 
the previous approval did not comply with the maximum provision as set out within the 
London Plan, at the time the outline/reserved matters consent (Ref No: 
22/02397/RSM) was granted on four spaces for six units.  Given the additional 
provision of 1 unit beyond the extant permission and the availability of on-street parking 
within 200 metres of the site the impacts of the proposal are not considered to be so 
great that would warrant a refusal of planning permission.   

 
8.56 In addition, it is noted that the applicant has provided an over provision of on-site cycle 

parking and has incorporated such storage within the envelope of the building which 
would encourage more sustainable transport modes.   The parking provision set out 
within the London Plan are maximum standards and having given weight to the fallback 
position (extant permission), it is not considered that the Council could substantiate a 
refusal reason on the lack of on-site parking and is therefore acceptable on balance.    

 
8.57 Adequate space within the site has been provided to ensure that vehicles can 

manoeuvre in and out of the parking spaces freely. Each car would have adequate 
space next to hedges and walls to alight safely and efficiently.  

 
8.58 A condition will be included to secure electric vehicle charging points, to ensure 20% 

active and 80% passive points are provided in line with CLP policy DM30 and LP policy 
T6.1.  

 
Cycle parking 

8.59 CLP Policy DM30 and LP policy T5 (and Table 10.2) requires the provision of a total 
of 12no. cycle parking spaces for residents and 2no visitor spaces.  
 

8.60 A communal bicycle store would be incorporated within footprint of the building at the 
ground floor.  Door widths are wide enough to ensure users can access the store while 
step free access is provided through the incorporation of a lift in the communal hallway.  
Provision has been made for 16 internal cycle spaces in excess of the required 
provision, and a space is also suitable for adapted bikes.  Two visitor cycles parking 
spaces will be provided towards the front of the building (as Sheffield stands), which is 
acceptable.  The quantum and form of storage is considered acceptable and would 
accord with Policy T5 of the London Plan 2021.   

 
Planning Obligations 

8.61 A contribution of £10, 500 will be secured via S106 agreement to contribute towards 
sustainable transport initiatives including on street car clubs with electric vehicle 
charging points (EVCPs) as well as general expansion of the EVCP network in the 
area in line with Local Plan policies SP8.12 and SP8.13. The funding will go towards 
traffic orders, signing, and lining of a potential car club bay, EVCP provision including 
electrics and set up costs for the car club. Funding will also be used for extension and 
improvements to walking and cycling routes in the area to support and encourage 
sustainable methods of transport.  

Page 93



 
8.62 It is recommended that car club membership is provided for each unit for a period of 3 

years; this will be secured via S106 agreement to encourage the reduction in car 
ownership.  Given the sites proximity to Purley Town Centre and the number of flatted 
developments within the immediate are this is considered appropriate. 
 

8.63 A condition would be attached to require submission of a Construction Logistics Plan 
(CLP) which shall include a survey of the surrounding footways and carriageway prior 
to commencement of works on site.   

 
8.64 Overall, in terms of transport matters, the proposal is considered acceptable, subject 

to conditions and a Section 106 Agreement to secure a contribution of £10,500 for 
sustainable transport initiatives and car club membership.  

 
Waste / recycling facilities  
 

8.65 Policy DM13 requires the design of refuse and recycling facilities to be treated as an 
integral element of the overall design.  
 

8.66 Refuse would be collected from the highway with refuse personnel accessing an 
integrated refuse store within 9.58 metres of the highway, no refuse vehicles would 
need to enter the site itself.  Given the close and attached nature of the refuse store 
residents would not have to walk more than 30m to dispose of their waste.  The 
applicant has demonstrated that waste can be accommodated and collected. 
 

8.67 While a bulky waste area has not been identified on the proposed block plan the site 
is capable of accommodating a bulky waste collection area.   
 
Flood risk and energy efficiency 
 
Flood Risk and Sustainable Drainage Systems (SuDS) 

8.68 The site is at risk of surface water flooding but is not located within Flood Zones 1, 2 
and 3.  The Flood Risk Assessment that was submitted as part of this application 
identifies that the underlying geology is likely to be chalk, which can be used for 
infiltration purposes.  However, the FRA states that while a soakway might have been 
appropriate given the underlying geology the required 10m separation distance 
between the building and soakaway is not achievable given the plot size; the 
applicant has also discounted other options such as rainwater harvesting while green 
roofs are not possible given the roof typology.  Having gone through the flooding 
hierarchy in the LP, the applicant proposes to discharge surface water into the fowl 
sewage system.  This matter is to be agreed between the applicant and Thames 
Water as it relates to sewage capacity.  The applicant has gone through the process 
of trying to reduce or stem water run off from the site but for a number of reasons this 
has not been possible.  The LPA are therefore satisfied that the application is in 
accordance with the Framework, Policies SI 12 and Si 13 of the LP 2021 and Policy 
DM25 of the CLP 2018.  Given the above it would not be possible to attach a condition 
requiring the incorporation of SuDS as such is not feasible on this site.  Officers can 
however look towards the details of the soft landscaping to maximise water take up 
and further details would be secured via condition. 
 
Energy efficiency 

Page 94



8.69 CLP policy SP6 requires development proposals to both achieve the national 
technical standard for energy efficiency in new homes.  
 

8.70 The proposal could include the installation of Solar PV on the southern roof slope or 
the installation of air source of ground source heat pumps given extensive roof slopes 
and spacing to either side boundary.  As such the proposal can adhere to the energy 
hierarchy of the LP and would be in accordance with CLP policy SP6.  To ensure that 
a reduction in CO2 emissions beyond the Building Regulations Part L is achieved 
and that a minimum water efficiency standard of 110 litres/person/day as set out in 
Building Regulations Part G is met a condition is deemed necessary.  
 
Conclusion  
 

8.71 All other relevant policies and considerations, including the statutory duties set out in 
the Equalities Act 2010, the Human Rights Act, the Planning and Compulsory 
Purchase Act, and the Town and Country Planning Act, have been taken into 
account. Given the consistency of the scheme with the Development Plan and 
weighing this against all other material planning considerations, the proposal is 
considered to be acceptable in planning terms subject to the detailed 
recommendation set out in section 2 (RECOMMENDATION). 
 

8.72 The development would be liable for a charge under the Community Infrastructure 
Levy (CIL). 
 

Page 95



This page is intentionally left blank



PLANNING COMMITTEE AGENDA  

PART 8: Other Planning Matters 

1 INTRODUCTION 

1.1 In this part of the agenda are reports on planning matters, other than planning 
applications for determination by the Committee and development presentations.  

1.2 Although the reports are set out in a particular order on the agenda, the Chair may 
reorder the agenda on the night. Therefore, if you wish to be present for a particular 
application, you need to be at the meeting from the beginning. 

1.3 The following information and advice applies to all those reports. 

2 FURTHER INFORMATION 

2.1 Members are informed that any relevant material received since the publication of 
this part of the agenda, concerning items on it, will be reported to the Committee in 
an Addendum Update Report. 

3 PUBLIC SPEAKING 

3.1 The Council’s constitution only provides for public speaking rights for those 
applications being reported to Committee in the “Planning Applications for Decision” 
part of the agenda. Therefore reports on this part of the agenda do not attract public 
speaking rights. 

4 BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS 

4.1 For further information about the background papers used in the drafting of the 
reports in part 7 contact Mr P Mills (020 8760 5419). 

5 RECOMMENDATION 

5.1 The Committee to take any decisions recommended in the attached reports. 

Page 97

Agenda Item 7



This page is intentionally left blank



Decisions (Ward Order) since last Planning Control Meeting as at: 8th November 2022 

1 
 

Bernard Weatherill House 
8 Mint Walk 

                        Croydon CR0 1EA  
 
 

Sustainable Communities, Regeneration and Economic Recovery Department 
DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT 

 
 

DELEGATED PLANNING DECISIONS 
(Ward Order) 

 

The following is a list of planning applications determined by the 
Head of Development Management under delegated powers since 

the last meeting of the Planning Committee. 

31.10.2022 to 04.11.2022  
 

Note: This list also includes those decisions made by Planning 
Committee and released in this time frame as shown within the 

level part of each case. 

  
NOTE: The cases listed in this report can be viewed on the Council’s Website. 

Please note that you can also view the information supplied within this list and see more details 
relating to each application (including the ability to view the drawings submitted and the decision 
notice) by visiting our Online Planning Service at the Croydon Council web site 
(www.croydon.gov.uk/onlineplans).  

Once on the Council web page please note the further information provided before selecting the 
Public Access Planning Register link. Once selected there will be various options to select the 
Registers of recently received or decided applications. Also; by entering a reference number if known 
you are able to ascertain details relating to a particular application. (Please remember to input the 
reference number in full by inserting any necessary /’s or 0’s) 

 
 
 

                                                                       

    

Ref. No. : 22/03746/DISC Ward : Addiscombe East 
Location : Bhima Court 

37 Havelock Road 
Croydon 
CR0 6QQ 
 

Type: Discharge of Conditions 

Page 99



Decisions (Ward Order) since last Planning Control Meeting as at: 8th November 2022 

2 
 

Proposal : Details pursuant to the discharge of condition 4 (landscaping) from planning permission 
20/01633/FUL for 'Conversion of the house into three flats with associated alterations' 

    

Date Decision: 03.11.22  
    

Not approved 
 
Level: Delegated Business Meeting      

    

Ref. No. : 22/03760/LP Ward : Addiscombe East 
Location : 47 Capri Road 

Croydon 
CR0 6LG 
 

Type: LDC (Proposed) Operations 
edged 

Proposal : Conversion of loft to habitable space and erection of L-shaped dormer. Insertion of two 
skylights to the front slope and erection of single storey rear extension 

    

Date Decision: 01.11.22  
    

Lawful Dev. Cert. Granted (proposed) 
 
Level: Delegated Business Meeting      

    

Ref. No. : 22/03775/FUL Ward : Addiscombe East 
Location : 175 - 177 Lower Addiscombe Road 

Croydon 
CR0 6PZ 
 

Type: Full planning permission 

Proposal : Change of use from bed and breakfast (Class C1) to supported living accommodation 
(Class C2) to house 17 adults on a temporary basis for 5 years 

    

Date Decision: 04.11.22  
    

Permission Granted 
 
Level: Delegated Business Meeting                                     

 

     

    

Ref. No. : 22/03461/DISC Ward : Addiscombe West 
Location : Grassmere House 

40 Cherry Orchard Road 
Croydon 
CR0 6GA 
 

Type: Discharge of Conditions 

Proposal : Discharge of Condition 4 (Public Art) attached to permission 18/03320/FUL for 
'Demolition of the existing buildings, erection of a 7 to 9 storey building to provide 120 
residential units and associated amenity space, hard and soft landscaping, boundary 
treatment, refuse storage, cycle parking and car parking with associated vehicle 
accesses.' 

   

Page 100



Decisions (Ward Order) since last Planning Control Meeting as at: 8th November 2022 

3 
 

Date Decision: 03.11.22  
    

Part Approved / Part Not Approved 
 
Level: Delegated Business Meeting    

    

Ref. No. : 22/03694/HSE Ward : Addiscombe West 
Location : 43 Warren Road 

Croydon 
CR0 6PF 
 

Type: Householder Application 

Proposal : Retrospective application for a part single storey/part two storey side and rear extension 
to the house 

   

Date Decision: 02.11.22  
    

Permission Granted 
 
Level: Delegated Business Meeting   
 

     

    

Ref. No. : 21/04918/FUL Ward : Broad Green 
Location : 10A Farquharson Road 

Croydon 
CR0 2UH 

Type: Full planning permission 

Proposal : Alterations/erection of single storey rear extension 
   

Date Decision: 02.11.22  
    

Permission Granted 
  
Level: Delegated Business Meeting    

    

    

    

Ref. No. : 22/03887/GPDO Ward : Bensham Manor 
Location : 124 Warwick Road 

Thornton Heath 
CR7 7NG 
 

Type: Prior Appvl - Class A Larger 
House Extns 

Proposal : Erection of a single storey rear extension projecting out 6 metres from the rear wall of the 
original house with a height to the eaves of 2.8 metres and a maximum height of 3.2 
metres 

   
Date Decision: 04.11.22 
    

Prior Approval No Jurisdiction (GPDO) 
  
Level: Delegated Business Meeting   

 

Page 101



Decisions (Ward Order) since last Planning Control Meeting as at: 8th November 2022 

4 
 

Ref. No. : 22/01895/HSE Ward : Broad Green 
Location : 23 Longley Road 

Croydon 
CR0 3LH 
 

Type: Householder Application 

Proposal : Erection of a single-storey rear extension, first-floor rear extension, rear dormer and rear 
roof projection. 

   

Date Decision: 03.11.22  
    

Permission Refused 
  
Level: Delegated Business Meeting    

    

Ref. No. : 22/03010/HSE Ward : Broad Green 
Location : 54 Onslow Road 

Croydon 
CR0 3NJ 
 

Type: Householder Application 

Proposal : Erection of first floor rear extension and alterations to fenestrations to host dwelling (as 
amended) 

   

Date Decision: 04.11.22  
    

Permission Granted 
  
Level: Delegated Business Meeting    

    

Ref. No. : 22/03661/LP Ward : Broad Green 
Location : 68 Miller Road 

Croydon 
CR0 3JY 
 

Type: LDC (Proposed) Operations 
edged 

Proposal : Demolition of conservatory and erection of single storey rear extension 
   

Date Decision: 04.11.22  
    

Certificate Refused (Lawful Dev. Cert.) 
  
Level: Delegated Business Meeting    

    

Ref. No. : 22/04062/LP Ward : Broad Green 
Location : 35 Ockley Road 

Croydon 
CR0 3DR 
 

Type: LDC (Proposed) Operations 
edged 

Proposal : Loft conversion with erection of rear box dormer and insertion of rooflights to front 
roofslope 

   

Date Decision: 04.11.22  
    

Page 102



Decisions (Ward Order) since last Planning Control Meeting as at: 8th November 2022 

5 
 

Lawful Dev. Cert. Granted (proposed) 
  
Level: Delegated Business Meeting    

    

Ref. No. : 22/04067/LP Ward : Broad Green 
Location : 15 Leighton Street 

Croydon 
CR0 3SB 
 

Type: LDC (Proposed) Operations 
edged 

Proposal : Loft conversion with erection of hip to gable extension and rear box dormer and insertion 
of rooflights to front roofslope 

   

Date Decision: 04.11.22  
    

Lawful Dev. Cert. Granted (proposed) 
  
Level: Delegated Business Meeting   
 

     

    

Ref. No. : 21/04994/FUL Ward : Crystal Palace And Upper 
Norwood 

Location : 35 Queen Mary Road 
Upper Norwood 
London 
SE19 3NN 

Type: Full planning permission 

Proposal : Erection of a single storey rear extension. 
   

   
Date Decision: 04.11.22 
    

Permission Granted 
  
Level: Delegated Business Meeting    

    

Ref. No. : 22/03573/FUL Ward : Crystal Palace And Upper 
Norwood 

Location : 29A, 29B 29C St Aubyn's Road 
Upper Norwood 
London 
SE19 3AA 
 

Type: Full planning permission 

Proposal : Replacement of existing timber and UPVC windows with white painted timber windows 
   

   
Date Decision: 04.11.22 
    

Permission Granted 
  
Level: Delegated Business Meeting    

Page 103



Decisions (Ward Order) since last Planning Control Meeting as at: 8th November 2022 

6 
 

    

Ref. No. : 22/04044/CAT Ward : Crystal Palace And Upper 
Norwood 

Location : 181 Church Road 
Upper Norwood 
London 
SE19 2PS 
 

Type: Works to Trees in a 
Conservation Area 

Proposal : T1. Ash tree. Cut back from boundary in next door. 
T2. Sumac. Lift up. 
T3. Yew tree and Hawthorn tree, crown reduce by 1 metre. 
T4, T5, T6. Sycamore trees. Cut back over car park from the neighboring property by 2 
metres. 
T7. Sycamore. Remove saplings. 
T8, T9. Lawson Cypress. Reduce by 5 meters. 
T11. Sycamore tree. Cut back from building by the front door. situated in neighboring 
property.  
T12. Elm tree. Fell dead tree. Situated at the front.  
T13. Ash tree. Fell sapling situated by the entrance.  
T14. Hawthorn. Cut back from the footpath side and car park. Approximately 8 meters in 
height. 

   

   
Date Decision: 01.11.22 
    

No objection (tree works in Con Areas) 
  
Level: Delegated Business Meeting    

    

Ref. No. : 22/04092/CAT Ward : Crystal Palace And Upper 
Norwood 

Location : 62A Harold Road 
Upper Norwood 
London 
SE19 3SW 
 

Type: Works to Trees in a 
Conservation Area 

Proposal : T1 Ash tree - Cut back from South Vale to allow more light 
   

   
Date Decision: 01.11.22 
    

No objection (tree works in Con Areas) 
  
Level: Delegated Business Meeting    

    

Ref. No. : 22/04195/NMA Ward : Crystal Palace And Upper 
Norwood 

Page 104



Decisions (Ward Order) since last Planning Control Meeting as at: 8th November 2022 

7 
 

Location : 76 Harold Road 
Upper Norwood 
London 
SE19 3SW 
 

Type: Non-material amendment 

Proposal : Non material amendment to planning permission ref 21/02706/HSE: Alterations to 
existing boundary wall and fence, new enlarged openings to front and rear of property, 
addition of 2 new timber frame sash windows, new front door and porch to property at 
first floor, new external planted store, planting to boundary edge, soft landscaping and 
erection of outbuilding. 

   

   
Date Decision: 04.11.22 
    

Approved 
  
Level: Delegated Business Meeting   

 

     

    

Ref. No. : 22/01992/FUL Ward : Coulsdon Town 
Location : 25 Linden Avenue 

Coulsdon 
CR5 3BT 
 

Type: Full planning permission 

Proposal : Construction of a building containing 9no. flats with associated parking and landscaping 
following demolition of existing dwelling 

   

Date Decision: 03.11.22  
    

Permission Refused 
  
Level: Delegated Business Meeting    

    

Ref. No. : 22/03219/HSE Ward : Coulsdon Town 
Location : 188 St Andrews Road 

Coulsdon 
CR5 3HF 
 

Type: Householder Application 

Proposal : Retrospective planning permission for the erection of a fence along the side boundary. 
   

Date Decision: 31.10.22  
    

Permission Granted 
  
Level: Delegated Business Meeting    

    

Ref. No. : 22/04212/LP Ward : Coulsdon Town 

Page 105



Decisions (Ward Order) since last Planning Control Meeting as at: 8th November 2022 

8 
 

Location : 22 Woodlands Grove 
Coulsdon 
CR5 3AJ 
 

Type: LDC (Proposed) Operations 
edged 

Proposal : Hip to gable loft conversion and erection of rear dormer. Insertion of two rooflights to the 
front roof slope. 

   

Date Decision: 04.11.22  
    

Lawful Dev. Cert. Granted (proposed) 
  
Level: Delegated Business Meeting    

    

Ref. No. : 22/04400/PDO Ward : Coulsdon Town 
Location : O/S 33A Reddown Road 

Coulsdon 
CR5 1AN 
 

Type: Observations on permitted 
development 

Proposal : Installation of 1x 10 metre high wooden pole to provide broadband communications 
   

Date Decision: 04.11.22  
    

No Objection 
  
Level: Delegated Business Meeting   

 

     

    

Ref. No. : 20/05850/DISC Ward : Fairfield 
Location : Land Adjoining East Croydon Station, 

Bounded By George Street (Including 1-5 
Station Approach), Dingwall Road, (Including 
The Warehouse Theatre), Lansdowne Road 
And Including Land To The North Of 
Lansdowne Road, Croydon 

Type: Discharge of Conditions 

Proposal : Discharge of Conditions 39 (Public realm) and 40 (Street furniture) in respect of Plot 
B04/B05 attached to planning permission 20/01503/CONR for the erection of five 
buildings with a minimum floor area of 53,880 sq metres and maximum of 62,080 sq 
metres to provide a minimum of 550 and a maximum of 625 residential units; erection of 
up to 6 buildings for class E(g)(i) use for a minimum of 88,855 sq metres and a maximum 
of 151, 420 sq metres; provision of a minimum of 7285 sq metres and a maximum of 
10,900 sq metres of commercial, business and service (class E(a)-(d)), and pub and 
drinking establishments (including those with expanded food provision) and takeaways 
(class Sui Generis); provision of a maximum of 400 sq metres of community and learning 
use (classes E(e)-(f), F.1(a)-(e) and F.2(a)-(b); provision of a replacement theatre of 200 
seats; provision of energy centre and estate management facilities; formation of vehicular 
accesses and provision of pedestrian routes public open space and car parking not to 
exceed 256 parking spaces. 

   

Date Decision: 04.11.22  

Page 106



Decisions (Ward Order) since last Planning Control Meeting as at: 8th November 2022 

9 
 

    

Approved 
  
Level: Delegated Business Meeting    

    

Ref. No. : 21/03780/DISC Ward : Fairfield 
Location : Land Adjoining East Croydon Station, 

Bounded By George Street (Including 1-5 
Station Approach), Dingwall Road, (Including 
The Warehouse Theatre), Lansdowne Road 
And Including Land To The North Of 
Lansdowne Road, Croydon 
 

Type: Discharge of Conditions 

Proposal : Discharge of Condition 72 (Landscaping details) in respect of Plot B04/B05 attached to 
planning permission 20/01503/CONR for the erection of five buildings with a minimum 
floor area of 53,880 sq metres and maximum of 62,080 sq metres to provide a minimum 
of 550 and a maximum of 625 residential units; erection of up to 6 buildings for class 
E(g)(i) use for a minimum of 88,855 sq metres and a maximum of 151, 420 sq metres; 
provision of a minimum of 7285 sq metres and a maximum of 10,900 sq metres of 
commercial, business and service (class E(a)-(d)), and pub and drinking establishments 
(including those with expanded food provision) and takeaways (class Sui Generis); 
provision of a maximum of 400 sq metres of community and learning use (classes E(e)-
(f), F.1(a)-(e) and F.2(a)-(b); provision of a replacement theatre of 200 seats; provision of 
energy centre and estate management facilities; formation of vehicular accesses and 
provision of pedestrian routes public open space and car parking not to exceed 256 
parking spaces. 

   

Date Decision: 04.11.22  
    

Approved 
  
Level: Delegated Business Meeting    

    

Ref. No. : 22/02291/HSE Ward : Fairfield 
Location : 40 Frith Road 

Croydon 
CR0 1TA 
 

Type: Householder Application 

Proposal : Erection of single storey side return extension 
   

Date Decision: 01.11.22  
    

Permission Granted 
  
Level: Delegated Business Meeting    

    

Ref. No. : 22/02898/FUL Ward : Fairfield 

Page 107



Decisions (Ward Order) since last Planning Control Meeting as at: 8th November 2022 

10 
 

Location : Post Office 
10 High Street 
Croydon 
CR9 1HT 
 

Type: Full planning permission 

Proposal : Conversion of the upper floors from office use (Use Class E) to residential use (Use 
Class C3), to provide two 1-bed flats and four 2-bed flats with associated internal 
alterations and provision of cycle storage and amenity spaces 

   

Date Decision: 01.11.22  
    

Permission Refused 
  
Level: Delegated Business Meeting    

    

Ref. No. : 22/03635/FUL Ward : Fairfield 
Location : 135A North End 

Croydon 
CR0 1TN 
 

Type: Full planning permission 

Proposal : Creation of residential access at front, conversion of upper floors to flats, erection of an 
additional storey, three storey extension at the rear to create a total of 5 flats with 
associated refuse storage 

   

Date Decision: 04.11.22  
    

Permission Refused 
  
Level: Delegated Business Meeting    

    

Ref. No. : 22/04151/CAT Ward : Fairfield 
Location : 13 Eden Road 

Croydon 
CR0 1BB 
 

Type: Works to Trees in a 
Conservation Area 

Proposal : Conifer Tree - Trim back to fence line between numbers 13 and 15 Eden Road. 
   

Date Decision: 01.11.22  
    

No objection (tree works in Con Areas) 
  
Level: Delegated Business Meeting    

    

Ref. No. : 22/04167/NMA Ward : Fairfield 
Location : Land Adjacent To Croydon College 

College Road 
Croydon, CR0 1PF 
 

Type: Non-material amendment 

Page 108



Decisions (Ward Order) since last Planning Control Meeting as at: 8th November 2022 

11 
 

Proposal : Non-material amendment to application 21/03856/CONR for Variation of conditions 2 
(approved plans) and 38 (parking facilities) imposed upon planning permission 
19/04987/FUL (for redevelopment of the site to provide a part 49 storey and part 34 
storey building with basements, comprising 817 co-living units (Use Class Sui Generis) 
within Tower A and 120 residential units (Use Class C3) within Tower B, a cafe (Use 
Class A3), community use (Use Class D1), associated communal facilities for co-living 
residents, amenity spaces, cycle parking, disabled parking spaces, refuse and cycle 
storage and associated landscaping and public realm works) 

   

Date Decision: 02.11.22  
    

Approved 
  
Level: Delegated Business Meeting   

 

     

    

Ref. No. : 22/02040/HSE Ward : Kenley 
Location : 25 Highland Road 

Purley 
CR8 2HS 
 

Type: Householder Application 

Proposal : Erection of first floor extension and pitched roof over entire ground-floor space to provide 
four habitable rooms; with alterations. 

    

Date Decision: 03.11.22 
    

Permission Granted 
  
Level: Delegated Business Meeting    
    

Ref. No. : 22/03116/DISC Ward : Kenley 
Location : 8 Kearton Close 

Kenley 
CR8 5EN 
 

Type: Discharge of Conditions 

Proposal : Discharge of Conditions 12 (Highway Improvement Works) and 15 (Construction 
Logistics Plan) attached to planning permission ref. 20/00981/FUL for 'Demolition of 
existing 2 bedroom bungalow and replacement with four dwellings, car parking, 
landscaping' 

    

Date Decision: 31.10.22 
    

Not approved 
  
Level: Delegated Business Meeting    
    

Ref. No. : 22/04087/NMA Ward : Kenley 

Page 109



Decisions (Ward Order) since last Planning Control Meeting as at: 8th November 2022 

12 
 

Location : Land R/O 5-6 Oaklands Gardens 
Kenley 
CR8 5DS 
 

Type: Non-material amendment 

Proposal : Non-material amendment to planning permission ref 19/01810/FUL for Alterations to land 
levels, erection of detached two storey 3 bedroom house with decking, associated bin 
and cycle stores to allow the following changes in materials: 
 
- Brickwork, from black stocks to Red stocks  
- Beech Rock Panel external cladding to Black composite cladding 
 

    

Date Decision: 03.11.22 
    

Withdrawn application 
  
Level: Delegated Business Meeting   
 

    

 

     

    

Ref. No. : 22/03788/LP Ward : New Addington South 
Location : 2 Wolsey Crescent 

Croydon 
CR0 0PE 
 

Type: LDC (Proposed) Operations 
edged 

Proposal : Loft conversion with erection of hip to gable extension and rear box dormer and insertion 
of rooflights to front roofslope 

   
    

Date Decision: 01.11.22 
    

Lawful Dev. Cert. Granted (proposed) 
  
Level: Delegated Business Meeting   
 

     

    

Ref. No. : 22/02373/HSE Ward : Norbury Park 
Location : 39 Georgia Road 

Thornton Heath 
CR7 8DW 
 

Type: Householder Application 

Proposal : Erection of single-storey rear extension, and Alterations 
   
    

Date Decision: 03.11.22 
    

Permission Granted 
  

Page 110



Decisions (Ward Order) since last Planning Control Meeting as at: 8th November 2022 

13 
 

Level: Delegated Business Meeting    
    

Ref. No. : 22/02375/HSE Ward : Norbury Park 
Location : 30 Hillcote Avenue 

Norbury 
London 
SW16 3BH 

Type: Householder Application 

Proposal : Erection of a part single/two-storey rear/side wraparound extension with associated 
alterations (following demolition of attached garage and side outrigger) 

   
    

Date Decision: 03.11.22 
    

Permission Refused 
  
Level: Delegated Business Meeting    
    

Ref. No. : 22/03764/FUL Ward : Norbury Park 
Location : 300 Norbury Avenue 

Norbury 
London 
SW16 3RL 
 

Type: Full planning permission 

Proposal : Alterations, conversion of existing dwelling to form 2x 3-bedroom flats and 1x 2-bedroom 
flat, provision of 1x rooflight in side roofslope and provision of associated refuse and 
cycle storage and parking. 

   
    

Date Decision: 03.11.22 
    

Permission Refused 
  
Level: Delegated Business Meeting    
    

Ref. No. : 22/03963/LP Ward : Norbury Park 
Location : 67 Florida Road 

Thornton Heath 
CR7 8EZ 
 

Type: LDC (Proposed) Operations 
edged 

Proposal : Erection of a single storey side extension and alterations. 
   
    

Date Decision: 04.11.22 
    

Lawful Dev. Cert. Granted (proposed) 
  
Level: Delegated Business Meeting   
 

     

    

Ref. No. : 22/01077/FUL Ward : Norbury And Pollards Hill 

Page 111



Decisions (Ward Order) since last Planning Control Meeting as at: 8th November 2022 

14 
 

Location : Bank 
1432 - 1434 London Road 
Norbury 
London 
SW16 4BZ 
 

Type: Full planning permission 

Proposal : Change of use of ground and basement floors from vacant Bank (Class E) to Adult 
Gaming Centre (Sui Generis) 

   
    

Date Decision: 01.11.22 
    

Appeal Contested - (grounds of appeal) 
  
Level: Delegated Business Meeting    
    

Ref. No. : 22/01078/FUL Ward : Norbury And Pollards Hill 
Location : Bank 

1432 - 1434 London Road 
Norbury 
London 
SW16 4BZ 
 

Type: Full planning permission 

Proposal : Alterations to shopfront, including installation of replacement entrance door, glazing, stall-
riser, 2x fascia signs and 1x projecting sign, removal of modern fans and installation of 
replacement glazing and painting of window frames. 

   
    

Date Decision: 01.11.22 
    

Appeal Contested - (grounds of appeal) 
  
Level: Delegated Business Meeting    
    

Ref. No. : 22/01740/ADV Ward : Norbury And Pollards Hill 
Location : Bank 

1432 - 1434 London Road 
Norbury 
London 
SW16 4BZ 
 

Type: Consent to display 
advertisements 

Proposal : Installation of 2x externally illuminated fascia signs and 1x externally illuminated hanging 
sign 

   
    

Date Decision: 01.11.22 
    

Appeal Contested - (grounds of appeal) 
  
Level: Delegated Business Meeting   
 

Page 112



Decisions (Ward Order) since last Planning Control Meeting as at: 8th November 2022 

15 
 

     

    

Ref. No. : 22/02545/HSE Ward : Old Coulsdon 
Location : 99 Caterham Drive 

Coulsdon 
CR5 1JQ 
 

Type: Householder Application 

Proposal : Single storey rear extension, single storey side extension (replacing the existing garage) 
and associated alterations to the roof profile. 

   
    

Date Decision: 04.11.22 
    

Permission Granted 
 
Level: Delegated Business Meeting    
    

Ref. No. : 22/03780/FUL Ward : Old Coulsdon 
Location : 48 Waddington Avenue 

Coulsdon 
CR5 1QF 
 

Type: Full planning permission 

Proposal : Erection of a bungalow at rear fronting Waddington Close with associated bin and cycle 
stores and parking space to the front of the host property 

   
    

Date Decision: 04.11.22 
    

Permission Refused 
 
Level: Delegated Business Meeting    
    

Ref. No. : 22/03826/DISC Ward : Old Coulsdon 
Location : 24 Coulsdon Court Road 

Coulsdon 
CR5 2LL 
 

Type: Discharge of Conditions 

Proposal : Discharge of condition number 3 (construction logistics plan) attached to planning 
permission ref. 21/02876/FUL (Demolition of existing building; erection of a terrace of 6 
three/four bedroom houses of two-storeys with roof space accommodation; provision of 6 
car parking spaces and refuse storage structures). 

   
    

Date Decision: 31.10.22 
    

Approved 
 
Level: Delegated Business Meeting   
 

    

 

Page 113



Decisions (Ward Order) since last Planning Control Meeting as at: 8th November 2022 

16 
 

     

    

Ref. No. : 21/02385/DISC Ward : Purley Oaks And 
Riddlesdown 

Location : Land Between 13 Derrick Avenue And 
Station Approach 
Purley 
CR2 0QL 
 

Type: Discharge of Conditions 

Proposal : Details pursuant to conditions 4 (Parking, cycle and refuse and access) and 5 
(Landscaping) of planning permission 16/06405/FUL for the Erection of 5 three storey 
and 1 single/two storey building comprising a total of 22 three bedroom, 5 two bedroom 
and 10 one bedroom flats. Formation of access road, communal amenity area and 
associated parking, landscaping and planting. | Land Between 13 Derrick Avenue And 
Station Approach Purley CR2 0QL 

   

   
Date Decision: 01.11.22 
    

Deemed Consent - discharge of condition 
  
Level: Delegated Business Meeting    
    

Ref. No. : 21/04065/HSE Ward : Purley Oaks And 
Riddlesdown 

Location : 29A Mount Park Avenue 
South Croydon 
CR2 6DW 

Type: Householder Application 

Proposal : Proposed loft conversion with associated extensions and increase to the ridge height of 
the roof. Proposed dormer windows to the front, rear and side elevations. Demolition of 
the existing conservatory and the erection of a rear extension. Part conversion of the 
existing garage to a habitable room with an associated side extension. 

   

   
Date Decision: 04.11.22 
    

Permission Granted 
  
Level: Delegated Business Meeting    
    

Ref. No. : 21/05005/DISC Ward : Purley Oaks And 
Riddlesdown 

Location : 126-132 Pampisford Road 
Purley 
CR8 2NH 
 

Type: Discharge of Conditions 

Page 114



Decisions (Ward Order) since last Planning Control Meeting as at: 8th November 2022 

17 
 

Proposal : Discharge of condition 5 (Written Scheme of Investigation) attached to planning 
application 20/01550/FUL for demolition of four detached dwelling houses and the 
construction of four buildings with heights ranging from two to five storeys to 
accommodate 66 flats; with 
associate vehicle and cycle parking, refuse store, hard and soft landscaping. at: 126-132 
Pampisford Road, Purley, CR8 2NH 

   

   
Date Decision: 03.11.22 
    

Approved 
  
Level: Delegated Business Meeting    
    

Ref. No. : 22/02262/FUL Ward : Purley Oaks And 
Riddlesdown 

Location : Riddlesdown Post Office 
102 Lower Barn Road 
Purley 
CR8 1HR 
 

Type: Full planning permission 

Proposal : Proposed single storey-rear extension 
   

   
Date Decision: 03.11.22 
    

Permission Granted 
  
Level: Delegated Business Meeting    
    

Ref. No. : 22/03748/HSE Ward : Purley Oaks And 
Riddlesdown 

Location : 36 Buttermere Gardens 
Purley 
CR8 1EG 
 

Type: Householder Application 

Proposal : Alterations and erection of a single storey rear extension and conversion of garage to a 
habitable room with windows to the front. 

   

   
Date Decision: 03.11.22 
    

Permission Granted 
  
Level: Delegated Business Meeting   
 

     

    

Ref. No. : 21/02914/FUL Ward : Purley And Woodcote 

Page 115



Decisions (Ward Order) since last Planning Control Meeting as at: 8th November 2022 

18 
 

Location : 14-16 Woodcote Valley Road 
Purley 
CR8 3AG 

Type: Full planning permission 

Proposal : Demolition of existing semi-detached houses and erection of a four storey building 
(including roof level accommodation) to provide 15 apartments arranged in two linked 
blocks, with parking, landscaping, waste and recycling storage 

   
    

Date Decision: 03.11.22 
    

Withdrawn application 
  
Level: Delegated Business Meeting    
    

Ref. No. : 22/00603/DISC Ward : Purley And Woodcote 
Location : Woodcote Reservoir 

Smitham Bottom Lane 
Purley 
CR8 3DE 
 

Type: Discharge of Conditions 

Proposal : Discharge of condition 13 (Refuse Management Strategy) attached to planning 
permission for 18/04720/FUL for the erection of 2 x two storey buildings with 
accommodation in roofspace and basement parking comprising a total of 9 flats; 
formation of vehicular access and associated landscaping 

   
    

Date Decision: 04.11.22 
    

Deemed Consent - discharge of condition 
  
Level: Delegated Business Meeting    
    

Ref. No. : 22/03258/FUL Ward : Purley And Woodcote 
Location : Armston 

Woodcote Drive 
Purley 
CR8 3PD 
 

Type: Full planning permission 

Proposal : Demolition of the existing dwelling and the construction of a three-storey building to 
provide 9 no. flats comprising 3 no. two-bed flats and 6 no. three-bed flats together with 
the provision of 9 car parking spaces, cycle parking, waste collection facilities, external 
amenity space and landscaping. 

   
    

Date Decision: 03.11.22 
    

Permission Refused 
  
Level: Delegated Business Meeting    
    

Ref. No. : 22/03452/DISC Ward : Purley And Woodcote 

Page 116



Decisions (Ward Order) since last Planning Control Meeting as at: 8th November 2022 

19 
 

Location : Land Development Site Former Site Of 
11 Hartley Old Road 
Purley 
CR8 4HH 
 

Type: Discharge of Conditions 

Proposal : Discharge of Condition 15 (Biodiversity Enhancement Strategy) attached to planning 
permission 20/05200/FUL for Demolition of single-family dwellinghouse and erection of 
1x three-storey block containing 3x 2-bedroom flats and 4x 3-bedroom flats and 2x 4-
bedroom semi detached houses with associated access, car parking, cycle and refuse 
storage. 

   
    

Date Decision: 04.11.22 
    

Approved 
  
Level: Delegated Business Meeting    
    

Ref. No. : 22/04082/CAT Ward : Purley And Woodcote 
Location : 16 Woodcote Lane 

Purley 
CR8 3HA 
 

Type: Works to Trees in a 
Conservation Area 

Proposal : Sycamore (T1) - Crown reduce garden side by 3-3.5m 
   
    

Date Decision: 01.11.22 
    

No objection (tree works in Con Areas) 
  
Level: Delegated Business Meeting   
 

     

    

Ref. No. : 21/00468/NMA Ward : Sanderstead 
Location : Madeleine House 

34 Arkwright Road 
South Croydon 
CR2 0LL 
 

Type: Non-material amendment 

Proposal : Non Material Amendment to planning approval 19/04165/CONR (Demolition of existing 
building: erection of a two storey building with accommodation in roofspace comprising 6 
two bedroom and 1 three bedroom flats: formation of associated access and provision of 
7 parking spaces, cycle storage and refuse store.) seeking to amend the condition 
numbers and wording of condition 1 and to amend post and rail boundary fence to a 
Closeboard Venetian Panel Fence. 

   
    

Date Decision: 02.11.22 
    

Approved 

Page 117



Decisions (Ward Order) since last Planning Control Meeting as at: 8th November 2022 

20 
 

  
Level: Delegated Business Meeting    
    

Ref. No. : 22/02657/HSE Ward : Sanderstead 
Location : 36 Farm Fields 

South Croydon 
CR2 0HL 
 

Type: Householder Application 

Proposal : Alterations including erection of a single storey rear extension, and landscaping 
alterations to the rear garden. 

   
    

Date Decision: 03.11.22 
    

Permission Granted 
  
Level: Delegated Business Meeting    
    

Ref. No. : 22/02999/HSE Ward : Sanderstead 
Location : 36 The Ridge Way 

South Croydon 
CR2 0LF 
 

Type: Householder Application 

Proposal : Single storey front extension replacing the front porch, replacement of the front garage 
door with window associated with conversion of the garage into habitable room, first floor 
side extension, single storey rear extension, extension to the rear patio, alterations to the 
side elevations, insertion of 2 x Juliet balconies to rear first floor, insertion of 1 x front 
dormer window and roof lights and associated alterations to the roof profile. 

   
    

Date Decision: 03.11.22 
    

Permission Granted 
  
Level: Delegated Business Meeting    
    

Ref. No. : 22/03229/DISC Ward : Sanderstead 
Location : 18 Rectory Park 

South Croydon 
CR2 9JN 
 

Type: Discharge of Conditions 

Proposal : Discharge of condition 4 (CEMP) attached to planning permission ref. 21/03703/FUL. 
(Demolition of existing property and construction of a block of 5 flats plus 3 houses with 
associated access, car parking and landscaping (amended description) at 18 Rectory 
Park, South Croydon, CR2 9JN). 

   
    

Date Decision: 04.11.22 
    

Approved 
  

Page 118



Decisions (Ward Order) since last Planning Control Meeting as at: 8th November 2022 

21 
 

Level: Delegated Business Meeting    
    

Ref. No. : 22/03713/DISC Ward : Sanderstead 
Location : 158 Purley Downs Road 

South Croydon 
CR2 0RF 
 

Type: Discharge of Conditions 

Proposal : Discharge Conditions 3 (Construction Management), 4 (Highway Survey) and 8 (Tree 
Protection) attached to Planning Permission ref. 21/01619/FUL for 'Demolition of existing 
dwelling and garage and erection of two 3-storey buildings, comprising of 7 dwellings, 
together with car parking, amenity space, cycle parking, refuse storage and associated 
landscaping' 

   
    

Date Decision: 03.11.22 
    

Not approved 
  
Level: Delegated Business Meeting    
    

Ref. No. : 22/03765/HSE Ward : Sanderstead 
Location : 6 Blacksmiths Hill 

South Croydon 
CR2 9AY 
 

Type: Householder Application 

Proposal : Demolition of the existing conservatory and garage, alterations and erection of a single 
storey front/side/rear extension 

   
    

Date Decision: 02.11.22 
    

Permission Granted 
  
Level: Delegated Business Meeting    
    

Ref. No. : 22/04472/LP Ward : Sanderstead 
Location : 38 Briton Hill Road 

South Croydon 
CR2 0JL 
 

Type: LDC (Proposed) Operations 
edged 

Proposal : Erection of hip to gable and rear dormer includes installation of three rooflights on front 
roof slope 

   
    

Date Decision: 04.11.22 
    

Lawful Dev. Cert. Granted (proposed) 
  
Level: Delegated Business Meeting   
 

     

Page 119



Decisions (Ward Order) since last Planning Control Meeting as at: 8th November 2022 

22 
 

    

Ref. No. : 22/02991/LP Ward : Selsdon And Addington 
Village 

Location : 224 Croham Valley Road 
South Croydon 
CR2 7RD 
 

Type: LDC (Proposed) Operations 
edged 

Proposal : Erection of single storey side return extension 
   
    

Date Decision: 04.11.22 
    

Lawful Dev. Cert. Granted (proposed) 
  
Level: Delegated Business Meeting    
    

Ref. No. : 22/04054/LP Ward : Selsdon And Addington 
Village 

Location : 42 Heathfield Vale 
South Croydon 
CR2 8AF 
 

Type: LDC (Proposed) Operations 
edged 

Proposal : NLoft conversion with erection of hip to gable extension and rear box dormer and 
insertion of rooflights to front roofslope 

   
    

Date Decision: 04.11.22 
    

Lawful Dev. Cert. Granted (proposed) 
  
Level: Delegated Business Meeting   
 

     

    

Ref. No. : 22/03695/HSE Ward : Selsdon Vale And Forestdale 
Location : 110 Old Farleigh Road 

South Croydon 
CR2 8QE 
 

Type: Householder Application 

Proposal : Erection of granny annexe 
   
    

Date Decision: 03.11.22 
    

Permission Refused 
  
Level: Delegated Business Meeting    
    

Ref. No. : 22/03700/HSE Ward : Selsdon Vale And Forestdale 

Page 120



Decisions (Ward Order) since last Planning Control Meeting as at: 8th November 2022 

23 
 

Location : 99 Benhurst Gardens 
South Croydon 
CR2 8NY 
 

Type: Householder Application 

Proposal : Erection of single storey rear extension following demolition of rear conservatory. 
   
    

Date Decision: 31.10.22 
    

Permission Granted 
  
Level: Delegated Business Meeting    
    

Ref. No. : 22/03753/HSE Ward : Selsdon Vale And Forestdale 
Location : 10 Birdwood Close 

South Croydon 
CR2 8QG 
 

Type: Householder Application 

Proposal : Erection of two storey rear extension and first floor balcony 
   
    

Date Decision: 03.11.22 
    

Permission Refused 
  
Level: Delegated Business Meeting   
 

     

    

Ref. No. : 21/06063/FUL Ward : Selhurst 
Location : 61 Selhurst Road 

South Norwood 
London 
SE25 5QB 

Type: Full planning permission 

Proposal : Demolition of the front lower ground floor porch and rear extension. Erection of lower, 
ground and first floor rear extension. Conversion of the resulting property into 4 flats with 
associated landscaping and facade alterations. 

   

Date Decision: 04.11.22 
    

Permission Granted 
  
Level: Delegated Business Meeting   
 

     

    

Ref. No. : 22/01743/LP Ward : Shirley North 
Location : 43 Spring Park Road 

Croydon 
CR0 5ED 
 

Type: LDC (Proposed) Operations 
edged 

Page 121



Decisions (Ward Order) since last Planning Control Meeting as at: 8th November 2022 

24 
 

Proposal : Loft conversion with erection of hip to gable extension and rear box dormer and insertion 
of rooflights to front roofslope 

   
    

Date Decision: 04.11.22 
    

Certificate Refused (Lawful Dev. Cert.) 
  
Level: Delegated Business Meeting    
    

Ref. No. : 22/02729/HSE Ward : Shirley North 
Location : 66 Longhurst Road 

Croydon 
CR0 7AS 
 

Type: Householder Application 

Proposal : Alterations to include erection of a porch; single storey rear extension and extended patio 
area in the rear garden. 

   
    

Date Decision: 02.11.22 
    

Permission Granted 
  
Level: Delegated Business Meeting    
    

Ref. No. : 22/03168/HSE Ward : Shirley North 
Location : 46 Shirley Avenue 

Croydon 
CR0 8SJ 
 

Type: Householder Application 

Proposal : Erection of hip to gable roof extension and rear dormer. Installation of two front rooflights 
   
    

Date Decision: 02.11.22 
    

Permission Refused 
  
Level: Delegated Business Meeting    
    

Ref. No. : 22/03249/HSE Ward : Shirley North 
Location : 32 Bywood Avenue 

Croydon 
CR0 7RA 
 

Type: Householder Application 

Proposal : Demolition of single storey rear extension. Erection of single storey rear extension. 
Alterations to fenestrations. Relocation of front entrance from north elevation to south 
elevation. 

   
    

Date Decision: 01.11.22 
    

Permission Granted 

Page 122



Decisions (Ward Order) since last Planning Control Meeting as at: 8th November 2022 

25 
 

  
Level: Delegated Business Meeting    
    

Ref. No. : 22/03612/LP Ward : Shirley North 
Location : 3 Woodland Way 

Croydon 
CR0 7UB 
 

Type: LDC (Proposed) Operations 
edged 

Proposal : Erection of single storey rear extension, hip to gable extension and 2no rear dormers 
   
    

Date Decision: 02.11.22 
    

Certificate Refused (Lawful Dev. Cert.) 
  
Level: Delegated Business Meeting    
    

Ref. No. : 22/03679/LP Ward : Shirley North 
Location : 101 Tower View 

Croydon 
CR0 7PZ 
 

Type: LDC (Proposed) Operations 
edged 

Proposal : Erection of single storey rear extension, hip to gable extension and rear box dormer. 
Insertion of rooflights to front roofslope. 

   
    

Date Decision: 03.11.22 
    

Lawful Dev. Cert. Granted (proposed) 
  
Level: Delegated Business Meeting    
    

Ref. No. : 22/03690/HSE Ward : Shirley North 
Location : 4 Woodland Way 

Croydon 
CR0 7UB 
 

Type: Householder Application 

Proposal : Erection of single storey side/rear extension 
   
    

Date Decision: 01.11.22 
    

Permission Granted 
  
Level: Delegated Business Meeting    
    

Ref. No. : 22/03828/LP Ward : Shirley North 
Location : 36 Nursery Close 

Croydon 
CR0 5EU 
 

Type: LDC (Proposed) Operations 
edged 

Page 123



Decisions (Ward Order) since last Planning Control Meeting as at: 8th November 2022 

26 
 

Proposal : Loft conversion with erection of hip to gable extension and rear box dormer and insertion 
of rooflights to front roofslope 

   
    

Date Decision: 04.11.22 
    

Lawful Dev. Cert. Granted (proposed) 
  
Level: Delegated Business Meeting    
    

Ref. No. : 22/03864/LP Ward : Shirley North 
Location : 255 Long Lane 

Croydon 
CR0 7TF 
 

Type: LDC (Proposed) Operations 
edged 

Proposal : Loft conversion with erection of rear box dormer and insertion of rooflights to front 
roofslope 

   
    

Date Decision: 04.11.22 
    

Lawful Dev. Cert. Granted (proposed) 
  
Level: Delegated Business Meeting    
    

Ref. No. : 22/04016/LP Ward : Shirley North 
Location : 1 Glenthorne Avenue 

Croydon 
CR0 7ET 
 

Type: LDC (Proposed) Operations 
edged 

Proposal : Hip to gable loft conversion with a rear dormer. 
   
    

Date Decision: 04.11.22 
    

Lawful Dev. Cert. Granted (proposed) 
  
Level: Delegated Business Meeting    
    

Ref. No. : 22/04038/LP Ward : Shirley North 
Location : 2 Woodmere Avenue 

Croydon 
CR0 7PA 
 

Type: LDC (Proposed) Operations 
edged 

Proposal : Replacement of a single storey side/rear extension with associated works 
   
    

Date Decision: 04.11.22 
    

Lawful Dev. Cert. Granted (proposed) 
  
Level: Delegated Business Meeting    

Page 124



Decisions (Ward Order) since last Planning Control Meeting as at: 8th November 2022 

27 
 

    

Ref. No. : 22/04043/LE Ward : Shirley North 
Location : 38 Mardell Road 

Croydon 
CR0 7TG 
 

Type: LDC (Existing) Use edged 

Proposal : Erection of a detached outbuilding to the rear of the garden 
   
    

Date Decision: 04.11.22 
    

Lawful Dev. Cert. Granted (existing) 
  
Level: Delegated Business Meeting    
    

Ref. No. : 22/04059/LP Ward : Shirley North 
Location : 49 Long Lane 

Croydon 
CR0 7AR 
 

Type: LDC (Proposed) Operations 
edged 

Proposal : Loft conversion with erection of hip to gable extension and rear box dormer and insertion 
of rooflights to front roofslope 

   
    

Date Decision: 04.11.22 
    

Lawful Dev. Cert. Granted (proposed) 
  
Level: Delegated Business Meeting    
    

Ref. No. : 22/04299/LP Ward : Shirley North 
Location : 106 The Glade 

Croydon 
CR0 7QE 
 

Type: LDC (Proposed) Operations 
edged 

Proposal : Loft conversion with erection of rear box dormer and insertion of rooflights to front 
roofslope 

   
    

Date Decision: 02.11.22 
    

Lawful Dev. Cert. Granted (proposed) 
  
Level: Delegated Business Meeting   
 

     

    

Ref. No. : 22/03684/FUL Ward : Shirley South 

Page 125



Decisions (Ward Order) since last Planning Control Meeting as at: 8th November 2022 

28 
 

Location : 19 Shirley Way 
Croydon 
CR0 8PG 
 

Type: Full planning permission 

Proposal : Erection of two-storey three-bedroom detached house on land to the rear of No. 19 
Shirley Way, including new vehicular access and crossover from East Way, landscaping, 
boundary treatments, car parking, cycle parking and bin storage and all associated site 
works 

   

   
Date Decision: 31.10.22 
    

Permission Refused 
  
Level: Delegated Business Meeting    
    

Ref. No. : 22/03930/LP Ward : Shirley South 
Location : 70 Temple Avenue 

Croydon 
CR0 8QB 
 

Type: LDC (Proposed) Operations 
edged 

Proposal : Demolition of garage and erection of single storey side extension 
   

   
Date Decision: 04.11.22 
    

Lawful Dev. Cert. Granted (proposed) 
  
Level: Delegated Business Meeting    
    

Ref. No. : 22/04252/LP Ward : Shirley South 
Location : 13 Sandy Way 

Croydon 
CR0 8QT 
 

Type: LDC (Proposed) Operations 
edged 

Proposal : Garage conversion into a habitable room and a bathroom with associated works 
   

   
Date Decision: 04.11.22 
    

Lawful Dev. Cert. Granted (proposed) 
  
Level: Delegated Business Meeting   
 

     

    

Ref. No. : 21/03051/FUL Ward : South Croydon 
Location : 20 Dornton Road 

South Croydon 
CR2 7DP 

Type: Full planning permission 

Page 126



Decisions (Ward Order) since last Planning Control Meeting as at: 8th November 2022 

29 
 

Proposal : Erection of a two storey side/rear extension and alterations including the formation of 
additional accommodation for existing ground floor flat and the formation of 1 x studio flat 
at first floor level, provision of refuse/recycling and cycle storage in the front garden. 

   
    

Date Decision: 04.11.22 
    

Withdrawn application 
  
Level: Delegated Business Meeting    
    

Ref. No. : 22/01103/DISC Ward : South Croydon 
Location : 1A Brighton Road 

South Croydon 
CR2 6EA 
 

Type: Discharge of Conditions 

Proposal : Discharge of condition 5 (Land contamination)  and 10 (CLP) of planning permission 
18/05384/FUL for the 'Demolition of the existing showroom and erection of a three/four 
storey development consisting of 321sqm ground floor commercial space and 9 no. 
residential units (4 x two bedroom and 5 x three bedroom) with associated bins, cycles 
and landscaping, including communal amenity space and play space to the rear.' 

   
    

Date Decision: 03.11.22 
    

Withdrawn application 
  
Level: Delegated Business Meeting    
    

Ref. No. : 22/03830/HSE Ward : South Croydon 
Location : 10 Regent's Close 

South Croydon 
CR2 7BW 
 

Type: Householder Application 

Proposal : Demolition of existing garage. Erection of two-storey side extension and single storey 
rear/side extension with association works. 

   
    

Date Decision: 03.11.22 
    

Permission Granted 
  
Level: Delegated Business Meeting   
 

     

    

Ref. No. : 20/05043/DISC Ward : South Norwood 

Page 127



Decisions (Ward Order) since last Planning Control Meeting as at: 8th November 2022 

30 
 

Location : Garages And Forecourt North Of Avenue 
Road 
South Norwood 
London 
SE25 4EA 
 

Type: Discharge of Conditions 

Proposal : Details pursuant to the discharge of condition 11 (SUDS) parts b) and d) from planning 
application 17/06360/FUL for 'Demolition of garages and erection of a three storey 
building to provide 12 flats together with a disabled car parking space, landscaping and 
other associated works.' 

   

Date Decision: 03.11.22 
    

Approved 
  
Level: Delegated Business Meeting    
    

Ref. No. : 22/01891/FUL Ward : South Norwood 
Location : 88A Holmesdale Road 

South Norwood 
London 
SE25 6JF 

Type: Full planning permission 

Proposal : Erection of single storey side and rear extensions. 
   

Date Decision: 04.11.22 
    

Permission Refused 
  
Level: Delegated Business Meeting    
    

Ref. No. : 22/02703/HSE Ward : South Norwood 
Location : 262 Whitehorse Lane 

South Norwood 
London 
SE25 6UW 
 

Type: Householder Application 

Proposal : Erection of two storey side extension. Conversion of loft to habitable space with erection 
of rear dormer. Erection of first floor rear extension. Internal alterations. 

   

Date Decision: 04.11.22 
    

Permission Refused 
  
Level: Delegated Business Meeting    
    

Ref. No. : 22/03706/GPDO Ward : South Norwood 

Page 128



Decisions (Ward Order) since last Planning Control Meeting as at: 8th November 2022 

31 
 

Location : Collette Court 
150 Selhurst Road 
South Norwood 
London 
SE25 6NE 
 

Type: Prior Appvl - up to two storeys 
flats 

Proposal : Erection of 4th floor to create 8 additional self-contained flats (Prior Approval under 
Schedule 2, Part 20, Class A of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted 
Development) (England) Order 2015 (as amended) 

   

Date Decision: 31.10.22 
    

(Approval) refused 
  
Level: Delegated Business Meeting    
    

Ref. No. : 22/03910/GPDO Ward : South Norwood 
Location : 6A Lancaster Road 

South Norwood 
London 
SE25 4AQ 
 

Type: Prior Appvl - Class A Larger 
House Extns 

Proposal : Erection of a single storey rear extension projecting out 4 metres from the rear wall of the 
original house with a maximum height of 3 metres. 

   

Date Decision: 03.11.22 
    

(Approval) refused 
  
Level: Delegated Business Meeting   
 

     

    

Ref. No. : 22/02626/ADV Ward : Thornton Heath 
Location : 93 High Street 

Thornton Heath 
CR7 8RY 
 

Type: Consent to display 
advertisements 

Proposal : Installation of an internally-illuminated panel sign and two (2) non-illuminated panel signs 
on Automated Teller Machine (Retrospective Application) 

   

Date Decision: 03.11.22 
    

Consent Granted (Advertisement) 
  
Level: Delegated Business Meeting    
    

Ref. No. : 22/02627/FUL Ward : Thornton Heath 

Page 129



Decisions (Ward Order) since last Planning Control Meeting as at: 8th November 2022 

32 
 

Location : 93 High Street 
Thornton Heath 
CR7 8RY 
 

Type: Full planning permission 

Proposal : Installation of an Automated Teller Machine into shopfront (Retrospective Application) 
   

Date Decision: 03.11.22 
    

Permission Granted 
  
Level: Delegated Business Meeting    
    

Ref. No. : 22/03268/HSE Ward : Thornton Heath 
Location : 153 Ross Road 

South Norwood 
London 
SE25 6TW 
 

Type: Householder Application 

Proposal : Replacement of existing conservatory with erection of two storey rear extension. Use of 
flat roof as terrace. 

   

Date Decision: 03.11.22 
    

Permission Granted 
  
Level: Delegated Business Meeting    
    

Ref. No. : 22/03558/HSE Ward : Thornton Heath 
Location : 28 St Paul's Road 

Thornton Heath 
CR7 8NB 
 

Type: Householder Application 

Proposal : Erection of two storey side extension, with alterations including reduction in length of 
existing kitchen. 

   

Date Decision: 04.11.22 
    

Permission Refused 
  
Level: Delegated Business Meeting    
    

Ref. No. : 22/03720/FUL Ward : Thornton Heath 
Location : Denia Court 

55A Bensham Grove 
Thornton Heath 
CR7 8FY 
 

Type: Full planning permission 

Proposal : The erection of an additional storey to the building to create 3 new flats, with other 
associated alterations 

   

Date Decision: 03.11.22 

Page 130



Decisions (Ward Order) since last Planning Control Meeting as at: 8th November 2022 

33 
 

    

Permission Refused 
  
Level: Delegated Business Meeting   
 

     

    

Ref. No. : 22/03309/HSE Ward : Waddon 
Location : 97 Waddon New Road 

Croydon 
CR0 4JE 
 

Type: Householder Application 

Proposal : Erection of single storey rear/side wrap around extension 
   

Date Decision: 01.11.22 
    

Permission Refused 
  
Level: Delegated Business Meeting   
 

     

    

Ref. No. : 22/03645/DISC Ward : Woodside 
Location : Development Site Former Site Of Queens 

Arms 
40 Portland Road 
South Norwood 
London 
 
 

Type: Discharge of Conditions 

Proposal : Discharge Condition 3 (Materials) and Part A of Condition 4 (Landscaping) attached to 
permission 20/06358/FUL for 'Demolition of existing building and construction of mixed 
used building part three/four/five storeys to provide commercial space at ground floor 
level (Class A1/A2/B1A Uses) and 30 self- contained flats; provision of cycle and refuse 
storage (integrated communal roof garden).' 

   

Date Decision: 01.11.22 
    

Not approved 
  
Level: Delegated Business Meeting    
    

Ref. No. : 22/04115/NMA Ward : Woodside 
Location : 75 Crowther Road 

South Norwood 
London 
SE25 5QR 
 

Type: Non-material amendment 

Page 131



Decisions (Ward Order) since last Planning Control Meeting as at: 8th November 2022 

34 
 

Proposal : Application for a non-material amendment to planning permission 22/01758/FUL for 
'Erection of a new two storey end of terrace house with an additional floor in the 
roofspace' in order to change part of the facing wall material to render 

   

Date Decision: 03.11.22 
    

Not approved 
  
Level: Delegated Business Meeting    
    

Ref. No. : 22/04153/NMA Ward : Woodside 
Location : 274 Portland Road 

South Norwood 
London 
SE25 4SL 
 

Type: Non-material amendment 

Proposal : Non-material amendment to application 20/06291/FUL for 'Conversion of existing 
dwelling to 4 flats, alterations, erection of single storey side and rear extension, erection 
of dormer extension in the rear roof slope. Provision of refuse and bicycle storage, off 
street parking and formation of vehicle crossover' to remove the new dropped kerb and 
retain the existing kerb. 

   

Date Decision: 03.11.22 
    

Not approved 
  
Level: Delegated Business Meeting   
 

     

    

Ref. No. : 20/04169/LP Ward : West Thornton 
Location : 10 Galpins Road 

Thornton Heath 
CR7 6EA 

Type: LDC (Proposed) Operations 
edged 

Proposal : Construction of loft conversion with dormer in the rear roof slope and roof lights in the 
front roof slope. 

   

Date Decision: 03.11.22 
    

Lawful Dev. Cert. Granted (proposed) 
  
Level: Delegated Business Meeting    
    

Ref. No. : 22/02317/LP Ward : West Thornton 
Location : 63 Buxton Road 

Thornton Heath 
CR7 7HJ 
 

Type: LDC (Proposed) Operations 
edged 

Proposal : Erection of mansard roof extension with two dormer windows to rear roof slope. 
Installation of three roof lights to front roof slope. 

Page 132



Decisions (Ward Order) since last Planning Control Meeting as at: 8th November 2022 

35 
 

   

Date Decision: 04.11.22 
    

Lawful Dev. Cert. Granted (proposed) 
  
Level: Delegated Business Meeting    
    

Ref. No. : 22/02354/HSE Ward : West Thornton 
Location : 63 Buxton Road 

Thornton Heath 
CR7 7HJ 
 

Type: Householder Application 

Proposal : Erection of single storey side/rear extension. 
   

Date Decision: 04.11.22 
    

Permission Granted 
  
Level: Delegated Business Meeting    
    

Ref. No. : 22/02853/LP Ward : West Thornton 
Location : 165 Cecil Road 

Croydon 
CR0 3BQ 
 

Type: LDC (Proposed) Operations 
edged 

Proposal : Erection of single storey rear extension. 
   

Date Decision: 03.11.22 
    

Certificate Refused (Lawful Dev. Cert.) 
  
Level: Delegated Business Meeting    
    

Ref. No. : 22/03727/FUL Ward : West Thornton 
Location : 110 Canterbury Road 

Croydon 
CR0 3HA 
 

Type: Full planning permission 

Proposal : Change of use from an office (E(g)) to a dwelling (C3), including roof extensions and a 
single storey rear extension. Associated site alterations 

   

Date Decision: 03.11.22 
    

Permission Refused 
  
Level: Delegated Business Meeting    
    

Ref. No. : 22/03824/GPDO Ward : West Thornton 

Page 133



Decisions (Ward Order) since last Planning Control Meeting as at: 8th November 2022 

36 
 

Location : 6 Keston Road 
Thornton Heath 
CR7 6BS 
 

Type: Prior Appvl - Class A Larger 
House Extns 

Proposal : Erection of single storey rear extension projecting out 4 metres from the original rear wall 
with a maximum height of 3 metres 

   

Date Decision: 04.11.22 
    

Prior Approval No Jurisdiction (GPDO) 
  
Level: Delegated Business Meeting    
    

Ref. No. : 22/03898/DISC Ward : West Thornton 
Location : Former Site Of The Wheatsheaf  

759 London Road  
Thornton Heath  
CR7 6AW  
 
 

Type: Discharge of Conditions 

Proposal : Discharge of Condition 9 (Written Scheme of investigation) of permission 17/00663/FUL 
for 'Demolition of existing Public House and erection of a 5 storey building providing 
134sqm of Class A1/A2 use at ground floor, and 6 one bedroom, 4 two bedroom and 3 
three bedroom flats above: formation of vehicular access and provision of associated car 
parking and secure cycle storage.' 

   

Date Decision: 04.11.22 
    

Approved 
  
Level: Delegated Business Meeting    
    

Ref. No. : 22/03907/LP Ward : West Thornton 
Location : 65 Cecil Road 

Croydon 
CR0 3BP 
 

Type: LDC (Proposed) Operations 
edged 

Proposal : Erection of dormer extension to the rear of the main roofslope and over the outrigger 
building;  Installation of two (2) rooflights to the front roofslope and single storey rear 
extension. 

   

Date Decision: 03.11.22 
    

Lawful Dev. Cert. Granted (proposed) 
  
Level: Delegated Business Meeting   
 

    

 

Page 134


	Agenda
	4 Development presentations
	51 21/01785/FUL - 96-98 George Street, Croydon, CR0 1PJ
	Item 6.1 96-98 George Street Croydon

	52 21/06276/FUL - 15A Russell Hill, Purley, CR8 2JB
	Item 6.2 15a Russell Hill Purley

	7 Other planning matters
	Item 8.1 Weekly_Decisions_311022to041122


